
Democratic Services
Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG
Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard Date: 11th October 2016
Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 394452  Fax: 01225 394439 E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk
Web-site - www.bathnes.gov.uk
 
 
To: All Members of the Cabinet
 
Councillor Tim Warren Leader of the Council and Conservative Group Leader
Councillor Liz Richardson Cabinet Member for Homes and Planning
Councillor Patrick Anketell-
Jones

Cabinet Member for Economic Development, Conservative 
Deputy Group Leader Bath

Councillor Charles Gerrish Cabinet Member for Finance and Efficiency, Conservative 
Deputy Group Leader North East Somerset

Councillor Vic Pritchard Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health
Councillor Anthony Clarke Cabinet Member for Transport
Councillor Martin Veal Cabinet Member for Community Services
Councillor Michael Evans Cabinet Member for Children's Services
Councillor Paul Myers Cabinet Member for Policy, Localism & Partnerships
 
Chief Executive and other appropriate officers
Press and Public
 
 
Dear Member
 
Cabinet: Wednesday, 19th October, 2016 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Cabinet, to be held on Wednesday, 19th October, 
2016 at 6.00 pm in the Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath.
 
The agenda is set out overleaf.
 
Yours sincerely
 
 
Jack Latkovic
for Chief Executive
 

The decisions taken at this meeting of the Cabinet are subject to the Council's call-in procedures.  Within 5 clear working days 
of publication of decisions, at least 10 Councillors may signify in writing to the Chief Executive their wish for a decision to be 

called-in for review.  If a decision is not called-in, it will be implemented after the expiry of the 5 clear working day period.

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative 
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author 
whose details are listed at the end of each report.

 

This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper
 



NOTES:
 

1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the 
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact Jack Latkovic who 
is available by telephoning Bath 01225 394452 or by calling at the Guildhall Bath (during 
normal office hours).
 

2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to 
make their views known at meetings.  They may make a statement relevant to what the 
meeting has power to do.  They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a 
group.  Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting 
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must normally be received in 
Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday but Bank Holidays will cause this to be 
brought forward).
 
The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions 
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in 
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must 
normally be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday but Bank 
Holidays will cause this to be brought forward). If an answer cannot be prepared in time for 
the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further details of the scheme 
can be obtained by contacting Jack Latkovic as above.
 

3. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for 
the next meeting.  In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting Jack Latkovic as 
above.
 
Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:-
 
Public Access points - Reception: Civic Centre - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, The Hollies 
- Midsomer Norton. Bath Central and Midsomer Norton public libraries.
 
For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research 
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms.
 

4. Recording at Meetings:-

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and 
recording by anyone attending a meeting.  This is not within the Council’s control.

Some of our meetings are webcast.  At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all 
or part of the meeting is to be filmed.  If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, 
please make yourself known to the camera operators.

To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998, we require the consent of parents or 
guardians before filming children or young people. For more information, please speak to 
the camera operator
            
The Council will broadcast the images and sound live via the internet 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast An archived recording of the proceedings will also be 
available for viewing after the meeting. The Council may also use the images/sound 
recordings on its social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters.

5. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the 
meeting.

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast


 
6. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM 

NUMBER.
 

7. Emergency Evacuation Procedure
 
When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the 
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point.  The designated exits are 
sign-posted.
 
Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people.
 

8. Officer Support to the Cabinet
Cabinet meetings will be supported by the Senior Management Team.
 

9. Recorded votes
A recorded vote will be taken only when requested by a member of Cabinet.



Cabinet  - Wednesday, 19th October, 2016
 

in the Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath
 

A G E N D A
 
1.  WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

2.  EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out in the 
Notes

3.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate:
(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare.
(b) The nature of their interest.
(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   

(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests)

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his 
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting.

5.  TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR 

6.  STATEMENTS, DEPUTATIONS OR PETITIONS FROM PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS 

Councillors and members of the public may register their intention to make a statement 
if they notify the subject matter of their statement before the deadline.  Statements are 
limited to 3 minutes each.  The speaker may then be asked by Cabinet members to 
answer factual questions arising out of their statement.

7.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS CABINET MEETING (Pages 7 - 12)

To be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair

8.  WEST OF ENGLAND JOINT SPATIAL PLAN AND TRANSPORT STUDY - 
EMERGING SPATIAL STRATEGY AND BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET CORE 
STRATEGY REVIEW (Pages 13 - 140)

This report seeks approval to undertake consultation on a West of England Joint 
Spatial Plan (JSP) and Joint Transport Study (JTS) document entitled “Towards the 
Emerging Spatial Strategy”.  The consultation is due to take place across the West of 
England from 7th November to 19th December 2016.
The report also seeks the approval of a Core Strategy Review Commencement 
Document for consultation within B&NES at the same time as the wider JSP /JTS 
consultation.

 



 
The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Jack Latkovic who can be contacted on 
01225 394452.

Protocol for Decision-making

Guidance for Members when making decisions

When making decisions, the Cabinet/Committee must ensure it has regard only to relevant 
considerations and disregards those that are not material.

The Cabinet/Committee must ensure that it bears in mind the following legal duties when 
making its decisions:

 Equalities considerations

 Risk Management considerations

 Crime and Disorder considerations

 Sustainability considerations

 Natural Environment considerations

 Planning Act 2008 considerations

 Human Rights Act 1998 considerations

 Children Act 2004 considerations

 Public Health & Inequalities considerations

Whilst it is the responsibility of the report author and the Council’s Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer to assess the applicability of the legal requirements, decision makers should 
ensure they are satisfied that the information presented to them is consistent with and takes due 
regard of them.



This page is intentionally left blank



1

These minutes are draft until 
confirmed as a correct record at 
the next meeting.

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET

CABINET

Wednesday, 7th September, 2016

Present:
Councillor Tim Warren Leader of the Council and Conservative Group Leader
Councillor Liz Richardson Cabinet Member for Homes and Planning
Councillor Patrick Anketell-Jones Cabinet Member for Economic Development, 

Conservative Deputy Group Leader Bath
Councillor Charles Gerrish Cabinet Member for Finance and Efficiency, Conservative 

Deputy Group Leader North East Somerset
Councillor Vic Pritchard Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health
Councillor Anthony Clarke Cabinet Member for Transport
Councillor Michael Evans Cabinet Member for Children's Services
Councillor Paul Myers Cabinet Member for Policy, Localism & Partnerships
 
 

24   WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.

25   EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Chair drew attention to the evacuation procedure as set out in the Agenda.

26   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Councillor Martin Veal had sent his apologies for this meeting.

Councillor Patrick Anketell-Jones left the meeting at 5pm due to other engagements.

27   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were none.

28   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR

There was none.

29   QUESTIONS FROM PUBLIC AND COUNCILLORS

There were 25 questions from Councillors and 3 questions from members of the 
public.

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



2

[Copies of the questions and responses, including supplementary questions and 
responses if any, have been placed on the Minute book at Democratic Services and 
are available on the Council's website.]

30   STATEMENTS, DEPUTATIONS OR PETITIONS FROM PUBLIC OR 
COUNCILLORS

Rosemary Naish (National Neighbourhood Planning Champion) in a statement [a 
copy of which is placed on the Minute book at Democratic Services and is available 
on the Council's website] said that policies in all three made plans in B&NES had 
been breached in recent decisions.

Keith Betton (Chair of Stowey Sutton Parish Council) said that the Cabinet had 
approved Stowey Sutton Neighbourhood Plan (NP) in September 2015.  Stowey 
Sutton Parish Council had considered 19 planning applications since October 2015 
and planning officers made reference to NP in only one application.  Keith Betton 
said that the Council, Parish Councils and community had invested considerable 
time to support the NPs.  The Council had had a legal duty to make reference to NPs 
when considering planning applications.  Keith Betton asked the Cabinet to ensure 
that officers give the NPs the importance that they deserve when they consider 
planning applications.

Councillor Karen Warrington in a statement [a copy of which is placed on the Minute 
book at Democratic Services and is available on the Council's website] said that 
some planning decisions had ignored the NPs and asked that appropriate training 
regarding Neighbourhood Plans is undertaken for all officers and Members who were 
involved with any planning decision-making.

Councillor Alison Millar in a statement [a copy of which is placed on the Minute book 
at Democratic Services and is available on the Council's website] said that the 
Cabinet should consider a number of points before making their final decision on 
Park & Ride and that the Meadows were no place for a park and ride - especially one 
that cannot be justified as a solution to Bath’s traffic problem.

David Redgewell in a statement [a copy of which is placed on the Minute book at 
Democratic Services and is available on the Council's website] spoke about public 
transport cuts, budgets and on transport impact that the Devolution deal would have 
on the area.

31   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS CABINET MEETING

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 13th July 2016 be 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

32   CONSIDERATION OF SINGLE MEMBER ITEMS REQUISITIONED TO CABINET

Page 8



3

There were none.

33   MATTERS REFERRED BY POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY BODIES

There were none.

34   SINGLE MEMBER CABINET DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE PREVIOUS CABINET 
MEETING

The Cabinet agreed to note the report.

35   APPROVAL OF THE FOXHILL REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
CHARTER

David Bevan in a statement [a copy of which is placed on the Minute book at 
Democratic Services and is available on the Council's website] expressed his 
concern to changes in the Charter and asked the Cabinet to hear comments from the 
residents of Foxhill before approving this Charter.

Councillor Cherry Beath gave an ad-hoc statement by saying that the Charter would 
be a very useful tool in working with Curo, though the document as such was a high 
level document.  Councillor Beath said that Foxhill residents were not against the 
development but that they felt that the development would need to blend in with the 
area.  

Councillor Bob Goodman gave an ad-hoc statement supporting the Charter but also 
supporting residents’ views on the development.

Councillor Liz Richardson thanked everyone who was involved in drafting the 
Charter. The Foxhill Regeneration Charter had been developed over a series of 3 
workshops between November 2015 and January 2016 run by ATLAS with Cabinet, 
Ward members and senior officers from the Council and the Curo Senior 
Management team.  The purpose of the workshops and the resulting Charter was to 
establish a baseline of understanding of the issues surrounding regeneration of 
Foxhill, the opportunities for intervention created by the development of Mulberry 
Park, and to agree a set of underlying ambitions for the area. 

Councillor Liz Richardson moved the recommendations.

Councillor Tim Warren seconded the motion by welcoming this joint Charter.
The charter sets out shared ambitions for both the development of Mulberry Park 
and the regeneration of the existing Foxhill estate and would give a framework for 
continued engagement with Curo and the community. Councillor Warren also said 
that he would be looking forward to seeing how the Charter evolves and develops 
over time as the Housing Zone progresses.

The rest of the Cabinet also supported the Charter, in particular that it had 
undergone a period of independent consultation with the community and 
stakeholders and had also been supported twice at the Council’s Planning, Homes 
and Economic Development Scrutiny Panel.

Page 9



4

RESOLVED (unanimously) the Cabinet agreed that:

1) The consultation outcomes for the Foxhill Regeneration and Development 
Charter are noted;

2) The Foxhill Regeneration and Development Charter 2016 is approved;
3) The Charter is reviewed and updated periodically and changes be approved 

by Single Member Decision.

36   TREASURY MANAGEMENT MONITORING REPORT TO 30TH JUNE 2016

Councillor Paul Crossley made an ad-hoc statement by saying that report had given 
an interesting review of the European state post EU referendum.  Councillor 
Crossley asked for detailed analysis on the post EU referendum impact on the 
Council and also detailed analysis on our economy in regards of Hinkley Point.

Councillor Charles Gerrish said that he would ask the relevant officers to include this 
information in a future report.

Councillor Charles Gerrish said that this was a routine report which sets out the 
satisfactory position of the Council.  Councillor Gerrish highlighted that the average 
rate of investment return for the first three months of 2016/17 was 0.50%, which was 
0.09% above the benchmark rate.  Councillor Gerrish also summarised borrowings 
and returns; strategic and tactical decisions; future strategic and tactical issues and 
budget implications.

Councillor Charles Gerrish moved the recommendations.

Councillor Michael Evans seconded the motion by saying that investments returns 
continue to be ahead of the benchmark rate; investment rates continue to reflect the 
Bank of England’s policy on maintaining low interest rates, which decreased to an 
historical low in August; and, the Council continues to not hold any direct 
investments in countries within the Eurozone.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that the Cabinet agreed:

1) The Treasury Management Report to 30th June 2016, prepared in 
accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Code of Practice, is noted;

2) The Treasury Management Indicators to 30th June 2016 are noted.

37   REVENUE & CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING, CASH LIMITS AND VIREMENTS 
– APRIL TO JULY 2016

Councillor Robin Moss asked the following questions: was the Council up to date 
with Sirona and other health providers within Adult Social Care and Health area; 
clarification on use of Adult Social Care and Health reserves; and, details on capital 
spending in improving services and revenue.

Councillor Paul Crossley asked about the progress on Bath Quays.

Councillor Charles Gerrish responded to questions from Councillors Moss and 
Crossley by saying that; the report would incorporate any external issues within Adult 

Page 10



5

Social Care and Health budget; use of Adult Social Care and Health reserves was 
always within the budget; and, the Council was half way into the Bath Quays South 
project, with the residential part in waiting to be resolved within planning services.

Councillor Charles Gerrish said that the report was presented as part of the reporting 
of financial management and budgetary control required by the Council.  Councillor 
Gerrish also said that for revenue budgets which were forecast to be overspent, the 
Divisional Directors would be expected to seek compensating savings to try and 
bring budgets back to balance. The report had highlighted any significant areas of 
forecast over and under spends in revenue budgets and outlines the Council’s 
current revenue financial position for the 2016/17 financial year to the end of July 
2016 by Cabinet Portfolio.  The current forecast outturn position is for an overspend 
of £2,219,000, which equates to 0.72% of gross budgeted spend (excluding 
Schools).  There had been an overspend forecast at this stage in each of the past 
four financial years.  The Council's financial position, along with its financial 
management arrangements and controls, were fundamental to continuing to plan 
and provide services in a managed way, particularly in light of the medium term 
financial challenge.  Close monitoring of the financial situation had provided 
information on new risks and pressures in service areas, and appropriate 
management actions were then identified and agreed to manage and mitigate those 
risks. 

Councillor Gerrish moved the recommendations.

Councillor Paul Myers seconded the motion by saying that, like many others across 
the country, this Council would be facing a tough financial situation.   This year, in 
addition to the financial pressures prepared for, the Council would be also faced with 
a number of new challenges, such as increases in the cost of managing Housing 
Benefit and Welfare Reform.  Despite all these pressures, this Council remains 
committed to helping our most vulnerable residents.  The Cabinet would continue to 
monitor Council expenditure very closely, and if pressures continue into mid-year the 
Cabinet would take action to bring the budget back into line at the year-end.

RESOLVED (unanimously) the Cabinet agreed that:

1) Strategic Directors should continue to work towards managing within budget 
in the current year for their respective service areas and develop an action 
plan of how this will be achieved, including not committing any unnecessary 
expenditure and stringent budgetary control;

2) This year’s revenue budget position is noted;
3) The capital expenditure position for the Council in the financial year to the end 

of July and the year end projections are noted;
4) The revenue virements listed for approval are agreed;
5) The changes in the capital programme are noted.

 
   
The meeting ended at 5.25 pm
 
Chair
 
Date Confirmed and Signed

Page 11



6

 
Prepared by Democratic Services
 

Page 12



Printed on recycled paper

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING Cabinet 
EXECUTIVE 
FORWARD 

PLAN 
REFERENCE:

MEETING 
DATE: 19th October 2016

E 2905

TITLE:
West of England Joint Spatial Plan and Transport Study – 
Emerging Spatial Strategy and Bath & North East Somerset 
Core Strategy Review

WARD: All 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:
Annex 1 – JSP/JTS consultation document ‘Towards the Emerging Spatial Strategy’
Annex 2 -  Core Strategy Review Commencement Document
Annex 3 – Amendments to the B&NES Local Development Scheme

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 This report seeks approval to undertake consultation on a West of England Joint 
Spatial Plan (JSP) and Joint Transport Study (JTS) document entitled “Towards 
the Emerging Spatial Strategy”.  The consultation is due to take place across the 
West of England from 7th November to 19th December 2016.

1.2 The report also seeks the approval of a Core Strategy Review Commencement 
Document for consultation within B&NES at the same time as the wider JSP /JTS 
consultation. 

2 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Cabinet endorses;

(1) the “Towards the Emerging Spatial Strategy” and the “West of England 
Transport Vision” document (Annex 1) for the public consultation on the Joint 
Spatial Plan and Joint Transport Study commencing on 7 November 2016;

(2) the Core Strategy Review commencement document (Annex 2) for public 
consultation commencing on 7 November 2016; 

(3) the amendments proposed  to the B&NES Local Development Scheme 
(Annex 3) which will need to be agreed by Full Council in due course.

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



Printed on recycled paper

3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

3.1 The development and progression of the JSP and JTS have been planned within 
the West of England budgets, including forecasts through to adoption of the Plan 
in 2018.

3.2 The West of England budget is managed by B&NES on behalf of the other West 
of England authorities. 

3.3 The review of the Core Strategy will be funded through the B&NES LDF budget. 

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL

4.1 Both the JSP and the revision to the Core Strategy must be prepared in 
compliance with the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (“the 2004 Act”) 
and the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
(“the Regulations”) as amended by the Housing and Planning Act 2016. Once 
adopted, they will both be statutory Development Plan Documents (“DPD”).

4.2 Preparation of the Plans has also accorded with national policy in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (“NPPF”) and guidance in the National Planning 
Practice Guidance (“NPPG”). In particular, the Council will seek to ensure that the 
JSP and the revised Core Strategy are sound in that they (inter alia);

a) Have been positively prepared – the plans seek to meet objectively assessed 
needs for development, unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits;

b) are justified – the plans are the most appropriate strategies, when considered 
against the reasonable alternatives, based on proportionate evidence;

c) are effective – the plans are deliverable; and
d) are consistent with national policy – the plans enable the delivery of 

sustainable development.

4.3 Any changes to the Core Strategy must be subject to a Sustainability Appraisal 
(“SA”) including a Strategic Environmental Assessment (“SEA”) in line with the 
requirements of the SEA Regulations (The Environmental Assessment of Plans 
and Programmes Regulations 2004). It must also be subject to an integrated 
Habitats Regulation Assessment (“HRA”) in line with the requirements of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (“the Habitats 
Regulations”).

4.4 A Local Development Scheme is required under Section 15 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

4.5 Changes arising from the Housing & Planning Act 2016 will have implications for 
the preparation of the JSP and the Core Strategy review. 

5 THE REPORT

Background
5.1 The JSP provides the planning framework to ensure development comes forward 

across the West of England up to 2036 in a co-ordinated manner. This co-
operation on strategic planning matters is complemented by the approach taken 
on proposals for future transport investment which is being undertaken through 

Page 14



Printed on recycled paper

the JTS. The JSP and JTS work programmes are coordinated with shared 
milestones.

5.2 Consultation on the first stages of both work-streams was undertaken between 
November 2015 and January 2016 (Issues and Options consultation), and the 
results were reported to members in June 2016. The Councils are now seeking 
communities and stakeholder views on the emerging spatial strategy for the West 
of England as set out in `Towards the Emerging Spatial Strategy’ (Appendix 1). 
This is due for publication in November 2016.

5.3 The Issues and Options (I&O) document set out the scale of the development and 
a range of potential locational options and spatial scenarios to accommodate this. 
The Emerging Spatial Strategy takes account of the results of the Issues and 
Options consultation and the November document presents the updated housing 
and jobs target, along with a potential set of locations and indicative capacities, to 
accommodate this level of development up to 2036.

5.4 The consultation also covers the second stage of the JTS, taking account of views 
of stakeholders and the public during the previous consultation, and setting out a 
Transport Vision including an ambitious set of integrated packages to tackle 
current challenges on the network, as well as addressing the impacts of 
developments arising from the JSP.

Key issues highlighted in ‘Towards the Emerging Spatial Strategy’
5.5 The consultation draft of the Towards the Emerging Spatial Strategy document is 

attached as Annex 1 to this report. Further technical documents will be produced 
and made available for the consultation to support this document.

5.6 The JSP will be a statutory Development Plan Document and will therefore need 
to be prepared in accordance with local plan regulations and national policy to 
ensure it is a ‘sound’ document supported by technical evidence. The selection of 
development locations will need to be clearly justified. At this stage no final 
decisions have been made and the spatial strategy is not fixed. The consultation 
document is intended to facilitate a conversation on the evidence and technical 
work to date and how the locations have been tested to inform the emerging 
spatial strategy. Responses to this next stage of consultation will help to inform 
the Plan as it progresses to its next stage.

5.7 The approach to formulating the spatial strategy is set out in a supporting topic 
paper which is attached at Appendix 3 to the consultation document. In summary, 
the approach has sought to adhere to sustainability principles, including a focus 
on developing in main urban centres and making the best use of urban land; 
seeking to locate development outside of the Green Belt as far as possible; and 
consideration of Green Belt locations only where there is strong justification and 
evidence of exceptional circumstances.

5.8 Significant work has been undertaken on urban living and understanding the 
capacity to intensify the main towns and cities in a sustainable way. A topic paper 
outlining this work is attached at Appendix 4 to the consultation paper. This 
supports one of the key objectives of the JSP which is to ensure the strategy for 
delivering sustainable growth is based around ensuring all opportunities are taken 
to maximise the use of existing previously developed (brownfield land) before 
greenfield locations are identified.

Page 15



Printed on recycled paper

5.9 Alongside this, the assessment of the need for housing has been updated. The 
current evidence identifies a need for 102,200 homes to be developed during 
2016-2036 across the four local authorities although the JSP will test for up to 
105,000 homes during 2016-2036. This is a working number until the evidence to 
support the publication plan is finalised in Summer 2017. A paper setting out the 
basis for the Housing Target is attached at Appendix 5 to the consultation 
document.

5.10 A significant proportion of the overall Housing Target would need to be delivered 
as affordable housing in light of the identified level of need. Appendix 1 to the 
consultation document sets out the scale of this challenge, such that it will not be 
able to fully meet the affordable housing need over the plan period through the 
planning system alone. Instead the JSP recognises that a proportion of the overall 
affordable housing need could be delivered through the planning system. It is also 
recognised that the overall approach to the provision of affordable housing is 
undergoing a period of significant change nationally following the enactment of the 
2016 Housing & Planning Act and planned introduction of the Government’s 
Starter Homes Initiative. The approach to affordable housing will therefore be 
required to be kept under review.

5.11 Around 66,800 dwellings are committed across the West of England in the form of 
permissions, local plan allocations or future small windfall sites.  The JSP 
prioritises the need to maximise the use of brownfield sites, particularly within 
existing urban areas, and 14,600 dwellings are identified from this source – 
primarily in Bristol.  That leaves up to 23,600 dwellings to be identified through the 
JSP.

5.12 The majority of development can be accommodated outside the Green Belt.  
However, whilst Government policy attaches great importance to Green Belts, 
which should only be altered in exceptional circumstances, the assessment of 
evidence and the formulation of the most appropriate strategy has led to the 
conclusion that there are exceptional circumstances for amending the Green Belt 
to accommodate some of the development. How this should be undertaken, and 
the basis by which locations have been selected, is set out in the Topic Paper 
which is Appendix 3 to the consultation document. This amounts to a loss of 
around 1% of the Green Belt and this enables the overall function of the Bristol 
and Bath Green Belt to be retained, whilst sustainably accommodating the homes 
and jobs that are needed in the West of England. 

Key issues highlighted in the Transport Vision

 5.13 Preparation of the Joint Transport Study (JTS) has entailed two workstreams. It has 
entailed the preparation of the Transport Vision to address current challenges on 
the network and has also assessed the transport impacts of the draft spatial 
scenarios to inform the emerging spatial strategy. This includes the selection of the 
preferred locations for growth in B&NES. As part of this process, relevant transport 
interventions have been identified to enable delivery of the proposed JSP growth.

5.14 The Transport Vision is described in the Consultation Summary attached at 
Appendix 2 to the consultation document. It is very ambitious, representing a total 
of around £7.5 billion of investment in multi-modal packages, for delivery across 
the West of England over the next 20 years. This represents the scale of 
investment that is considered necessary to tackle key existing challenges, and to 
support future economic growth, with an emphasis on public transport and 

Page 16



Printed on recycled paper

sustainable travel options. This ambition is intentional, as the package is designed 
to address the scale of current challenges first and foremost, and new funding 
streams will need to be identified to help deliver this scale of investment.

5.15 The proposed transport investment is set out in the Consultation Summary, 
demonstrating an emphasis on multi-modal packages where highway, public 
transport and `smarter choices’ investment is closely linked. A key feature of this 
approach is the relationship between the management of some radial routes in 
Bristol, alongside new investment in orbital links, which provides the opportunity on 
several corridors to reallocate radial highway capacity to prioritise public transport 
and cycling.

5.16 The public transport investment also looks to deliver a comprehensive network of 
park and ride sites, and to extend the MetroBus network currently being 
implemented, as well as considering the delivery of higher profile rapid transit routes 
on a number of core corridors, potentially using light rail technology.

 

5.17 The extent of future growth at Bristol Airport is likely to have a significant influence 
on transport investment in the Weston-super-Mare to Bristol corridor, with major 
highway capacity and public transport schemes being more viable if the airport is 
expected to accommodate a significant growth in passenger numbers (potentially 
overspill from  the South East) and supporting facilities.

5.18  The focus of attention in B&NES has been where existing challenges are most 
evident, including high levels of traffic congestion. Whilst there are underlying 
challenges affecting transport routes there are opportunities on some routes like 
the A4 corridor, where the presence of existing sustainable transport options exist 
which are capable of improvement and other areas such as Whitchurch where 
new high profiles public transport investment will be required to support 
development.

5.19 The JTS consultation asks for views on a range of issues, including the overall 
scale of the package, its emphasis on sustainable travel choices and links with 
Bristol orbital highway capacity. Identifying funding to deliver the package up to 
2036 in its entirety will be challenging and it may be appropriate to consider 
different ways to raise revenue to help meet the funding requirement. This issue is 
also highlighted in the consultation summary to instigate discussion and feedback 
from the public.

Next Steps in the Programme
5.20 The consultation will for 6 weeks  run from 7th November until 19th December 

2016. Key milestones include the following:

 Completion of the JTS by March 2017, taking account of consultation 
representations;

 Consultation on a JSP publication plan draft in Summer 2017;
 Consideration of the consultation responses to inform the Submission Plan by 

the end of 2017;
 Consideration of the recommendations from the JTS in an updated Joint Local 

Transport Plan by the end of 2017;
 Submission of the JSP to the Secretary of State by in early 2018; and.

Page 17



Printed on recycled paper

 Examination in Public and adoption in 2018.

Strategic Environmental Assessment
5.21 The draft consultation documents have included consideration of the 

environmental impacts of locational options and spatial scenarios. The JTS will 
include a strategic environmental summary of its recommended approach and 
packages. Following the completion of the JTS, its recommendations will be taken 
into account in the updating of the current Joint Local Transport Plan and draft of 
the Joint Spatial Plan. These will both include a full Strategic Environmental 
Assessment.

Core Strategy review
5.22 In May 2016, Full Council agreed to undertake the review of the B&NES Core 

Strategy alongside the JSP. Annex 2 includes a Commencement Document to 
launch the review.  This sets out the programme, scope and arrangements for the 
review.

5.23 The Commencement document propses that the scope of the review is to;

a) Incorporate the revised Housing Requirement for B&NES for the period 2016 
to 2036 arising from the JSP and establish an affordable housing target;

b) allocate sites identified in the JSP and establish policy, development and 
infrastructure requirements;

c) establish a strategy for and identify any other sources of housing land supply 
not identified in the JSP to meet identified development needs;

d) review the affordable housing policies in light of the Housing & Planning Act 
2016;

e) review the five-year Housing Land supply; 
f) Include policies or amendments to existing policies arising from a-c above; or 

from new legislation eg the Starter Homes Initiative; or arising from the 
Inspector’s report on the Placemaking Plan; and from any other significant 
changes in circumstances and evidence to ensure that the plan is up-to-date.

5.24 It is essential that existing allocations and commitments in adopted plans are 
retained in order to maintain the Council’s housing land supply including the five 
year HLS..

5.25 The Core Strategy review will have implications for other Council strategies and 
arrangements will need to be agreed to ensure a co-ordinated approach. 

Amendments to the Local Development Scheme
5.26 The timetable for the review of the Core Strategy needs to align closely with that 

of the JSP but allowing for key JSP milestones to be achieved in order to avoid 
abortive work on the review of the Core Strategy. The JSP timetable has altered 
slightly and this will require changes to the B&NES Local Development Scheme 
(LDS) which sets out the revised timetable for both documents. The overarching 
programmes of both plans are illustrated after para 20 of the Commencement 
Document in Annex 2.

6 RATIONALE

6.1 The consultation on the JSP emerging spatial strategy enables wide engagement 
on emerging proposals before they are finalised in the Publication Plan in 2017. 
The review of the Core Strategy was agreed by Council in May 2016.

Page 18



Printed on recycled paper

7 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 The option of proceeding straight to JSP Publication stage was dismissed as not 
giving stakeholders and residents enough opportunity to engage in the 
conversation in respect of emerging options.

7.2 The review of the Core Strategy will also enable wide consideration of alternative 
options as part of the statutory process of plan preparation.  Consultation is a 
statutory requirement

8 CONSULTATION

8.1 The JSP/JTP public consultation on the JSP/JTS will run between 7 November 
and 19 December 2016 and is supported by an engagement strategy which seeks 
to ensure that a coordinated and coherent approach is taken to promoting both the 
JSP and the JTS. This is being managed by a dedicated engagement coordinator 
who will work closely with the JSP and JTS project teams.

8.2 Key methods will include the use of both digital and hard copy material presented 
in a range of formats and styles from the technical documents to short high level 
summary/ awareness raising postcards. To complement this, the key messages 
and FAQs will be promoted through a range of forums. Again these will be both 
digital as well as through ‘on the ground’ activities and events.

8.3 The consultation programme will begin with a launch event and subsequent 
conversations with the business, health, infrastructure providers and other key 
stakeholder groups. The business community have been asked to assist in 
facilitating a business consultation event to ensure wide participation of the 
business community at this stage of the process. In addition individual events may 
be run and managed by each authority targeted at supporting their respective 
communities to help understand the level and impact of the growth being 
promoted.

8.4 The engagement programme will be underpinned by a press and media protocol 
and Communications Strategy.

8.5 Through this approach, it is intended that a fair, open and balanced discussion 
can be held about the JSP and JTS plans to ensure everyone has an opportunity 
to get involved and make their comments. An important theme of the consultation 
is that consultees understand that the spatial strategy is not fixed and no decisions 
have been made on its final content. This stage is another opportunity to discuss 
the advantages and disadvantages of the potential options put forward.

8.6 The West of England Strategic Leaders’ Board considered the consultation 
document on 17th October and any comments will need to be reported to Cabinet.

8.7 Core Strategy: Within B&NES, consultation will take place at the same time on 
the Core Strategy review Commencement document as agreed by Full Council in 
May 2016.  This will need to be carefully managed to avoid confusion. A more 
user friendly version of the Commencement Document will be prepared for the 
public consultation The amendments to the LDS do not require consultation.

8.8 Both the Monitoring and s151 officers have had opportunity to review and input in 
to this report. 

Page 19



Printed on recycled paper

8.9 This report is deemed to be exempt from call-in because if it were called in it 
would cause the Council to ‘miss, or fail to comply with or fulfil, a statutory 
deadline or duty’ (as defined in the Exceptions to Call In rules of the Constitution) 
thereby preventing the West of England UAs from proceeding with the 
consultation as timetabled.

9 RISK MANAGEMENT

9.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management 
guidance.

9.2 There are no risks arising directly from this report. Risks related to the JSP and 
JTS will be managed through the Project Board.

Contact persons Lisa Bartlett , Divisional Director – Development, Tel. 01225 
477550
Simon de Beer, Policy & Environment Manager, Tel: 01225 
477616

Background 
papers

Joint Spatial Plan Issues and Options (November 2015)
Council Report (May 2016)
B&NES Core Strategy 2014
National Planning Policy Framework 2012

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an alternative 
format

Page 20



 

           

 

West of England Joint Spatial Plan 
Joint Spatial Plan – Towards the emerging Spatial Strategy Consultation  

Introduction 

1. The Joint Spatial Plan ‘Issues and Options’ document was consulted upon between 
9th November 2015 and 29th January 2016.  The responses to the consultation and 
the summary consultation report which have informed this document can be found 
here: https://www.jointplanningwofe.org.uk/ . 

2. This document is the second phase of consultation to inform the draft Joint Spatial 
Plan which is intended to be adopted in 2018. 

3. The West of England (WoE) currently faces a key challenge: how to accommodate 
and deliver much needed new homes and jobs properly supported by  infrastructure 
to create attractive places, while maintaining the environmental assets and quality of 
life unique to our area.   The scale of the issue to be addressed requires an 
ambitious strategic response. 

4. The local authorities of Bath and North East Somerset Council, Bristol City Council, 
North Somerset Council and South Gloucestershire Council have joined forces to 
prepare the Joint Spatial Plan (JSP).  The JSP will be a statutory Development Plan 
Document that will provide the strategic overarching development framework for the 
West of England to 2036.   

5. A Joint Transport Study (JTS) is being undertaken to develop future strategic 
transport proposals for delivery up to 2036 that address current challenges on the 
network and to inform future development proposals. This work will inform the JSP.  
This joint approach to planning and transport will ensure that future growth decisions 
are made with an understanding of the necessary transport investment needed to 
achieve sustainable communities.   

Purpose of the Joint Spatial Plan 

6. The four authorities are committed to a positive plan-led approach.  This is consistent 
with the Government’s core planning principles and the Duty to Cooperate. Whilst the 
JSP is not a detailed land use plan, it is a statutory Development Plan Document and 
will form the strategic policy for individual Local Plans prepared by the four 
Authorities going forwards. The scope of the JSP, with its supporting evidence base, 
is intentionally focused on: 
 

• identifying the number of new market and affordable homes and amount of 
employment land that is needed  across the West of England 2016-2036. 
 

• setting out the most appropriate spatial strategy and strategic locations for where this 
growth should be to meet the needs identified.  The outcome of this process will be 

Page 21

https://www.jointplanningwofe.org.uk/


 

housing apportionments for each authority in the final JSP. 
 

• identifying the transport and other infrastructure that needs to be provided in the right 
place and at the right time to support sustainable growth and to provide certainty for 
our communities and those that want to invest in our area.  

Relationship of the Joint Spatial Plan to Local Plans 
 

7. The JSP will, in due course, carry significant weight and be used to inform key 
planning decisions. Whilst it will not replace existing local plans, in due course it will 
be a material consideration in decision making.  In the meantime, existing local plans 
will continue to deliver existing Core Strategy targets.Local plan reviews will need to 
respond to the new strategic context.  The JSP will eventually (when adopted) 
provide the new higher level strategic planning framework for the four authorities to 
2036. 
 

8. Given the early stage that the JSP is at, and in the spirit of early engagement on 
options, the JSP will not  carry significant weight at this time which would be 
premature. 
   

9. The Housing and Planning Act 2016 has a new route for planning permission for 
housing led development called ‘planning permission in principle’ or PIP.  A PIP may 
be granted for housing-led development either on application to the local planning 
authority (or Secretary of State in some instances), or through qualifying documents. 
The JSP is not expected to be a qualifying document for establishing planning 
permission in principle..  The JSP Spatial Strategy will identify strategic development 
locations which will be brought forward as allocations through the local plan process. 

Purpose of this document  

10. During the public consultation on the Issues and Options document we set out 
potential strategic locations classified by broad typologies and asked for comments 
on five potential generalised spatial scenarios to base the Plan’s spatial strategy 
upon.  These are listed below and pictorial representations of the first three are 
shown:   
 

• Protection of the Green Belt 
• Concentration at Bristol Urban Area  
• Transport Focused  
• A more even spread of development across the sub-region 
• New Settlement or (a limited number of expanded settlements). 

 

 

 

Page 22



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 23



 

 
11. A wide range of views were expressed through the consultation.  Broad support was  

indicated  for one or a combination of both of the following options: 
1) Protection of the Green Belt  
2) Transport Focussed. 
 

12. Following the outcome of the consultation, further technical work has been 
undertaken to look at the range of locations across the West of England and test the 
merit of alternative approaches and scenarios. We have sought to draw out 
components of each of the options that people valued and have distilled those into a 
single draft emerging spatial strategy.  A wider range of factors and issues including 
transport , sustainability, green belt,  environmental, community building, place 
making, protecting valued landscapes and places have been considered.  This has 
come together to produce a pragmatic, deliverable plan which overall produces a 
balanced strategy which best delivers the plan’s objectives. This has been tested 
against the objectives of the Sustainability Appraisal and strategic modelling of the 
transport impacts as part of the Joint Transport Study.  Topic Paper 1 sets out the full 
methodology for preparing the Spatial Strategy.  
 

What happens now? 

13. Before the plan preparation progresses to the publication plan (final draft plan), we 
want to seek people’s views now on the emerging spatial strategy in this document.  
The strategy is not fixed and we recognise that further work is necessary including 
taking on board comments from this additional stage of consultation.  The additional 
stage of consultation has been undertaken as it is critical to ensure everyone can 
have an opportunity to comment and help shape the emerging spatial scenario.  This 
is particularly important as no alternative spatial strategy was put forward at the 
Issues and Options stage and we want to ensure that the opportunity is provided for 
alternatives to come forward. 
 

14. This draft document on Towards the Emerging Spatial Strategy and supporting 
evidence  is open to consultation between 7th November and 16th December 2016.   
This consultation is being undertaken jointly with the consultation on the Joint 
Transport Study, The work streams are closely linked and consultation responses will 
inform both the final draft of the plan and the transport vision in the joint transport 
study. 

 
Preparing the final draft JSP and Timetable for the plan 

15. The JSP is being prepared in accordance with the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.   

Page 24



 

16. The plan is still at an early stage of plan preparation (Regulation 18).  Before any 
final decisions are made a number of statutory stages involving public consultation 
need to be completed. These statutory stages and the timetable for when they will be 
completed are presented in Figure 1. The target is to submit the Joint Spatial Plan to 
the Secretary of state for examination by Spring 2018 with examination later that 
year. Milestones leading up to these dates are set out below: 
 
Figure 1: Timetable 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Nov 2015 – Jan 
2016 

Autumn/Winter 
2016 

 

Spring 2017 

Spring 2018 

Consultation 

 
Consultation 
Current Stage reached: 
Regulation 18 
 

Consultation 

Issues and Options  
 

Towards the Preferred 
Spatial Strategy  

Consider response to 
consultation to inform 

publication plan 

Publication Plan (Final 
Draft Plan) 

 

Examination by 
Planning Inspector 

Submit to 
Secretary  
of State  

Summer 2017 

Mid 2018 

Adoption Late 2018 

Page 25



 

 

Vision and Objectives 

17. The West of England Joint Spatial Plan vision is consistent with national policy, and 
stems from the critical issues identified and the WoE LEP Strategic Economic Plan 
(SEP) economic vision for the sub-region to 2036. The economic vision has been 
augmented to reflect social and environmental aspirations.  The proposed vision for 
the JSP has public support as demonstrated by 71% of respondents to the public 
consultation in 2015.  

Proposed Vision for the West of England Joint Spatial Plan 
By 2036 the WoE will be one of Europe’s fastest growing and most prosperous city 
regions with the gap between disadvantaged and other communities closed and a rising 
quality of life for all. The rich and diverse environmental character will be integral to 
health and economic prosperity. Patterns of development and transport will facilitate 
healthy and sustainable lifestyles.  Existing and new communities will be well integrated, 
attractive and desirable places and supported by the necessary infrastructure. New 
development will be designed to be resilient to, and reduce the impacts of climate 
change. 

18. A complementary vision has also been developed to specifically guide the 
preparation of the Joint Transport Study. This vision seeks an affordable, low carbon, 
accessible, integrated and reliable transport network to achieve a more competitive 
economy and better connected, more active and healthy communities. 
 

19. There are four overarching priorities guiding the preparation of the spatial strategy in 
order to respond to the critical issues facing the West of England and ensure that the 
strategy is founded on sustainable development principles 

Strategic Priorities 

1. Economic: To identify and meet the need for housing  and  accommodate the economic 
growth objectives of the LEP Strategic Economic Plan  

2. Social: To ensure that the JSP benefits all sections of our communities 

3. Environment : To protect and enhance the sub-region’s diverse and high quality 
environment and ensuring resilience including through protection against flood risk. 

4. Infrastructure: To ensure a spatial strategy where new development is properly aligned 
with infrastructure.  

 

 

 

Page 26



 

There are spatial implications for the spatial strategy arising from the four strategic 
priorities: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reviewing the evidence base 

20. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local plans to prepare a 
strategic housing market assessment (SHMA) to have a clear understanding of the 
needs of their area.  In the West of England two Housing Market Areas have been 
identified, a Wider Bristol Housing Market Area and a Bath Housing Market Area. 
 
The Issues and Options consultation proposed that the JSP was based on meeting 
the needs of the Bristol Housing Market area but delivered across the West of 
England (including potential sites within the Bath Housing Market Area). Following 
representations received the evidence base has been reviewed.   The JSP will plan 
to meet the needs arising from both the Bristol and the Bath housing market 
areas to 2036.  The Bath SHMA has been updated to provide consistent information 
to 2036. The wider Bristol SHMA has been updated and now takes account of the 

Spatial implications of the strategic priorities: 
 
1. Economic rebalancing to help address inequality, improve accessibility to jobs, support 
economic growth, and address unsustainable commuting patterns by aligning jobs and 
homes  
 
2. Sufficient land should be identified to meet the needs of development including: 

o Deliver the housing needed at a range of sustainable locations  
o Facilitate economic growth of both existing employment centres such as the 

Enterprise Zones and Enterprise Areas and in new locations which will most 
successfully deliver the appropriate scale and type of jobs and contribution to 
the West of England economy. 

o Recognise the need for affordable housing delivery in accessible locations close 
to employment centres and other services and close to where the need arises. 

 
3. Retention of the overall function of the Bristol & Bath Green Belt as set out in the NPPF.  

4. The environmental quality of the West of England is maintained and enhanced by 

o  Planning positively to ensure that development encourages and does not 
restrict the benefits the natural environment can provide.  

o Ensuring no net loss to biodiversity and enhancing ecosystem service provision 
o To develop a more resilient environment to help tackle the challenges of future 

climate change. 
 

5. Strategic development should be in locations which maximise the potential to reduce the 
need to travel or where travel is necessary, maximise opportunities to travel by sustainable, 
non-car modes, especially walking and cycling.  The focus of new transport infrastructure 
should addresses both existing challenges and create capacity for sustainable growth. Or 
be in places accessible to existing or new high quality public transport links. 

 

Page 27



 

representations  received to the Issues and Options consultation.  The Objectively 
Assessed need (OAN) for the wider Bristol HMA was at that time defined as 85,000 
the OAN for both housing market areas is now 97,800, with a housing need of up to 
102,200. A Topic paper on the Housing Target sets out  the approach and evidence 
to formulating the housing target.   
 

21. The JSP will provide the framework to deliver up to 105,0001 net additional new 
homes between 2016 and  2036 of which, around 32,200 (30%) should be affordable 
homes.  
 

22. The housing target supports the planned job growth of 82,500 jobs for the period 
2016-2036 (or 125,900 jobs between the period 2010-2036).   
Figure 2 JSP Housing Target 2016-2036 

2 

Planned supply  

23. The four authorities’ existing Core Strategies make provision for some 66,800 
dwellings.  This is predominantly on previously developed land (60.23%).There is 
supporting growth at towns, and villages and also several greenfield strategic 
locations in existing local plans.  When compared to the housing target figure 
identified there are up to 39,000 additional dwellings to 2036,  that need to be 
planned for through the JSP spatial strategy.    

                                                           
1  
 This includes a buffer of 2.5% which has been used to recognise that there is the potential for a small margin of error, 
given that some of the numbers are based on likely estimates and the final numbers will be finalised when the SHMA is 
updated in 2017. 

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

110,000

Buffer

Bath HMA Objectively
Assessed Need

Wider Bristol HMA Objectively
Assessed Need

Wider Bristol 

Housing target 
up to 105,000 

1. 

Bath HMA 

Page 28



 

 

Figure 3: Housing Target against planned supply

 

Affordable homes 

24. The identified need for an additional 32,200 affordable homes takes into account a 
boost to the overall housing need to respond to the market signals in the West of 
England.  Delivery against this need equates to 1,610 affordable homes each year, 
which is 30% of all homes planned over the 20 year plan period. This is in contrast to 
actual housing delivery, over the period 2006/07 to 2014/15 of: 
• 36,279 new homes (market and affordable).  
• 8,086 affordable homes (an annual average of 898 per year).  
• This represents an affordable housing delivery rate of 22.5% of all homes. 

  
25. Meeting the affordable housing need is recognised as a significant challenge and the 

Unitary Authorities have to consider whether the affordable housing need can be 
delivered . 
 

26. The option of further increasing the overall market housing figure (above the boost 
already made) to bring forward more sites which in turn may deliver more affordable 
homes has been explored. However, not only is this unlikely to lead to the delivery of 
affordable housing to meet the need identified, an oversupply of market homes will 
create an imbalance in jobs and homes by drawing in additional workers resulting in 
increased levels of households in need.  This would further inflate the number of 
homes needed and provide additional growth pressures on the transport network.  

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

 

Yet to be planned for in the
region of: up to 39,000

Planned and forecast:66,800

Page 29



 

Hence this approach is contrary to providing a sustainable balanced strategy for 
growth and is likely to have a detrimental impact on wider principles of the Plan as 
well as destabilising the plans of adjoining Local Planning Authorities who are also 
promoting a plan led approach to planning for sustainable economic growth. 

 
27. Challenges in delivering affordable housing to meet identified need are not unique to 

the West of England; the nature and scale of issues and policy landscape is 
national.  There is a significant implementation gap between levels of need and 
planned numbers of affordable homes that can be realistically delivered by the 
development industry.  It is recognised that the Unitary Authorities will need to work 
with partners and use other mechanisms as well as the planning system to maximise 
delivery of affordable homes needed. 
 

28.  On balance therefore it is clear that it is unrealistic and unsustainable for the Plan 
alone to meet the full amount of affordable housing identified.  This is a judgement 
that has involved a careful balancing exercise that has taken into account all of the 
factors set out above. 
 

29. It is recognised that other areas in the country have experienced the same issues 
and have instead set out what can be achieved through their respective Spatial 
Strategies.  
 

30. It should be noted that if there is a review of the affordable housing definition in 
national planning policy to include Starter Homes, then the 32,200 affordable housing 
need would need reviewing.  This is because many of the households who aspire to 
home ownership but cannot afford to buy market housing in the Plan area (those who 
may be eligible for Starter Homes) can afford to rent market housing.  Therefore they 
are not counted within the affordable housing need of 32,200 dwellings (which is 
based on those who cannot afford to buy or rent at market rates in the market area). 
 

31.  In the absence of regulations explaining the introduction of Starter Homes in more 
detail the Authorities’ technical assessment has assumed that 20% starter homes will 
apply on all the new strategic development locations as they come forward.   
 

32. This means that traditional affordable homes (as currently defined in national and 
local policy) will make up the balance of the policy requirement. In practice, the % of 
traditional affordable housing should be higher if equivalent viability is maintained. 
However it is not possible to confirm this at this time.  It is also unknown whether 
existing Core Strategy commitments could be impacted by the introduction of Starter 
Homes.  Therefore current projections, taking into account the impact of starter 
homes on new strategic development locations, are that 17,100 traditional affordable 
homes can be delivered against the housing need of 32,200 (53%).  
 

Page 30



 

33. The assumption of 20% Starter Homes on new strategic development locations 
equates to the delivery of 7,740 homes, contributing towards the overall housing 
target.    
 

34. We are seeking views on this proposed approach to the emerging spatial 
strategy. 

 Summary of technical work on 
affordable homes delivered through the 
planning system 

total number 
of homes 

Traditional 
affordable 
housing  
(units) if 
starter 
homes 
introduced  

Traditionnal 
affordable 
homes (%) 

Sites that are existing planned 
commitments in Local Plans including 
future small windfalls 

66,800 14,288 21.65% 

New strategic and non strategic 
development locations 

Up to 39,000 
to be tested3  

2,783 7.19% 

Total projected affordable housing 
delivery 

 17,071 16.30% 

Proposed target Up to 105,000   

 

2. Spatial Strategy 

35. Further work was been undertaken to develop the spatial strategy. The methodology 
is set out in the Topic Paper on formulation of the emerging spatial strategy. In 
summary the process has involved the following 5 stages: 

 

 

  

                                                           
3 To meet target 38,200 required, indicative capacities being tested at locations are some 39,000 

Page 31



 

Figure 4: Approach to building the spatial strategy: 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
36. This  has implications for the choice of strategic development locations (SDL’s) as 

follows; 
a. Development within existing urban areas 
b. Development outside the Green Belt in close proximity or well related in 

sustainable transport terms  to existing urban centres, especially to the south 
west and south east of Bristol and adjoining Weston-s-Mare 

c. Other sustainable towns and villages including freestanding settlements. 
d. If exceptional circumstances exist, consideration of the sustainability of Green 

Belt locations 
 

37. An allowance is proposed to be made for ‘non-strategic growth’ to accommodate on-
going housing development in villages and towns which is needed to enable local 
communities to thrive.  This allowance is for up to 1,000 dwellings each for Bath and 
North East Somerset, North Somerset, and South Gloucestershire and up to 400 for 
Bristol, together this totals 3,400 homes across the plan area. Detailed proposals are 
intended to be brought forward through each authorities local plan. 
 

38. This approach recognises all aspects of sustainability including growth closest to the 
central areas and other parts of urban areas where people seek to travel for work, 

Identification of the reasonable alternatives 

Define sustainable patterns of development in the WoE 

Consider the implications for the Green Belt 

 

Follow the approach in NPPF paragraph 84  

 

Refinement 

 

Page 32



 

shopping and recreational needs.  Sustainability is closely related, but not entirely, to 
proximity.  Other sustainability factors to meet the priorities of the plan also need to 
be considered including rebalancing economic growth, maintaining and enhancing 
the environment and retaining the overall function of the Green Belt.  A balanced 
approach has been taken.  
 

39. The current and anticipated future locations which are significant generators of trips 
are central Bristol, the existing communities of the Bristol North Fringe, central 
Bath/Bath Enterprise Zone and Weston-super-Mare.  However, this approach which 
focusses on increasing existing urban development opportunities and expansion  will 
not be sufficient to meet the homes and job needs of the Region over the next 20 
years. Additional new sustainable locations will be needed which  may include new 
approaches such as new neighbourhoods, or garden villages.  The spatial strategy 
identifies locations for these, recognising their current proximity and access to central 
Bristol, Bath and Weston super-Mare and their potential to utilise existing and new 
transport corridor opportunities. Evidence shows that due to significant environmental 
constraints there is no scope to further expand Bath outwards. 
 

40. Alongside this, it is also recognised that existing towns and larger  villages have a 
role to play in supporting sustainable economic growth. Strategic opportunities have 
been identified where investment in high profile public transport will assist in 
delivering sustainable growth. 
 

41. A sizeable proportion (48%) of the West of England is part of the Bristol-Bath Green 
Belt. This has significant implications for the spatial strategy, particularly reflecting 
the strategic priority to retain the overall function of the Green Belt.  The advice in 
NPPF para 83 is “Once established, Green Belt boundaries should only be altered in 
exceptional circumstances, through the preparation or review of the Local Plan. At 
that time, authorities should consider the Green Belt boundaries having regard to 
their intended permanence in the long term, so that they should be capable of 
enduring beyond the plan period.” 
 

42. Technical work and transport modelling show that it is not possible to sustainably 
accommodate the identified growth needs entirely outside the Green Belt.  The 
transport impacts cannot be fully mitigated even with substantial investment. Such a 
strategy would be dependent on some highly unsustainable locations that are very 
difficult and expensive to mitigate with only sub-optimal solutions.  It would also put 
pressure to locate development in the floodplain, and these issues would impact 
delivery of such a strategy.  
 

43. In response to public consultation, the spatial strategy aims to minimise development 
within the Bristol and Bath Green Belt. However, due to the scale of provision 
required and the extensive nature of the Green Belt, the plan does include certain 
sites currently with Green Belt designation. Land is proposed to be released from the 

Page 33



 

Green Belt, south east of Bristol as explained in the Spatial Strategy methodology 
paper.    There may be potential through the plan’s preparation to explore whether 
areas could be included within the Green Belt to ensure no net loss of the overall 
green belt.  There are no firm proposals at this time. Finally, the opportunity for a new 
free standing settlement has been explored.  Through the Issues and options 
consultation a garden village of Buckover to the east of Thornbury was identified.   

Urban Living (maximising the potential of urban areas) 

44. Urban Living is a central plank of the Spatial Strategy, and commands a high degree 
of public support.  The four UAs have carried out an assessment of the potential of 
existing urban areas to deliver land to meet development needs.  In recent years a 
high proportion of new homes have been delivered on brownfield land in urban 
areas. This process has been aided by new approaches to urban density, and new 
thinking about the nature of liveable cities and towns and the trends in the type of 
accommodation we seek.  It is recognised that the success will rely on the ability to 
plan effectively the use of all public services as part of this concept. 
 

45. Further work undertaken has indicated that brownfield land in the future could deliver 
greater levels of development than in recent years. Bristol has delivered 45% of the 
new housing provision across the JSP plan area since 2006, much of it on previously 
developed land.  In the Issues and Options document 10,000 homes were identified 
to come forward through urban living in Bristol (12,000 across the plan area).  More 
recent evidence has identified that through maximising opportunities for 
development, this number could be increased to a potential for 12,000 homes to be 
delivered in Bristol (14,300 across the plan area). Opportunities for maximising the 
potential of existing land will result from: 

• the change of use of non-residential brown field land to residential – where the 
previous use is no longer required or the most efficient use for the land 

• Identifying land which is currently underused and has potential for  residential 
development  

• Identification of mechanisms to ensure more certainty over the delivery of 
large windfall sites. 

• Increasing the density of development: 
o on allocated sites by reappraising and increasing  their development 

potential   
o on existing sites where the opportunity for redevelopment arises 

 

Strategic Development Locations 

46. Against the requirement of c39,000 additional dwellings, taking into account up to 
14,300 that could be delivered through urban living the remaining c24,400 
additional new dwellings will be accommodated in a combination of the 
following two ways: 
 

Page 34



 

• Majority through strategic development locations identified in the JSP (SDL’s) 
• Non strategic growth identified through individual Local Plans, (400 in Bristol, 

and up to 1,000 in each of the remaining 3 UAs, totalling some 3,400). 
 

47. District apportionments in the final JSP will set the amount of growth to be 
accommodated.  
 

48. Across the West of England economic locations are expected to deliver capacities to 
support c.658ha of employment land.  With the enterprise zone and areas having 
capacity to support the provision of up to 78,400 jobs depending on end uses. 
 

49. The Enterprise Zone and areas  can contribute more than two thirds of the 82,500 
jobs, a further third of employment will come through the needs of the increased 
population including; GPs, Shops, leisure uses. 

  

Page 35



 

 

Table 1: Strategic Locations and the rationale for inclusion in the emerging spatial 
strategy 

Typology Strategic 
location 

Indicative 
number of 
dwellings 

Rationale for inclusion in the 
emerging spatial strategy 

Likely 
transport 
mitigations 
include 

Urban 
Living 
 

Bristol 12,000 Urban living - the potential of 
urban areas to accommodate 
new homes - is a central part of 
the emerging Spatial Strategy. It 
is consistent with the objectives 
for the strategy. 

Ring of new and 
expanded Park 
& Rides around 
the Bristol 
urban area on 
the main 
corridors 
Walking/cycling 
package 

Bath 
. 

300 Urban living - the potential of 
urban areas to accommodate 
new homes - is a central part of 
the emerging Spatial Strategy. It 
is consistent with the objectives 
for the strategy. However, there 
are only limited  additional 
opportunities above those 
currently identified in the 
B&NES Core Strategy & 
Placemaking Plan, particularly in 
light of the physical and 
environmental constraints  
which are a characteristic of the 
City 

 
Conventional 
bus upgrading 
Walking/cycling 
packages in 
addition to 
infrastructure 
needed to 
support Core 
Strategy 
growth. 

Weston 1,000 Urban living - the potential of 
urban areas to accommodate 
new homes - is a central part of 
the emerging Spatial Strategy. It 
is consistent with the objectives 
for the strategy. 

Weston rail 
improvements 
MetroBus 
Junction 
capacity 
improvements 
(inc M5 Jn 21) 

North and 
East 
Fringe 
(S.Glos) 

1,300 Urban living - the potential of 
urban areas to accommodate 
new homes - is a central part of 
the emerging Spatial Strategy. It 
is consistent with the objectives 
for the strategy. 

A420 P&R and 
MetroBus 
Walking/cycling 
packages 
Ring Road 
junction 
improvements 

Outside the 
Green Belt 
proximity or 

Nailsea/ 
Backwell 

Up to 
3,600 

Nailsea/Backwell is located on 
the outer edge of the Green 
Belt, physically close to Bristol 

Station 
improvements 
MetroBus 

Page 36



 

well related 
in 
sustainable 
transport 
terms to 
urban 
centres  

and with strong economic links 
but it will require  transport 
infrastructure investment such 
as metrobus to significantly 
improve connectivity and 
maximise opportunities for 
sustainable travel. Nailsea is a 
town where there is an existing 
objective to improve the mix and 
balance of housing and support 
existing and new services, jobs 
and facilities.  Any growth needs 
to be carefully integrated to 
ensure that the existing services 
and facilities would help support 
the new development and 
benefit from the opportunities 
generated.  Development is 
anticipated to take place 
generally to the west of Nailsea 
and Backwell which will bring 
significant challenges in terms of 
transport delivery, but avoids the 
Green Belt and principal flood 
zone areas. 

Junction 
improvements 
(inc M5 jn 21) 
J20 to Nailsea 
new link 
 

 M5 to A38 
Transport 
Corridor 

Up to 
5,400 

Development in this general 
location, possibly by a new 
garden village, provides the 
opportunity to significantly 
upgrade the transport 
infrastructure on this corridor as 
part of an overall objective of 
improving the A38 south of 
Bristol and improving 
connectivity for the Airport.  This 
would target the A38 route to 
the south of the Airport, 
improving accessibility for 
economic development and 
access to new jobs to the south 
and east of Bristol.  It creates 
potential improvements to M5 
access at Weston, relieves 
pressure on A370 corridor and 
addresses long standing 
community impacts, notably a 
bypass to alleviate congestion in 
Banwell.  As further growth at 
Weston is highly constrained by 
topography, flood plain and 

Significant 
mitigations 
including P&R 
(A38/M5 jn 21) 
Junction 
improvements 
(inc M5 jn 21) 
Banwell bypass 
would need to 
be delivered in 
advance to 
support this 
location. 

Page 37



 

significant highway capacity 
issues, this provides an 
opportunity to provide future 
growth to meet Weston’s needs, 
linked to the existing urban area 
by transport improvements. 
 

Other Town 
expansions/ 
new 
settlements 

Thornbury Up to 600 Additional development that 
consolidates / completes 
expansion to east of the town, 
appropriate to continue the 
revitalisation of the town centre 
and strengthen local services. 
Also provides additional 
opportunity for investment and 
provision of new local 
employment and will assist the 
case for Metrobus to improve 
access to BNF and Science 
Park. 

P&R A38 
MetroBus 
Junction 
improvements 
(inc M5 Jn 16) 

 Charfield Up to 
1,000 

Provides an opportunity to 
enhance the sustainability of a 
key settlement in the north of 
the district through growth 
supported by new services, 
facilities and employment 
opportunities.  Charfield is 
situated on an existing live 
railway line. Whilst the station is 
currently closed any additional 
housing in this location could 
support a case for potentially 
reopening the station and rural 
bus improvements. Significant 
highway infrastructure may also 
be required. Also assists 
addressing housing needs / 
demand for new homes in north 
of the district.   

P&R (A38) 
junction 
improvements 
(inc M5 junction 
14) 

 Buckover 
Garden 
Village 

Up to 
2,200 

An opportunity has recently 
emerged beyond the Green Belt 
in SGC for a potential new 
garden village settlement (up to 
3000 dwellings) located to the 
east of Thornbury.   This 
location provides the opportunity 
to deliver the first locally led 
garden village for West of 
England in 21st Century.  It 
could help the case for a step 

 

Page 38



 

change in public transport to the 
locality, linking to Metrobus 
routes to enable access to the 
major employment centres of 
North Bristol. Significant 
highway infrastructure, including 
the strategic  road network (M5) 
may also be required. It also 
potentially broadens the housing 
supply models in the sub-region 
via a single ownership with 
genuinely visionary approach to 
place making and land value 
capture. Alongside planned 
expansion at Charfield it would 
also provide the opportunity for 
the local communities in the 
north of the district to meet 
housing pressures in a planned 
sustainable way.  Buckover is 
also a potential growth point for 
any future Oldbury NNB. 

Locations 
within or 
partially 
within the 
Green Belt 

SE Bristol 
Whitchurch 

Up to 
3,500 

Land south and east of 
Whitchurch Village performs 
relatively well in the 
sustainability appraisal because 
of its proximity to Bristol, and the 
choice of travel options available 
in this location. However, this 
location is only deliverable if 
substantial new sub-regional 
and local transport infrastructure 
is provided, focussing on public 
transport, including conventional 
bus service upgrading, new park 
& ride, and future Metrobus or 
rapid transit provision. Additional 
highways capacity would also 
be needed, to address 
underlying congestion issues, to 
provide access to new 
development and to release 
space for the public transport 
improvements. Housing capacity 
is constrained to about 3,500 
dwellings to avoid causing 
unacceptable harm to nationally 
important heritage assets as 
well as retaining the Green Belt 
separation of Whitchurch Village 

Walking & 
cycling package 
Conventional 
bus upgrading 
A37 new Park & 
Ride 
Orbital 
Metrobus 
linking 
Whitchurch/Hick
s Gate/city 
centre 
A4-A37 new or 
improved orbital 
links (also 
facilitates 
Metrobus 
corridor)      
Whitchurch 
distributor road 
including 
connection to 
A4-A37 

Page 39



 

from the Bristol Urban area.   
Whilst the location lies within the 
Green Belt and plays an 
important role in preventing 
urban sprawl, protecting the 
countryside and helping 
regeneration, the need to 
provide for strategic new growth, 
the relative sustainability of this 
location and its relative 
performance in Green Belt 
terms compared with other 
locations is evidence of the 
exceptional circumstance s to 
release of this location from the 
Green Belt (see Topic Paper   
on the Spatial Strategy 
Methodology). 

 North & 
East 
Keynsham 

Up to 
1,100 

This location performs well in 
the Sustainability Appraisal and 
will also be effective in helping 
to deliver the Plan's Strategic 
Priorities.  Being a town 
expansion situated on a 
strategic transport corridor well 
related to Bath & Bristol  it fits 
well with the spatial strategy 
methodology as set out in  Topic 
Paper 5 Spatial Strategy 
Methodology. The proximity to 
central Bristol  provides the 
opportunity to exploit both 
existing and potential new 
sustainable transport 
infrastructure including 
conventional bus corridors, Park 
& Ride, the Bristol to Bath 
Railway line, the Bristol-Bath 
cycleway, and future MetroBus 
or rapid transit.  However, any 
development in this location is 
dependent on the timely 
provision of significant new 
transport measures to enable 
new growth  and to mitigate 
existing congestion. This 
includes new road infrastructure 
where appropriate to serve the 
potential development area and 
ease pressure in the town 

Walking & 
cycling package 
including NCN4 
link 
Conventional 
bus upgrading 
A4 Park & Ride 
relocation 
and/or 
expansion 
A4 Metrobus 
terminating 
Keynsham/Saltf
ord 
A4-A37 new or 
improved orbital 
links 
Callington Road 
Link (Bristol)             
Avon Mill Lane-
A4 link including 
A4/B3116 
junction and/or 
other A4 
junction 
upgrading 

Page 40



 

centre. Whilst part of this 
location lies outside the Green 
Belt, there are   exceptional 
circumstances  to justify 
removing the rest of the location 
from the Green Belt in light of its 
relative GB performance against 
other GB locations (see Topic 
Paper 5  on the Spatial Strategy 
Methodology).   Development in 
this location will need to relate 
well to the existing settlement 
and take account of the views 
from the Cotswolds AONB. The 
capacity of the site is 
constrained by the floodplain 
and the need to respect the 
separate integrity of Keynsham 
and Saltford. 

 Yate 
strategic  
corridor 
(Yate/ 
Chipping 
Sodbury/) 

Up to 
2,600 

Strategic Growth would 
consolidate longer term role as 
one of the principle market 
towns in the sub-region 
benefiting from existing 
accessibility & service provision 
as a significant urban centre, 
particularly area's accessibility 
by rail.  Alongside Coalpit Heath 
growth would support 
investment into rail and 
Metrobus extension along the 
A432 Badminton Road, 
improving access to Bristol City 
Centre, the Bristol North Fringe, 
Science Park and Emersons 
Green Enterprise Area. Long-
term  phased greenfield 
development would also support 
investment in regeneration and 
the town centres and improving 
the range and type of jobs and 
help to unlock potential 
brownfield development at the 
western gateway. 

Station 
improvements 
MetroBus 
P&R 
Pinchpoint 
schemes and 
junction 
improvements 
Coalpit Heath 
distributor road 

 Coalpit 
Heath. 

Up to 
1,500 

Coalpit Heath offers close 
proximity to the BNF, Science 
Park and Emersons Green 
Enterprise Area. Strategic 
development along the A432 
Badminton Road, in combination 

MetroBus 
P&R 
Pinchpoint 
schemes and 
junction 
improvements 

Page 41



 

with further growth at Yate / 
Chipping Sodbury would support 
investment into rail at Yate and  
Metrobus. It would also support 
existing and provide new 
services / facilities and 
employment opportunities in the 
locality. 

Coalpit Heath 
distributor road 

Total of 
strategic 
Developme
nt Locations  

 Up to 
36,100 

  

Non 
strategic 
Growth  

 Up to 
3,400 

Development of up to 1,000 
dwellings at each UA to 
accommodate on-going housing 
development in villages and 
towns which is needed to enable 
local communities to thrive. 
Development of up to 400 
dwellings at the SW Bristol part 
of Ashton Vale that lies within 
the City boundary and is inside 
the South Bristol Link Road and 
makes only a limited 
contribution to the Green Belt 
compared to other GB locations. 
Given 400 units, it is not 
strategic in size, but would 
contribute to non-strategic 
growth within Bristol.  
 

 

Total   Up to 
39,900 

  

 

 

Page 42



 

Table 2: Locations considered and not put forward for inclusion in the emerging spatial strategy 

Yatton Yatton is a very constrained location in terms of transport, flood risk, ecology and transport.  The location was 
tested through the transport modelling and performed poorly as highway trips would have a disproportionate 
impact on the network as a result of long distances to all destinations and would require expensive mitigation– 
river and rail crossing. Surrounded by low lying land at risk of flooding. 

 

Long Ashton The principal area of potential development to the south is separated from Long Ashton by the railway and is 
difficult to integrate into the existing settlement because of severance issues.  It is a sensitive part of the Green 
Belt valued by the local community.  Long Ashton is relatively close to Bristol, so there is an opportunity to 
maximise cycling and use of metro bus.There are also existing transport constraints relating to Cumberland 
Basin congestion and   M5 J19. 

 

Portishead Portishead is a very constrained location in terms of transport, Green Belt, flooding and ecology. Whilst there is 
opportunity afforded by Portishead line rail re-opening, there are major capacity constraints at M5 J19.  

Easton-in 
Gordano/Pill 

Easton-in-Gordano is a very constrained location in terms of transport, Green Belt, heritage, landscape and 
ecology. Whilst there is opportunity afforded by the Portishead line rail re-opening, there are major capacity 
constraints at M5 J19. 

Clevedon Clevedon is very constrained in terms of flood risk to the south and east and topography and landscape to the 
north.  The levels landscape is also particularly sensitive both for its own characteristic value and ecological 
contribution as well as potential for adverse ecological impacts on the coastal habitat to the south of Clevedon.  
Any new development to the east of M5 would be physically separated from the existing town.  Strategic 
development was also shown to be quite problematic in transport terms in this location with additional trips on 
the M5 and contributing to congestion on more localised routes. 

NW Saltford 

This location does not make the threshold for strategic development location. However, it has potential as a 
non strategic growth location to be explored through the review of the B&NES Core Strategy. The location lies 
within the Green Belt  

P
age 43



 

West & South 
West 
Keynsham 

This location does not perform well in the Sustainability Appraisal. It would be difficult and costly to mitigate the 
negative  impacts  of development in this location. The location lies within the Green Belt  

SE Keynsham 
This location does not perform well in the Sustainability Appraisal. It would be difficult and costly to mitigate the 
negative  impacts  of development in this location.  The location lies within the Green Belt 

SW Saltford 
This location does not perform well in the Sustainability Appraisal. It would be difficult and costly to mitigate the 
negative  impacts  of development in this location.  The location lies within the Green Belt 

Somer Valley 

The Somer Valley is one of the least sustainable locations in the sub-region for accommodating strategic 
housing growth.  There is already a substantial imbalance in the number of workers who reside in the town and 
the employment available and this will be exacerbated in light of existing residential commitments.  It has also 
proved difficult to attract new employment to the area and jobs have been steadily eroded over recent years. 
Therefore, strategic new housing growth will inevitably lead to substantial out commuting. Transport modelling 
shows that seeking to mitigate this will be difficult, costly and only partially effective.  The purpose of the new 
Enterprise Zone is to facilitate employment generation to help mitigate the existing high levels of out-
commuting. 

Clutton and 
Temple Cloud 

Sites in Clutton & Temple Cloud do not perform well as sustainable locations for accommodating strategic 
housing growth in the sub-region.  The majority of new residents are highly likely to seek to travel by car to 
work and other activities.    Transport modelling shows that seeking to mitigate this will be difficult, costly and 
only partially effective. 

West of 
Twerton, Bath 

Based on the SA the significance impact that development of this scale and this location would have on World 
Heritage site and its setting has led to this full site not being considered as a reasonable option.  The severity 
of harm caused by development in this location would significantly outweigh the benefits. It would cause 
significant harm to the setting of the WHS and whilst it  is not in the AONB, it  is on the edge of Bath and is 
visually prominent, thereby causing harm to the AONB. As such development would contradict national policy. 
It also performs very strongly in Green Belt terms. Therefore this location is not suitable for development in the 
plan period. 

SE Bristol 
Hicks Gate 

Whilst this location performs well in the Sustainability Appraisal, and would be effective in helping to deliver the 
Plan's Strategic Priorities, it lies in a very sensitive part of the Bristol and Bath Green Belt which makes a major 

P
age 44



 

contribution to  preventing the merger of Bristol and Keynsham.  

Ashton Vale The Green Belt at Ashton Vale (outside the South Bristol Link) makes a major contribution to Green Belt 
purposes.  It is an area of attractive countryside and a sensitive landscape in relation to, in particular, Ashton 
Court and Dundry Hill and has ecological importance.  It provides the landscape setting to Bristol and for rural 
communities within North Somerset and plays a significant role in protecting the countryside from 
encroachment of development. Protecting high quality environment is a priority of the plan.  The location was 
tested through the transport modelling and performed well in terms of potential accessibility by non-car modes 
given its proximity to Bristol. There are also existing transport constraints relating to M5 J19.   

Kingswood/ 
Warmley 

 

Some 13,500 dwellings also remain to be constructed on land allocated in the South Gloucestershire Local 
Plan & Core Strategy across the Bristol North & North East Fringe communities over the next 10-15 years. 
Further strategic growth in the locality is likely to undermine delivery of these key sites. Moreover Bristol has 
historically predominantly grown north & eastwards. Strategic growth in the locality towards and also up the 
escarpments would significantly add to the impression of sprawl undermining the objectives of the 
Greenbelt.   Notwithstanding this, significant growth will severely exacerbate congestion and air quality issues 
along the A420 corridor into Bristol. Road space along the A420 is significantly constrained by the nature of 
built form limiting the potential for necessary substantive strategic public transport, walking and cycling 
interventions along it. The locality is also poorly related to major areas of employment. Strategic growth would 
also further divorce existing communities to the west from physical and visual access to the countryside and 
potentially impact on Siston Conservation Area, Siston Lane and Webbs Heath areas of landscape value as 
well as local ecological interests.  

North of M4/M5 

 

Some 13,500 dwellings also remain to be constructed on land allocated in the South Gloucestershire Local 
Plan & Core Strategy across the Bristol North & North East Fringe communities over the next 10-15 years. 
Further strategic growth in the locality is likely to undermine delivery of these key sites. Moreover Bristol has 
historically predominantly grown north & eastwards. Strategic growth in the locality would also therefore 
significantly add to the impression of sprawl significantly undermining the objectives of the Greenbelt. 
Notwithstanding this, although the locality is in close proximity to existing strategic employment locations the 
location lacks good connections. Strategic growth would be severed from the existing urban area by the 
motorway therefore limiting options in terms of new connections. Strategic growth would therefore have a 
severe impact on Hortham village and J16 being in such close proximity. Strategic growth would also divorce 
existing communities from access to the countryside and maturing recreational opportunities, important to 

P
age 45



 

support existing residential and employment areas in the north Bristol fringe.  

Pucklechurch & 
M4 to 
Shortwood 

 

Some 13,500 dwellings also remain to be constructed on land allocated in the South Gloucestershire Local 
Plan & Core Strategy across the Bristol North & North East Fringe communities over the next 10-15 years. 
Further strategic growth in the locality is likely to undermine delivery of these key sites. Moreover similar to 
significant growth at Kingswood/Warmley,  strategic growth will severely exacerbate congestion and air quality 
issues along radial routes into Bristol, where road space is significantly constrained by the nature of built form 
so limiting the potential for necessary substantive strategic public transport, walking and cycling interventions. 
The locality is also less well related to major areas of employment than proposed growth points at Yate & 
Coalpit Heath. Strategic growth would also further divorce existing communities from physical and visual 
access to the countryside and potentially impact on Siston Conservation Area. Development between 
Pucklechurch and the East Fringe is also highly constrained by its topography, ecological and archaeological 
interests. Significant development in the locality up these escarpments would thus significantly add to the 
impression of sprawl and separation in the locality undermining the objectives of the Greenbelt. Pucklechurch 
itself may have potential for some non-strategic growth to support local services. To be considered through the 
Local Plan process. 

Olveston 

 

Olveston is surrounded by high quality landscape, ecological and heritage assets. Access is along ‘lanes’. This 
village is not considered suitable for strategic level growth but may have potential for some non-strategic 
growth to support local services. To be considered through the Local Plan process. 

Wickwar  

 

Major strategic growth is not considered appropriate due to areas of important landscape, heritage and 
ecological value to the north, northwest and east. The village is also less well related to major areas of 
employment than proposed growth points at Yate & Coalpit Heath. Strategic growth would be car based with 
limited opportunity to improve public transport options, thereby also impacting on other settlements on route to 
higher order localities and the strategic transport network. However the village may have potential for some 
non-strategic growth to support local services. To be considered through the Local Plan process. 

Alveston  

 

Major strategic growth is not considered appropriate due to areas of particular landscape and heritage value to 
the north, northeast and west. The A38 would sever development to the southeast from the village. 
Development to the north would also compromise separation from Thornbury undermining green belt 
objectives. The settlement / locality is therefore not considered suitable for strategic level growth but may have 
potential for some non-strategic growth to support local services. To be considered through the Local Plan 

P
age 46



 

process. 

Almondsbury  

 

Some 13,500 dwellings also remain to be constructed on land allocated in the South Gloucestershire Local 
Plan & Core Strategy across the Bristol North & North East Fringe communities over the next 10-15 years. 
Further strategic growth in the locality is likely to undermine delivery of these key sites. Moreover major 
strategic growth is not considered appropriate due to the village being constrained by noise, pylons, solar park 
and proposed air ambulance site to its south / southeast and high landscape value / slopes towards the Severn 
Vale to its northwest. Similar to land north of M4/M5, strategic growth would also have a severe impact on 
Hortham village and J16, being in such close proximity. Bristol has also historically predominantly grown north 
& eastwards. Strategic growth would thus also significantly add to the impression of sprawl in the locality 
significantly undermining the objectives of the Greenbelt. Therefore, the settlement/locality is not considered 
suitable for strategic level growth but may have potential for some non-strategic growth to support local 
services. To be considered through the Local Plan process. 

Longwell Green 

 

Land at Longwell Green essentially comprises slopes and hilltop with Hanham Abbots Conservation area to 
the south. This area is an important physical and visual asset with extensive views to and from it to 
surrounding urban areas. Strategic growth over this area would significantly add to the impression of sprawl 
undermining objectives of the greenbelt. 

Hambrook 

 

Some 13,500 dwellings also remain to be constructed on land allocated in the South Gloucestershire Local 
Plan & Core Strategy across the Bristol North & North East Fringe communities over the next 10-15 years. 
Further strategic growth in the locality is likely to undermine delivery of these key sites. Moreover the area is 
located between the M4 motorway and ring road, severing it from existing communities and suffering from 
noise and fumes. Hambrook village is also a conservation area with a number of heritage assets. The 
settlement / locality is therefore not considered suitable for strategic level growth but may have potential for 
some limited non-strategic growth to support local services. To be considered through the Local Plan process. 

Bridge Yate / 
Oldland 
Common 

 

The locality is characterised by the escarpment and ridgeline running along its length forming the ‘natural’ edge 
to the Bristol urban area. A pylon, abattoir and conservation area, archaeological and ecological interests are 
also present. The escarpments and ridgelines that frame / contain this part of Bristol East Fringe also protect 
the setting of the AONB.  Bristol has also historically predominantly grown north & eastwards. Significant 
development in the locality up these escarpments would thus significantly add to the impression of sprawl in 
the locality undermining the objectives of the Greenbelt. Strategic growth would also further divorce existing 

P
age 47



 

communities from physical and visual access to the countryside. Therefore, this locality is not considered 
suitable for strategic level growth but may have potential for some non-strategic growth to support local 
services. To be considered through the Local Plan process.  

 

 

Severnside 

 

Comprising Severnside employment areas, Severn Beach, Pilning and Easter Compton. The locality is 
characterised by the Severn Estuary and the Vale hinterland. With the exception of Easter Compton the locality 
is predominantly flood zone 3 and provides important habitats for birdlife and other wildlife (designations 
comprise RAMSAR, SPA, SAC & SSSIs). Strategic pylons and pipelines also intersect the locality. The 
Severnside 1957/58 employment consent covers much of the area and remains to be completely built out. 
Therefore, the locality is not considered suitable for strategic level residential growth but may have potential for 
some limited non-strategic growth to support local services. To be considered through the Local Plan process. 

P
age 48



 

 

Likely mitigations and infrastructure required to support the emerging spatial 
strategy   

50. Our transport network has an increasing volume of travel and complex travel 
patterns.  This has contributed to a network that is often at capacity at peak times, 
with increased journey times and congestion.  These impacts have been perceived 
as a barrier to securing sustainable economic growth.  This threatens not only the 
productivity of our businesses and workforce but our ability to meet wider sustainable 
objectives such as reducing carbon emissions and improving air quality in our urban 
areas. 
 

51. Transport investment can be a major influence on where development is located and 
how to create high quality places in which people want to live and work. Influencing 
the location of development will not of itself be sufficient to address the issue.   
 

52. Integrating housing and employment development with investment in reliable, high 
quality transport choices will reduce the length and number of journeys to work, 
encourage more sustainable travel modes such as cycling, walking and public 
transport and reduce the reliance on car based journeys.  
 

53. To support the additional development required as a result of the spatial strategy the 
approach to infrastructure provision seeks to: 

• maximise the effectiveness of sustainable travel choices and encourage mode shift  
(to rail, MetroBus, Park & Ride, bus, cycling, walking) across the plan area. 

• maximise the effectiveness of non-car mode choices for both urban living and new 
development outside existing urban areas; 

• then, mitigate impacts of additional traffic, including investigation of junction capacity 
improvements, upgrades, new highway connections and traffic restrictions.  

Encouraging mode shift across the plan area: 

54. MetroBus will be central to delivering mode shift at strategic development locations, 
and along key corridors with a number of locations outside of walking/cycling 
distance from key attractors and less-well served by the conventional bus and rail 
networks; 
 

55. –A network of  new Park & Ride and interchange schemes will help to intercept 
trips on the edge of Bristol and Bath urban areas: reduce traffic in Bristol and Bath 
and improve conditions for walking, cycling and public transport; 
 

56. Conventional local bus services and in particular improving existing bus 
services will be an important part of promoting sustainable travel on several 
corridors; 

Page 49



 

 
57. Rail will play an important role for access to urban centres, but improvements will be 

needed (capacity, access to stations, parking, station environment, interchanges ) 
and it should be recognised that with a modest modal share, 2.1% of journeys to 
work in the 2011 Census, and despite impressive levels of passenger growth in 
recent years rail is just part of a wider package of transport measures.  Some 
locations will remain difficult to serve by rail; 
 

58. Walking and cycling must take a central role for shorter  trips –better links to 
surrounding walking and cycling networks are assumed; 

 
Supporting infrastructure for urban living: 

59. There are limited opportunities for significant highway capacity improvements in the 
Bristol urban areas.  Intensification will require a different approach to reduce traffic 
to create conditions for urban growth.  This will: 

• necessitate more walking, cycling and public transport  within the urban areas.   
• require intercepting traffic on radial routes into Bristol with Park & Ride, and other 

interchanges 
• locate development around transit hubs,  
• require re-allocating road-space to better promote sustainable travel choices on 

radial routes, potentially facilitated by improvements to orbital highway capacity in 
certain locations. 

 
60. Consultation on the Joint Transport Study will take place concurrently with the 

JSP consultation. Information about both the JSP and JTS consultation can be 
found at https://www.jointplanningwofe.org.uk/ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50

https://www.jointplanningwofe.org.uk/


Bristol 

Weston-super-Mare 

Somer Valley 

Strategic Transport 
Improvement 
 
Urban Living  
 
Green Belt 
 
Strategic Employment 
Location 
 
Strategic Development 
Locations 
 
Motorway  
Council Boundary 
Railway line 
A Road 

Charfield 

Port 

Backwell 

Airport 
Bath 

Keynsham 

Yate/Chipping Sodbury 

Thornbury 
Buckover 

Whitchurch 

M5-A38 Corridor  

Coalpit Heath 

Nailsea 

Note: Locations symbols are illustrative only and must not be taken to imply any specific development sites.  

Figure 5: JSP Spatial Strategy Map: new development locations (incl employment 
locations). 

P
age 51



 

Have your Say 

 

We would like your views on the spatial strategy. 
 

Do the spatial strategy and the locations identified meet the plan’s objectives and 
vision? 
 

Does the proposed strategy make adequate provision to address the housing needs 
of the West of England? 
 

Is the Preferred Spatial Strategy the most appropriate strategy, when considered 
against the reasonable alternatives? 

Are there any reasons why this strategy or identified locations could not be 
delivered? 

Does the proposed strategy make adequate provision to address the economic and 
employment needs of the West of England? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



1 

West of England Transport Vision      November 2016 

Introduction 

In 2015 the four West of England councils started a major study to shape the future of our transport 
network over the next twenty years. 

We have been working together to develop proposals for a package of integrated public transport, 
walking, cycling and highway investment, to tackle congestion, improve air quality and promote 
more sustainable travel choices, and deliver housing and employment growth up to 2036.  

This summary outlines our progress and recommended package of investment, and asks for your 
views. We will then take your views into account in a final recommendation on the schemes to be 
taken forward in an investment programme and investigate funding options for them. 

This consultation is taking place alongside a consultation on the Joint Spatial Plan (JSP). The JSP 
considers how future development up to 2036 should be managed. The JSP and our transport vision 
are closely linked and their joint impacts are discussed further below.  

What are the Current and Future Challenges for our Transport Network? 

The transport network in the West of England experiences significant traffic congestion, and for 
many people transport options to make their journeys can be very restricted, with the private car 
sometimes being the only viable choice to travel to work, shopping , school or college. This situation 
is reflected in the fact that 64% of us commute by car, which also reduces air quality in our towns 
and cities and affects our health, and restricts people’s ability to access job opportunities, 
particularly for those of us living in less affluent areas.  

We need to turn this situation around, so that people no longer have to rely on driving a car to travel 
to work, and can make that trip by public transport, cycling or walking as their preferred choice. In 
particular, we would look to reduce our proportion of trips made by car substantially, and reduce 
the amount of time it takes to make journeys across our network. 

West of England Commuting Proportions (%), 2011 Census 

 

We are starting to make significant progress in encouraging sustainable transport choices. We have 
already delivered some major public transport improvements, such as the Greater Bristol Bus 
Network, Bath Package and Weston Package. In particular, cycling, bus passenger and rail passenger 

Page 53

brls2jm
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX 2



2 

numbers have all grown substantially as a result, and we travel by cycle and walking at a significantly 
higher rate than equivalent city regions like Birmingham, Leeds and Manchester. 

 

Our strategic transport network, such as our motorways and railways, plays an important local, 
regional and national role, and its performance can have significant implications which affect the 
performance of the UK economy. This importance will be further emphasised through the need for 
connectivity to developments such as Hinckley Point and the southern coastal ports. Further 
improvements on the strategic network have also been completed, such as the M4/M5 `Smart 
Motorway’ scheme (involving controlled use of the hard shoulder) by Highways England, and 
additional platform capacity at Bristol Parkway station by Network Rail. There are also significant 
proposals for redevelopment at Bristol Temple Meads station. 

Moving forward, there is a clear programme of investment in further schemes, MetroBus and 
MetroWest (shown below), which are currently either under construction or are due to start 
construction in the next two years, with strong links to our enterprise zones and enterprise areas, as 
well as the electrification of the Great Western main line which is currently underway. 

 

Page 54



3 

However, we still have a long way to go. The resilience of the strategic highway network is also 
vulnerable to incidents, which can have not just local but regional repercussions. Furthermore, many 
of our radial roads into the city centres struggle to provide for cars and goods vehicles, reliable 
public transport services and better cycling and pedestrian facilities.  

The transport network also has a key role to play in supporting the continued economic growth and 
prosperity of the West of England.  This means transport investment that better connects our key 
economic activity areas to enable us to remain competitive nationally and internationally.  It also 
means supporting future growth in both housing and jobs, and will need to have a key role in 
improving the setting of our urban areas by reducing the impact of road traffic and promoting the 
use of sustainable transport modes. Some of this growth is already set out in the councils’ local 
development plans which deal with development until 2026. Proposals for future development after 
this point to 2036 will be set out in the Joint Spatial Plan (JSP), and both the JSP and transport vision 
are closely linked.  

Our progress so far 

In November 2015, we asked for your views on challenges facing the current transport network, and 
the sort of schemes you would like to see delivered.  

You advised us that you were concerned, in particular, about congestion and quality of life.  You also 
said that investment in public transport and cycling corridors was a particular priority. 

Since then, we have been considering different options and working up transport schemes and 
packages that best deliver the transport objectives of the West of England area, taking on board 
your views from that consultation. 

How ambitious should we be? 

The West of England, on balance, is a net contributor to the HM Treasury.  We need to plan for the 
future needs of one of the UK’s fastest growing city regions, including supporting the delivery of new 
jobs and new homes by 2036. We need to improve connections across the West of England to 
ensure that our future economic growth is not compromised by congestion on our transport 
network. 

We are proposing a £7.5 billion Transport Vision for delivery over the next twenty years. This 
represents the scale of intervention which is necessary to tackle traffic congestion and ensure that 
our future economic growth can be supported. The transport vision has a major focus on public 
transport investment, and we will need to identify new funding streams to help deliver this scale of 
investment. 

How does the Transport Vision work? 

The package is composed of a combination of investment in `smarter choices’ to promote walking, 
cycling and new technology to move around, alongside corridors of integrated, `multi-modal’ 
investment, to tackle congestion and promote a shift in trip making from the private car onto more 
sustainable transport modes. In particular, on some key transport corridors we are proposing to link 
highway and public transport investment together. 

Page 55



4 

The suggested corridor packages would be delivered partly through a transfer of highway space on 
radial routes to public transport and cycling, and by partly providing better orbital connections so 
that traffic which does not have a local destination can be diverted onto more appropriate routes. 
This is intended to make the transport network more sustainable, by prioritising its use for more 
efficient travel modes. The picture below shows how sustainable transport modes can provide a 
more efficient use of restricted road space compared to private cars. 

 

Restrictions on general traffic movement can be very challenging to deliver. The approach is not new 
- existing examples include The Centre in Bristol, Highwood Road in Patchway and Pulteney Bridge in 
Bath. In each case, through traffic is diverted elsewhere and space reallocated for public transport, 
cycling and walking. But it will be very challenging to deliver the next level of public transport and 
cycling investment without further radical schemes such as these. 

What are our proposals for Cycling and Walking? 

In line with our `smarter choices’ programme, we intend to progress the delivery of more strategic 
cycling and walking corridors with better infrastructure to support the use of these modes. In 
particular, the rollout of strategic cycling corridors is closely linked to better management of through 
traffic on radial roads. The diversion of through traffic movements frees up highway space for 
sustainable transport modes, as well as providing better conditions for cycling and walking due to 
the lower levels of car and lorry movements on the highway. 

What are our proposals for `Smarter Choices’ and new technology? 

There are a range of other important interventions and ways to influence people’s travel behaviour 
which will continue to be delivered. These include information to help promote `smarter choices’ to 
encourage public transport, walking, cycling and car-sharing, as well as ongoing investment in 
smaller schemes such as walking and cycling networks and traffic management measures.  

We are also taking account of a wide range of potential impacts of new technology on travel choices 
and behaviour. Future developments include electric vehicles, driverless cars, alternative fuels, on-
demand public transport and wider use of the internet to facilitate `home working’ and shopping. 
Personal mobility could be increasingly less dependent on car ownership which may change the way 
transport is delivered. Some of these developments are likely to reduce the amount of trips made on 

Page 56



5 

the network. However, whilst some developments will reduce the demand to travel, there are also 
background trends which demonstrate increasing demand to travel in other areas which also needs 
to be borne in mind. 

What corridors are in the Transport Vision? 

Weston-super-Mare to Bristol via A38 

This corridor experiences severe congestion and this in 
turn restricts the role of Bristol Airport to accommodate 
future growth to serve the West of England and beyond. 

The extent of public transport and highway 
improvements on the A38 is closely linked to future 
growth at the Airport. Dependent on this growth, our 
proposals include a mass transit link between Bristol city 
centre and Bristol Airport, highway improvements and 
bypasses on the A38, a new motorway junction on the 
M5 and `Smart Motorway’ management, as well as 
further rail improvements such as higher frequencies 
and more seats for train passengers and more direct 
services from Weston-super-Mare to London. Highway 
improvements and bypasses on the A38 and A368/A371 
will also relieve communities such as Banwell and 
Churchill of through traffic movements. 

Bath to Bristol Corridor 

This corridor has high travel demand across car, bus and 
rail modes. It also experiences severe congestion 
throughout the day, and access to and from South 
Bristol affects people’s access to job opportunities, and 
restricts inward investment and economic regeneration. 

We are proposing to introduce a Rapid Transit public 
transport corridor between Bath and Bristol, to 
complement improvements on the existing rail corridor, 
and provide for a wider range of trip options. This would 
possibly be bus-based but our ambition is for a light rail 
(tram) solution along the A4 corridor. This would be 
delivered as a package with highway investment 
including a Saltford Bypass, Callington Road Link and 
better links between the A4 and A37 roads.  The 
highway schemes would provide new routes for through 
traffic enabling existing roads to be better used for 
Rapid Transit, public transport and cycling. Movements 
between the A4 and A37 could be either improvements
to existing roads, new highway or a combination of the two. 
 

  

R P

P

P
R

P

    
  

    
  

      
    

     

   

Junction improvement
New or improved roads
Park & Ride 
New rail station
Strategic Cycle Route
LRT (MetroWest++)
MetroBus
Rail improvements
Area Package

Key:

P
R

P

  

P

P
P

   

     

    

      

     
  

     
  

   

P

R

P R

Junction improvement
New or improved roads
Park & Ride 
New rail station
Strategic Cycle Route
LRT (MetroWest++)
MetroBus
Rail improvements
Area Package

Key:

P
R

P

P

Page 57



6 

 
 

We are also proposing further park and ride sites to serve both Bath and Bristol, and a new road link 
between the A36 and A46 to the east of Bath, to help tackle congestion in this world heritage city, as 
well as possible further improvements on the A37 into Bristol from the south. 

Yate and the East Fringe to Bristol  

The sector of the urban area between the East Fringe 
and Bristol city centre is not well connected by public 
transport and experiences substantial traffic congestion, 
and consequent noise and air pollution problems. The 
delivery of MetroBus to Emersons Green and the 
continuing popularity of the Bristol to Bath railway path 
for cycling and walking will provide some relief but this 
whole sector has been identified by the study as 
needing further, significant investment in sustainable 
transport. The scope of this covers the full range of 
sustainable modes and looks broadly across the area. 

We would like to know your views on what kind of 
interventions would be most appropriate to deliver this 
upgrade to sustainable travel between the East Fringe 
and Bristol city centre. 

The Yate to Bristol corridor shares many of the issues and solutions for movements between the 
East Fringe and Bristol. We are proposing a package of highway and public transport schemes 
including a link to a new junction on the M4 from the A4174 Ring Road (along with smart motorway 
management), park and ride, a new road north from this junction to Yate, and a MetroBus extension 
to Yate from Bristol along the A432. The new road to Yate and the MetroBus extension form a 
package, with road space on the A432 prioritised for public transport and cycling. 

North Fringe and Severnside to Bristol 

These corridors link major employment and retail 
centres with the city centre, for both passengers and 
freight trips. We are proposing to implement rapid 
transit links, MetroBus extensions to Thornbury and 
cycling infrastructure, motorway junction improvements 
and park and ride sites to intercept trips towards Bristol 
from the local and strategic network, as well as local rail 
improvements and better rail connections between 
Bristol and South Wales. 

Delivery of rapid transit between north-west Bristol and 
the city centre will, again, be challenging and require 
careful management of through traffic movements. 

      

`

P

P

P

   

     

   
   

      
   

     

R

Junction improvement
New or improved roads
Park & Ride 
New rail station
Strategic Cycle Route
LRT (MetroWest++)
MetroBus
Rail improvements
Area Package

Key:

P
R

P

P

     

P

PR

P

P

    
 

    
   

    
  

    
    

 

     
   

R

Junction improvement
New or improved roads
Park & Ride 
New rail station
Strategic Cycle Route
LRT (MetroWest++)
MetroBus
Rail improvements
Area Package

Key:

P
R

P

Page 58

brls2jm_1
Typewritten Text

brls2jm_2
Typewritten Text

brls2jm_3
Typewritten Text

brls2jm_4
Typewritten Text

brls2jm_5
Typewritten Text

brls2jm_6
Typewritten Text

brls2jm_7
Typewritten Text



7 

How ambitious should our `Rapid Transit’ proposals be? 

Whilst rapid transit can be delivered in the form of a bus-based mode, our ambition on some core 
routes is for a light rail (tram) mode where the potential is greatest for high passenger numbers. 
Corridors which have potential for a light rail mode are: 

- East Fringe to Bristol city centre; 
- North west Bristol to city centre; 
- Avonmouth and Henbury loop; 
- Bath to Bristol; and 
- Airport to Bristol city centre (light rail or heavy rail). 

There will be different options between street running and full segregation from road in order to 
deliver these. Rail-based rapid transit systems are more expensive than bus-based systems, but can 
be higher quality and achieve a greater level of patronage, particularly from passengers previously 
using a car to make that journey. 

In addition, extensions to the MetroBus network are proposed to Nailsea, Thornbury and Yate, and a 
consolidation package to build on the benefits of the first MetroBus routes currently under 
construction will further improve bus lanes and renew signal junctions, particularly in the city centre. 

`Tram-train’ options (where trams run on railways rather than tram lines for part of their journey) 
have been investigated as a possible alternative on some of the core corridors highlighted. However, 
capacity on the rail network will be very constrained following the delivery of our MetroWest 
schemes, and adding further capacity to enable high frequency tram-train services could be very 
expensive. We will, however, continue to explore these options where possible. 

What is proposed for local rail improvements? 

Overall, further service enhancements and new stations are envisaged over and above those being 
delivered through MetroWest, including better links within the Avonmouth/Severnside enterprise 
area. New rolling stock with increased capacity will also be required. Extensions to electrification are 
also possible. The redevelopment of Temple Meads station, whilst primarily promoting sustainable 
transport choices for trips to and from the station and surrounding area, also includes the return of 
rail services into the `passenger shed’ to increase platform capacity.  

What is proposed for local bus services and Park and Ride? 

Most public transport passengers will be on the local bus network. The structure of the network will 
need to change to reflect the redevelopment of the Temple Meads Enterprise Zone, refocussing bus 
services to better serve this area including the Arena, and integrating more closely with better 
interchanges and rail and rapid transit services.  
 
Local corridor improvements in the form of more bus lanes, new vehicles, better ticketing and 
information will follow the standard set through MetroBus, and be strongly linked to the growth in 
urban living within our main urban centres. We are also exploring whether new bus franchising 
powers or enhanced partnership arrangements that may be available to the authorities could help 
maximise the value of the network improvements for passengers. 

Page 59



8 

 
The transport vision has an emphasis on a network of further park and ride sites on the core radial 
routes into Bristol, Bath and Weston-super-Mare. Further park and ride sites, with a wider network 
of services, are expected to reduce congestion on main roads and in urban centres, particularly 
where there are problems with air quality. The approach to Park and Ride is also strongly linked to 
bus and rapid transit routes, and the growth in urban living in Bristol, Bath and Weston-super-Mare, 
as it will help intercept car trips from further afield and enable capacity on radial routes to be 
prioritised for sustainable transport modes. 
 
In addition, a Bristol city centre package aims to create better places and improve the reliability and 
resilience of the transport network in central Bristol. It includes a range of measures including: 
enhanced traffic management, increased bus priority, continuous safe cycle routes, and 
enhancements to the public realm. 
 
What is proposed for strategic routes and freight movements? 

The West of England’s strategic transport network is of both national and local importance with 
significant benefits for trips being made from further afield. We will look to improve these routes 
including better strategic rail services to a range of locations including Oxford, Birmingham and the 
South West. We are also keen to improve links to Hinckley Point and north-south road connections, 
and are working with neighbouring authorities to develop complementary schemes along the A350 
corridor to the south coast. 

The West of England is a major origin and destination for freight traffic, including Bristol Port. There 
are high freight volumes on the motorway network and other major routes, and significant increases 
in van traffic are also forecast. We are looking to tackle congestion which will also benefit freight 
movements, particularly to and from Bristol Port. We will support the provision of capacity 
improvements to help facilitate rail freight movements on the strategic network, including those 
enabled through electrification. 

We are proposing to improve routing and management of freight movements in urban areas, with a 
particular emphasis on air quality, through investing in Freight Consolidation Centres for Bath and 
Bristol to offload goods outside the cities and transfer them to their destination by low emission or 
electric vehicles. 

What does the Overall Investment Programme look like? 

The total package is likely to cost at least twice as much 
as the West of England councils are currently spending 
on building transport schemes. The investment 
programme has a heavy emphasis on sustainable 
transport modes (incorporating smarter choice and 
technology changes), as shown in the accompanying 
breakdown. The link between public transport and 
complementary highways investment is also very 
important, as one links with and enables the other. 

Walking/cycling  £0.4 billion 

MetroBus   £1.0 billion 

Light Rapid Transit  £2.5 billion 

Rail    £1.0 billion 

Highway    £2.6 billion 

Total    £7.5 billion  

 

Page 60



9 

The figure below shows the overall transport vision across all proposed travel modes, as well as 
those schemes which, whilst not addressing our current challenges, address the impact of the 
potential development locations outlined in the JSP. 

P

R

R
R

New / improved junction
New / improved roads
New / expanded Park & Ride 
New / improved rail station
Rail improvements
LRT (MetroWest++)
MetroBus
Bus improvements
Strategic Cycle Route
Area Package
Freight Consolidation Centre

Key:

R

PP

P P
P

P

P

P
R

P

P

P

R

P

P

P

P

P

R

R

R

RP

 

Please note: the above figure is provisional - further testing is being undertaken and further changes 
may be made as a consequence. 

How does this package relate to the Joint Spatial Plan? 

We are also asking for views on the draft Joint Spatial Plan (JSP) as part of this joint consultation. The 
JSP sets out proposals for housing and employment development from 2026 to 2036. Whilst the 
Transport Vision has a focus on dealing with current challenges on the network as well as supporting 
long term economic growth, some of the schemes in the package (with a value of around £1.5 
billion) also help address the impact of new trips being made to and from the JSP development 
locations. Subject to the results of the consultation, the councils will carefully plan how to ensure 
that investment programmes are prioritised, so that new development locations come forward at 
the same time as the transport schemes which help to address their impacts on the network. 

The cost of addressing the transport impact of the JSP will need to be augmented by additional 
funding (either locally generated or from central government) to deliver the Transport Vision, to 
improve the performance of the network rather than just to maintain `business as usual’ in the light 
of housing and employment growth.  

Page 61



10 

How will the Transport Vision be funded? 

The West of England has tended to receive less money to spend on transport compared to most core 
cities in the UK. Our potential funding has increased significantly from what we might expect 
through our existing funding channels and by our devolution proposals in some areas. We will also 
be expecting some of the programme to be funded by our partners (including Highways England and 
Network Rail), as well as contributions from developers. However, our funding requirement is still 
much higher than that made available to date and we will need to lobby central government to 
highlight the need for and benefits of the package, both locally and for the national economy and 
national transport network.    

We will also need to explore new funding sources and mechanisms. We need to target funding 
opportunities as they arise, with projects prioritised through a clear implementation programme, to 
enable economic growth whilst accommodating trips in a sustainable manner, including links with 
development locations and people’s views expressed during the consultation. 

There are opportunities for fiscal incentives and fiscal approaches to demand management to be 
considered at a local level. It is likely that the package will be more successful (and potentially 
quicker to deliver) if available funding for the package is boosted by additional revenue streams 
raised locally such as more extensive car parking charges, or other charging mechanisms. These 
could also reduce congestion and deliver better use of public transport, walking and cycling modes.   

What happens next? 

The consultation runs for six weeks until 19th December 2016. We will then take account of your 
comments and suggestions, and a final report and recommendations will be submitted to council 
members in Spring 2017. They will then decide how to update the Joint Local Transport Plan to take 
account of the study recommendations. Simultaneously, we will start the process of lobbying central 
government, with our strategic partners, to lever in the necessary funds to deliver the Transport 
Vision. 

Questions: 

1. Do you think we are seeking the right scale of ambition for the West of England transport vision? 

No, strongly disagree no, disagree neither agree or disagree yes, agree yes, 
strongly agree 

2. Do you think we are proposing the right mix of public transport investment (bus, rapid transit, 
park and ride and train)? 

No, strongly disagree no, disagree neither agree or disagree yes, agree yes, 
strongly agree 

3. To what extent do you agree with the principle of diverting non-local traffic, including onto new 
roads, to accommodate public transport and cycling schemes? 

Strongly disagree disagree neither agree or disagree agree strongly agree 

4. To what extent do you agree with the concept of a light rail (tram) solution on some rapid transit 
corridors? 

Page 62



11 

Strongly disagree disagree neither agree or disagree agree strongly agree 

5. To what extent do you agree with using fiscal incentives and fiscal demand management at a 
local level to raise funds to help pay for the transport vision? 

Strongly disagree disagree neither agree or disagree agree strongly agree 

6. What kind of schemes would be most appropriate to deliver an upgrade to sustainable travel 
between the East Fringe and Bristol city centre? 

 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 

7. Are there schemes which you do not agree with in the package? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 

8. Are there any other schemes you would like to see in the package? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 

9. If only one element of the strategy could be implemented, what would you choose? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………. 

10. Do you have any other comments about the proposed transport vision? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
 

11. What was your main form of transport on your principal journey today? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………. 

 
12. Please provide your post code. 

 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Page 63



 

1 
 

Item 5 Appendix 3 
WEST OF ENGLAND JOINT SPATIAL PLAN  

 
TOPIC PAPER 1: THE FORMULATION OF THE EMERGING SPATIAL STRATEGY  

INTRODUCTION 

1. This paper explains the process undertaken by the West of England Unitary 
Authorities (UAs) to prepare the November 2016 emerging spatial strategy.  Through 
the application of appropriate planning judgements this has been used to inform the 
sequential preference of strategic development locations (SDLs) as set out in the 
Strategy.  

  
2. The Housing Target for the JSP is 105,000 dwellings for the period 2016 to 2036. Of 

this, around 66,800 is already identified in existing plans. This leaves about 38,200 
dwellings to be found through the JSP.  
 

3. In summary the process has involved the following 5 stages:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Identify the reasonable alternative strategic locations 

Clarify what Sustainable patterns of Development mean 
in the West of England 

Assess the implications for the Green Belt 

 

Selection of locations 

 

Refinement of spatial strategy 

 

Page 64



 

2 
 

STAGE 1: IDENTIFY THE REASONABLE ALTERNATIVE STRATEGIC LOCATIONS 

4. The 2015 Issues and Options document identified a schedule of strategic locations 
classified by broad spatial characteristics.  This has been refined through further 
more detailed assessment of the identified locations as well as the consideration of 
new sites.  The key outputs from the evidence base are: 

 
a.     an understanding of the urban capacity of existing towns and cities (Urban 

Living) 
b.     a range of Potential Development Areas (PDAs) have been identified. The 

suitability of these locations has been assessed in a consistent way across the 
Plan area.  This assessment has considered a range of factors including flood 
risk, landscape, heritage, ecology, physical constraints.   

 
  4.       An allowance has also been made for ‘non-strategic growth’ to accommodate on-going 

housing development in villages and towns which is needed to enable local 
communities to thrive.  This allowance is for up to 1,000 dwellings each for Bath and 
North East Somerset, North Somerset, and South Gloucestershire, and around 400 for 
Bristol, totalling 3,400 dwellings. This leaves around 34,800 dwellings to be found via 
the JSP strategic development locations.  

  
5.        The evidence base identifies where there are significant constraints to development 

which are likely to affect delivery over the plan period.  The assumption is that 
locations with a potential capacity of less than 500 dwellings are not considered to be 
strategic for the purposes of this plan. Some of the key conclusions emerging from this 
work are; 

 
  Flood risk 
6. Significant parts of the plan area are located in low lying areas at risk from flooding.  In 

order to locate development away from areas of highest risk, the plan excludes 
strategic sites within flood zone 3.  (See UA SFRAs)   An exceptions tests is required if 
locations  in the flood zone are to be pursued. This has excluded much of Severnside 
and most locations at Clevedon, Weston Super Mare and Portishead. 
 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

7. NPPF paras 115-116 states that great weight should be given to conserving landscape 
and scenic beauty in the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and so no strategic 
locations have been identified. 

 
Bath World Heritage Site 

8. Bath is inscribed by UNESCO as a World Heritage site and this includes the setting of 
the City. There are no further opportunities for the outward expansion of Bath.  
These were investigated thoroughly through the preparation of the B&NES Core 
Strategy and have been reviewed in the context of the JSP.   The outward expansion 
of Bath would have a significantly harmful impact on local, national and international 
environmental assets such as the World Heritage Site & its setting, the Cotswolds 
AONB and European Special Areas for Conservation (Bats). The severity of harm 

Page 65



 

3 
 

caused by development in these locations would significantly outweigh the benefits. 
The city is also tightly bound by the Green Belt with most locations playing a very 
important role in GB terms. 

 
9. The potential locations identified through this stage of the work are listed in Annex 

1. 
 

 STAGE 2: CLARIFY SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT IN THE WEST OF ENGLAND. 

 Sustainability Appraisal 
10. Local Plans are the key to delivering sustainable development that reflects the vision 

and aspiration of local communities (NPPF 150). The plan-making process takes into 
account the Sustainability Appraisal of individual strategic locations, as well as the 
cumulative impacts of different scenarios, transport modelling, and the responses to 
the Issues & Options consultation.  This has informed the understanding of 
sustainable patterns of development as this relates to the West of England.  

 
11. The NPPF identifies three dimensions to sustainable development: economic; social 

and environmental.  All three dimensions have been taken into account in the 
appraisal process and have been considered as mutually dependent as required by 
the NPPF. Sustainability is closely, but not entirely, related to location.  Those 
locations which reduce the need travel and, where travel is necessary, facilitate 
travel by walking cycling or public transport, have wide ranging benefits.Tthey 
facilitate  carbon reduction and reduced pollution with associated environmental 
and health benefits; they encourage active travel modes which benefits health; they 
help to integrate existing and new communities to facilitate social integration.They 
have substantial economic benefits with reduced congestion and enable a supply of 
resident workers in accessible locations. 

 
Strategic Priorities 

12. In addition, the strategy needs to deliver the Plan’s five overarching priorities in 
order to respond to the critical issues facing the West of England. The Strategic 
Priorities are reproduced below and how they respond to the critical issues is set out 
in Annex 2. 

 
a. Economic: To accommodate the economic growth objectives of the LEP 

Strategic Economic Plan and  identify sufficient land to meet the economic 
growth of both existing employment centres such as the Enterprise Zone/Areas 
and in new locations which will most successfully deliver appropriate scale and 
type of jobs 

 
b. Social: To identify a sufficient supply of land meet the full need for housing and 

ensure that the JSP benefits all sections of the communities, in particular by 
boosting growth opportunities in the south of the sub-region in order to re-
balance the economic benefits between the north and south of the WoE. 

 

Page 66



 

4 
 

c. Infrastructure: To ensure Infrastructure is aligned with development in a 
timely way and addresses existing challenges and creates capacity for 
sustainable growth. Strategic development should be in locations which 
maximise the potential to reduce the need to travel or where travel is 
necessary, maximise opportunities to travel by sustainable, non-car modes, 

 
d. Environment : To protect and enhance the sub-region’s diverse and valuable 

environment and ensure resilience,  
 
e. Green Belt: Retention of the overall function of the Green Belt as set out in the 

NPPF. 
 

13. Alongside this, the Joint Transport Study contributes some guiding principles for the 
preparation of a spatial strategy, from a transport perspective. These are that spatial 
options should; 

 
• take account of existing challenges on the transport network. 

• support shaping of an integrated transport system to improve sustainable 
travel choices, reliability, resilience and connectivity. 

• support development of an inclusive, accessible and affordable transport 
system. 

• not result in significant increases in traffic on sensitive urban or rural roads that 
cannot be mitigated through alternatives to the car. 

• if possible, integrate new transport infrastructure as an integral part of new 
development.  

 
14. Based on the above, the broad spatial implications for the location of strategic 

growth locations in the West of England are  as follows: 
 

a. Maximising the sustainable capacity of  existing urban areas, ensuring high 
quality places for existing and new residents 

b. Development outside the Green Belt in close proximity or well related in 
sustainable transport terms to existing urban centres, especially to the south 
west and south east of Bristol and adjoining Weston-s-Mare 

c. Other sustainable settlements 

d. If exceptional circumstances exist to alter the Green Belt, to use the most 
sustainable locations 

 
 

  
 

Page 67



 

5 
 

STAGE 3: ASSESS THE IMPLICATIONS FOR THE GREEN BELT 
 
15. A sizeable proportion (48%) of the West of England is part of the Bristol-Bath Green 

Belt. This has significant implications for the spatial strategy, particularly reflecting 
the strategic priority to retain the overall function of the Green Belt.  The advice in 
NPPF para 83 is “Once established, Green Belt boundaries should only be altered in 
exceptional circumstances, through the preparation or review of the Local Plan. At 
that time, authorities should consider the Green Belt boundaries having regard to 
their intended permanence in the long term, so that they should be capable of 
enduring beyond the plan period.” 

 
16. The assessment of strategic locations and transport modelling show that it is not 

possible to sustainably accommodate all of the identified growth needs entirely 
outside the Green Belt.  Such a strategy would be dependent on some highly 
unsustainable locations that are very difficult and expensive to mitigate with only 
sub-optimal solutions.  It would also put pressure to locate development in the 
floodplain.  
 

17. The other option would be to choose not to meet the housing and growth targets 
under NPPF para 14. However this would result in the identified housing needs of 
the sub-region being unmet which could have severe social implications, and inhibit 
economic growth. It is likely to lead to a dispersal of development to locations in 
adjoining districts which would need to be tested for their sustainability. 

 
18. Therefore, the WoE UAs have come to the conclusion that  the exceptional 

circumstances for altering the GB are demonstrated because of the overwhelming 
benefits in locating as much of the development as possible to the most sustainable 
locations and the substantial harm that would be caused on a strategic scale, of not 
doing so. 

 

STAGE 4: SELECTION OF LOCATIONS 

19. Having acknowledged the need to consider locations in the Green Belt,  NPPF para 
84 provides further advice in identifying locations;   
 

“When drawing up or reviewing Green Belt boundaries local planning authorities 
should take account of the need to promote sustainable patterns of 
development. They should consider the consequences for sustainable 
development of channelling development towards urban areas inside the Green 
Belt boundary, towards towns and villages inset within the Green Belt or towards 
locations beyond the outer Green Belt boundary.” 

Page 68



 

6 
 

20. Therefore, in light of the conclusions reached above, in applying this to the local 
context the spatial hierarchy for accommodating the outstanding 34,800 dwellings at 
strategic development locations  is as follows; 

 
• urban areas, both inside and beyond the Green Belt boundary: ie Urban 

intensification in Bristol, Bath and Weston Super Mare. 
• towns and villages inset within the Green Belt or locations beyond the outer 

Green Belt boundary: ie good transport corridors, especially those well 
related to southern Bristol. (NB some of these include GB land & so 
exceptional circumstances are included in the paper) 

• Other sustainable locations including those well related to Weston-s-Mare  
• If GB locations are still required to meet the housing target, prioritise those 

which are the most sustainable, which deliver the plan’s strategic priorities 
and best address the Transport guiding principles 

 
A: Urban Living:  channelling development at urban areas inside and beyond the 

Green Belt boundary  
 

21. The urban areas should be the primary focus of the development requirements, but 
in a way which ensures a high quality of life for existing and new residents. In recent 
years a high proportion of new homes have been delivered on brownfield land in 
urban areas. Further urban intensification will need to build on new approaches to 
urban density, and new thinking about the nature of liveable cities and towns and 
the trends in the type of accommodation we seek.  

 
22. The evidence shows that, in addition to existing commitments, the urban areas have 

the capacity to accommodate further growth.  Opportunities for maximising the 
potential of existing land will result from: 

• the change of use of non-residential brown field land to residential  
• underused land which has potential for residential development  
• mechanisms to ensure more certainty over the delivery of large windfall sites. 
• Higher densities: 
• Reappraisal of allocated sites to increase their potential. 
 

23. This will make a substantial contribution to meeting the JSP housing need as follows; 

District 
Existing Core Strategy 

commitments & windfalls post 
2026 & 2029 

Urban Living 
Total 

B&NES  10,100 300 10,400 
Bristol 20,300 12,000 32,300 
SGC 22,400 1,300 23,700 
NSC 14,000 1,000 15,000 
TOTAL 66,800 14,600 81,400 

Page 69



 

7 
 

 
24. Urban intensification yields a total of 14,600 additional dwellings to find. 

B: Development in locations with sustainable access to existing urban areas, 
including Green Belt inset settlements:  

25. There are a number of settlements in the Plan area which meet the requirements of 
this category, either as settlements excluded from the Green Belt under NPPF para 
86 (insets) or locations beyond the outer Green Belt boundary (NPPF para 84). The 
key requirement is for the settlements to have sustainable access to the urban areas 
of Bristol, Bath and Weston-S Mare.  Locations with sustainable access to southern 
parts of Bristol and to Weston-super-Mare are a particular priority in light of the 
‘strategic rebalancing’ priority. 

 
26. The underlying objective is to avoid Green Belt locations as far as possible but 

because some of the most sustainable locations at these places lie partly within the 
Green Belt and because the exceptional circumstances to alter Green Belt have 
already been established, these proposals will require the Green Belt to be amended 
in three locations: Keynsham, Coalpit Heath and Yate/Sodbury. 
 
Nailsea/Backwell (up to 3,600 dwellings) 

27. Nailsea/Backwell is located on the outer edge of the Green Belt, physically close to 
Bristol and with strong economic links but will require transport infrastructure 
investment such as metrobus to significantly improve connectivity and maximise 
opportunities for sustainable travel. Nailsea is a town where there is an existing 
objective to improve the mix and balance of housing and support existing and new 
services, jobs and facilities.  Any growth needs to be carefully integrated to ensure 
that the existing services and facilities would help support the new development and 
benefit from the opportunities generated.  Development is anticipated to take place 
generally to the west of Nailsea and Backwell which will bring significant challenges 
in terms of transport delivery, but avoids the Green Belt and principal flood zone 
areas. 
 

 Keynsham (up to1,100 dwellings) 
28. This location performs well in the Sustainability Appraisal and will also be effective in 

helping to deliver the Plan's Strategic Priorities, being a town expansion situated on a 
strategic transport corridor well related to Bath & Bristol. The proximity to central 
Bristol  and its links to Bath provide the opportunity to exploit both existing and 
potential new sustainable transport infrastructure including conventional bus 
corridors, Park & Ride, the Bristol to Bath Railway line, the Bristol-Bath cycleway, and 
future MetroBus or rapid transit.  However, any development in this location is 
dependent on the timely provision of significant new transport measures to enable 
new growth and to mitigate existing congestion. This includes new road 
infrastructure where appropriate to serve the potential development area and ease 
pressure in the town centre. 

Page 70



 

8 
 

  
29. Whilst part of this location lies outside the Green Belt, the majority falls within the 

Green Belt but there are exceptional circumstances to justify removing the rest of 
the location from the Green Belt in light of its relative Green Belt performance 
against other Green Belt locations and its highly sustainable location.   Development 
in this location will need to relate well to the existing settlement and take account 
the views from the Cotswolds AONB. The capacity of the site is constrained by the 
floodplain and the need to respect the separate integrity of Keynsham and Saltford. 
 
Yate/Sodbury Strategic Corridor (up to 2,600 dwellings) 

30. Strategic Growth would consolidate longer term role as one of the principle market 
towns in the sub-region benefiting from existing accessibility & service provision as a 
significant urban centre, particularly area's accessibility by rail.  Alongside Coalpit 
Heath growth would support investment into rail and Metrobus extension along the 
A432 Badminton Road, improving access to Bristol City Centre, the Bristol North 
Fringe, Science Park and Emersons Green Enterprise Area. Long-term term phased 
greenfield development would also support investment in regeneration and the 
town centres and improving range and type of jobs and help to unlock potential 
brownfield development at the western gateway. Whilst part of this location lies 
outside the Green Belt, the majority falls within the Green Belt but there are 
exceptional circumstances to justify removing the rest of the location from the 
Green Belt in light of its relative Green Belt performance against other Green Belt 
locations and its highly sustainable location. 

 
Coalpit Heath (up to 1,500) 

31. Coalpit Heath offers close proximity to the Bristol North Fringe, Science Park and 
Emersons Green Enterprise Area. Strategic development along the A432 Badminton 
Road, in combination with further growth at Yate / Chipping Sodbury would support 
investment into rail at Yate and Metrobus. It would also support existing and provide 
new services / facilities and employment opportunities in the locality. Whilst this 
location lies within the Green Belt but there are exceptional circumstances to justify 
removing the rest of the location from the Green Belt in light of its relative Green 
Belt performance against other Green Belt locations and its highly sustainable 
location. 

Thornbury (up to 600 dwellings) 
32. Additional development that consolidates / completes expansion to east of the 

town, appropriate to continue the revitalisation of the town centre and strengthen 
local services. Also provides additional opportunity for investment and provision of 
new local employment and will assist the case for Metrobus to improve access to 
BNF and Science Park 

   
33. Together, these locations can sustainably provide up to another 9,400 dwellings, 

totalling 29,400 dwellings, leaving 10,800 to find. 

Page 71



 

9 
 

C: Other sustainable settlements outside the Green Belt 
 
Weston-super-Mare: M5 to A38 Transport Corridor (up to 5,400) 

34. Whilst being part of the Bristol HMA, Weston-super-Mare is a major urban area with 
its own travel to work area. Further expansion of the Weston urban area is severely 
constrained by topography, the AONB, the M5 and the flood plain.  One potential 
opportunity is to expand to the east along the M5 to A38 transport corridor.   

 
35. Development in this general location provides the opportunity to significantly 

upgrade the transport infrastructure on this corridor as part of an overall objective 
of improving the A38 south of Bristol and improving connectivity for the Airport.  
This would target the A38 route to the south of the Airport, improving accessibility 
for economic development and access to new jobs to the south and east of Bristol.  
It creates potential improvements to M5 access at Weston, relieves pressure on 
A370 corridor and addresses long standing community impacts, notably a bypass to 
alleviate congestion in Banwell.  As further growth at Weston is highly constrained 
by topography, flood plain and significant highway capacity issues, this provides an 
opportunity to provide future growth to meet Weston’s needs, linked to the existing 
urban area by transport improvements. Significant mitigations including public 
transport improvements, multi-modal links, park and ride improvements and 
highway links  would need to be delivered in advance to support this location. 
 

36. In line with the Strategic Priority to retain the integrity of  the Green Belt, which 
reflects the national priority to safeguard Green Belts, all sustainable options need to 
be exhausted before Green Belt locations are selected.  Other sustainable non-Green 
Belt opportunities are outlined below. 

 
Charfield (up to 1,000 dwellings) 

37. This provides an opportunity to enhance the sustainability of a key settlement in the 
north of South Gloucestershire through growth supported by new services, facilities 
and employment opportunities.  Charfield is situated on an existing live railway line. 
Whilst the station is currently closed any additional housing in this location could 
support a case for potentially reopening the station and rural bus improvements.. 
Significant highway infrastructure may also be required.  It also assists addressing 
housing needs in the  north of the district.   

 
Buckover Garden Village (up to 2,200 dwellings) 

38. An opportunity has recently emerged beyond the Green Belt in South 
Gloucestershire for a potential new garden village settlement (up to 3000 dwellings) 
located to the east of Thornbury.   This location provides the opportunity to deliver 
the first locally led garden village for West of England in 21st Century.  It could help 
the case for a step change in public transport to the locality, linking to Metrobus 
routes to enable  access to the major employment centres of North Bristol. 

 

Page 72



 

10 
 

39.  Significant highway infrastructure, including the strategic road network (M5), may 
also be required. It also potentially broadens the range of housing supply in the sub-
region via a single ownership with genuinely visionary approach to place making and 
land value capture. Alongside planned expansion at Charfield it would also provide 
the opportunity for the local communities in the north of the district to meet 
housing pressures in a planned sustainable way.  Buckover is also a potential growth 
point for any future Oldbury NNB.  

 
Other locations rejected 

40. The other locations in Annex 1 outside the Green Belt are not consider appropriate 
for strategic growth for the reasons set out in Annex 3.  

 
41. The above locations beyond the outer Green Belt boundary can sustainably provide 

up to another 8,600 dwellings, leaving 2,200 dwellings still to find. 
 
D: Green Belt locations 

42. Therefore, in light of the strong evidence underpinning the most sustainable pattern 
of development outlinedabove, it is recognised that consideration needs to be given 
to Green Belt locations and specifically the case to consider locations in close 
proximity/well related to existing urban centres.  However this needs to be 
undertaken in the context of the Plan’s overall priorities and spatial objectives at set 
out above. 

   
43. The possible opportunities for strategic growth in the Green Belt are included in 

Annex 1.   The Strategic Priority to focus investment at under-performing parts of 
City Region to help reduce inequality across the sub-region favours growth in 
southern Bristol and particularly the locations at south of Whitchurch Village, Ashton 
Vale and Hicks Gate over those in the north of the urban area 

 
44. It is evident from the Green Belt stage 2 assessments that that part of Ashton Vale 

that lies within the City boundary and is inside the South Bristol Link Road makes 
only a limited  contribution to the Green Belt compared to other GB locations. This 
location would  accommodate around 400 dwellings and whilst not  strategic in size, 
it could contribute to non-strategic growth within Bristol, see para 4.  

 
45. In comparing the 3 southern potential urban extensions, greater harm would be 

caused to the Green Belt by the release of Ashton Vale (outside the South Bristol 
Link road) and Hicks Gate compared to Whitchurch. Furthermore, the cumulative 
impact of the release of three locations from the Green Belt in this very sensitive 
part of the Green Belt between Bristol & Keynsham is substantial.  

 
46. Therefore, it is concluded that because of the substantial sub-regional housing need, 

combined with the relatively sustainable nature of its location, the contribution that 
could be made to improving sustainable transport options south east of Bristol, as 

Page 73



 

11 
 

well as its relative performance in Green Belt terms constitute the exceptional 
circumstances to justify the release of land south of Whitchurch Village (only) from 
the Green Belt. 
 

47. However, this location (as with other locations being considered) is only deliverable 
if substantial new sub-regional and local transport infrastructure is provided, 
focussing on public transport, including conventional bus service upgrading, new 
park & ride, and future Metrobus or rapid transit provision. Additional highway 
capacity would also be needed, to address underlying congestion issues, to provide 
access to new development and to release space for the public transport 
improvements. The location’s capacity must take into account the need to avoid 
unacceptable harm to nationally important heritage assets as well as retaining the 
Green Belt separation of Whitchurch Village from the Bristol Urban area.    

 
48. This location has the capacity to contribute up to 3,500 dwellings to housing land 

supply which would be sufficient to meet the housing target as well as provide some 
flexibility/safeguarded land. 

 
STAGE 5 : REFINEMENT OF THE SPATIAL STRATEGY 

49.  Following public consultation the emerging spatial strategy will be reviewed and 
refined in light of responses received and any critical new evidence. This will include; 

 
a. Confirmation that the overall housing  distribution for each UA is deliverable. 

This includes the provision of  transport infrastructure, 
b. Ensuring the availability of  a 5 year housing land supply (HLS) 
• The need for a Contingency or to consider the scope to safeguard land for the 

long term under NPPF para 85 
• Comments on alternative locations or strategies being promoted, evidence in 

relation to housing requirement or economic growth? 
  

Page 74



 

12 
 

Annex 1 list of potential locations assessed 

Typology  Location Name 

Urban Intensification  Bristol,  Bath, North & East Fringe, WSM 

Sustainable Transport 
corridors 
 

Salford, Thornbury, Nailsea/Backwell, Backwell, Keynsham 
locations, Yate/Sodbury strategic  corridor (Yate/ Chipping 
Sodbury/), Winterbourne, Frampton Cotterell and Coalpit Heath  
A38 strategic growth Banwell/Churchill 
 

Expansion around 
Bristol & Bath  
  

Longwell Green, Hambrook, Severnside, Bridge Yate / Oldland 
Common, Kingswood / Warmley, West of Twerton, Ashton Vale, 
SE Bristol Hicks Gate, 
SE Bristol Whitchurch 

Other 
Settlements/locations 
  

Charfield, Buckover Garden Village, Yatton, Long Ashton, 
Portishead, 
Easton-in-Gordano, Clutton/Temple Cloud locations, North of 
M4/M5, 
Somer Valley Locations (Radstock, Westfield, Mid. Norton, 
Paulton, Peasedown St John), Pucklechurch, M4 to Shortwood, 
Congresbury, Olveston, Wickwar, 
 Alveston, Almondsbury / Hortham,  

  

Page 75



 

13 
 

Annex 2: Strategic priorities & critical issues 

Critical Issue Overarching objective 

The national housing crisis is  a particular 
problem in the WoE & the NPPF requires that 
LAs plan positively for development and meet 
the full needs  

1. To identify & meet the full need for 
housing 

The economic prosperity of the WoE should be 
maintained due to the substantial benefit it 
brings to the residents, communities & the 
environment 

2. To meet the space needed for new 
job creation to facilitate strong 
economic growth as set out in the LEP 
Strategic Economic Plan  

There is significant pressure on infrastructure, 
especially transport which .   inhibits wealth 
creation and productivity. Current unsustainable 
patterns of travel are a significant cause of 
climate change and poor health 

3. To ensure a spatial strategy where 
new development is properly aligned 
with infrastructure.  

The sub-region benefits from a world class 
environment which brings substantial economic 
and community benefits and contributes 
significantly to the quality  of life of residents, 
visitors and businesses.  

4. To protect and enhance the sub-
region’s diverse and valuable 
environment 

 

  

Page 76



 

14 
 

Annex 3: Locations not selected for strategic growth 

 

Yatton Yatton is a very constrained location in terms of transport, flood risk, ecology 
and transport.  The location was tested through the transport modelling and 
performed poorly as highway trips would have a disproportionate impact on 
the network as a result of long distances to all destinations and would require 
expensive mitigation– river and rail crossing. Surrounded by low lying land at 
risk of flooding. 

Long Ashton The principal area of potential development to the south is separated from 
Long Ashton by the railway and is difficult to integrate into the existing 
settlement because of severance issues.  It is a sensitive part of the Green Belt 
valued by the local community.  Long Ashton is relatively close to Bristol, so 
there is an opportunity to maximise cycling and use of metro bus.There are also 
existing transport constraints relating to Cumberland Basin congestion and M5 
J19. 

Portishead Portishead is a very constrained location in terms of transport, Green Belt, 
flooding and ecology. Whilst there is opportunity afforded by Portishead line 
rail re-opening, there are major capacity constraints at M5 J19.  

Easton-in-
Gordano/Pill 

Easton-in-Gordano is a very constrained location in terms of transport, Green 
Belt, heritage, landscape and ecology. Whilst there is opportunity afforded by 
the Portishead line rail re-opening, there are major capacity constraints at M5 
J19. 

Clevedon Clevedon is very constrained in terms of flood risk to the south and east and 
topography and landscape to the north.  The levels landscape is also particularly 
sensitive both for its own characteristic value and ecological contribution as 
well as potential for adverse ecological impacts on the coastal habitat to the 
south of Clevedon.  Any new development to the east of M5 would be 
physically separated from the existing town.  Strategic development was also 
shown to be quite problematic in transport terms in this location with 
additional trips on the M5 and contributing to congestion on more localised 
routes. 

NW Saltford This location does not make the threshold for strategic development location. 
The location lies within the Green Belt  

West & South 
West Keynsham 

This location does not perform well in the Sustainability Appraisal. It would be 
difficult and costly to mitigate the negative  impacts  of development in this 
location.  The location lies within the Green Belt 

SE Keynsham This location does not perform well in the Sustainability Appraisal. It would be 
difficult and costly to mitigate the negative  impacts  of development in this 
location.  The location lies within the Green Belt 

SW Saltford This location does not perform well in the Sustainability Appraisal. It would be 
difficult and costly to mitigate the negative  impacts  of development in this 
location. The location lies within the Green Belt 

Somer Valley 
locations 

The Somer Valley is one of the least sustainable locations in the sub-region for 
accommodating strategic housing growth.  There is already a substantial 
imbalance in the number of workers who reside in the town and the 
employment available and this will be exacerbated in light of existing 
residential commitments.  It has also proved difficult to attract new 
employment to the area and jobs have been steadily eroded over recent years. 
Therefore, strategic new housing growth will inevitably lead to substantial out 
commuting. Transport modelling shows that seeking to mitigate this will be 

Page 77



 

15 
 

difficult, costly and only partially effective.  The purpose of the new Enterprise 
Zone is to facilitate employment generation to help mitigate the existing high 
levels of out-commuting. 

Clutton and 
Temple Cloud 

Sites in Clutton & Temple Cloud do not perform well as sustainable locations for 
accommodating strategic housing growth in the sub-region.  The majority of 
new residents are highly likely to seek to travel by car to work and other 
activities.    Transport modelling shows that seeking to mitigate this will be 
difficult, costly and only partially effective. 

West of 
Twerton, Bath 

Based on the SA  the significance impact that development of this scale and this 
location would have on World Heritage site and its setting has led to this full 
site not being considered as a reasonable option. The severity of harm caused 
by development in this location would significantly outweigh the benefits. It 
would cause significant harm to the setting of the WHS and whilst it  is not in 
the AONB, it  is on the edge of Bath and is visually prominent, thereby  causing 
harm to the AONB. As such development would contradict national policy. It 
also performs very strongly in Green Belt terms. Therefore this location is not 
suitable for development in the plan period. 

SE Bristol Hicks 
Gate 

Whilst this location performs well in the Sustainability Appraisal, and would be 
effective in helping to deliver the Plan's Strategic Priorities, it lies in a very 
sensitive part of the Bristol and Bath Green Belt which makes a major 
contribution to  preventing the merger of Bristol and Keynsham. 

Ashton Vale The Green Belt at Ashton Vale (outside the South Bristol Link) makes a major 
contribution to Green Belt purposes, especially in  in preventing the merger of 
Bristol and other settlements.  It is an area of attractive countryside and a 
sensitive landscape in relation to, in particular, Ashton Court and Dundry Hill 
and has ecological importance.  It provides the landscape setting to Bristol and 
for rural communities within North Somerset and plays a significant role in 
protecting the countryside from encroachment of development. Protecting high 
quality environment is a priority of the plan.  The location was tested through 
the transport modelling and performed well in terms of potential accessibility 
by non-car modes given its proximity to Bristol.  There are also existing 
transport constraints relating to  M5 J19. 

 

Page 78



1 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

 
 
Draft Urban Living - Maximising the development potential in the 
urban areas 
 
 
Introduction 

 
The West of England authorities believe that the most appropriate places to meet the 
development needs of the future should be within the existing cities and towns; especially 
on previously developed land. As noted in the Issues and Options document, the four UAs 
have been undertaking detailed assessment of the potential of existing urban areas to 
deliver land to meet development needs. The assessments have focused on opportunities 
within the existing urban areas including Bristol and Weston-Super-Mare as well as 
examining opportunities within other sizeable urban areas in the West of England. 

 
This report provides an update on the work carried out to date to establish the potential of 
the urban areas of Bristol and the Bristol fringe in South Gloucestershire, Weston-Super- 
Mare and Bath to deliver additional homes up to 2036. 

 
The paper explains the approach to making the most efficient use of land in these urban 
areas and how this has been applied in each area. An estimate is set out in the report which 
indicates the capacity for new homes to be delivered in the city’s built up area to 2036. 

 
Assessed housing need 

 
The Wider Bristol Housing Market Area includes the urban area of Bristol (including the 
communities of the North and East Fringe, the rest of South Gloucestershire, all of North 
Somerset, the western part of Bath and North East Somerset and small parts of Stroud and 
Sedgemoor Districts (see figure 1 below). The addendum to the Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (July 2016) has identified a housing target covering both the HMA’s of at least 
105,000 homes, for the period from 2016 to 2036. 

Page 79



2 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

 

 
Figure 1 W HMAs in the West of England 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Continued delivery of homes within the urban areas has the potential to contribute 
substantially to meeting identified needs in the housing market areas. 

 
 
 
Bristol City Council 

 
Context 

 
The City of Bristol accounts for 8% of the land area of the West of England whilst containing 
40% of the population and existing homes. 

Page 80



3 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

The City Council area is mainly built up, with high densities of housing development and a 
substantial provision of flatted residential development. There are limited areas of open land. 
Unlike many industrial cities, Bristol does not contain substantial tracts of brownfield land or 
zones of industrial dereliction which can be considered for housing led regeneration. 
However, in the last nine years 45% (16,347) of the new homes delivered in the West of 
England have been built in the City of Bristol – a rate of 1,800 per annum; see table below: 

 
 

Total delivery of homes 
2006-2015 

Annual average 

 

Bristol 16347 1,800 
South Gloucestershire 8129 900 
North Somerset 7426 800 
Bath and North East Somerset 4350 500 

 
 
 
Urban living: approach to efficient use of land in Bristol 

 
The high levels of residential development delivered in Bristol are facilitated by the city’s 
approach of making effective and efficient use of land. 

 
Bristol has a complete up to date local plan coverage for the period to 2026 (Core Strategy, 
Site Allocations and Development Management Policies; Bristol Central Area Plan adopted 
2015). The adopted Bristol Core Strategy includes policies which seek to secure the effective 
and efficient use of land. These aim to maximise opportunities to re-use previously developed 
land.  A minimum indicative net density of 50 homes per hectare is sought. Higher 
densities of development are sought in and around the city centre; in or close to other centres 
and along or close to main public transport routes. 

 
Between 2006 and 2015, 96% of all dwellings completed in Bristol were at more than 50 
homes per hectare. In the last 10 years the average density of new development on major 
housing sites has been 100 homes per hectare; in the city centre development densities 
averaged over 300 homes per hectare in the same period.  In the same period, 82% of all 
dwellings completions in Bristol have been for flats. 

 
The policy approaches to securing very efficient use of land have been carried forward into 
the analysis of potential for new urban sites in Bristol. This is discussed below. 

 
Estimated capacity from Bristol City Council’s area 

 
It is estimated that the built up area of the City of Bristol can contribute approximately 32,000 
homes (1,615 homes per year). As shown below, this capacity arises from four sources: 

 
 

Bristol City Council 
 

Potential source of housing supply 2016 - 2036 

 

Capacity 

Existing planning permissions 7055 
Existing Local Plan allocations 8464 
Unidentified small sites 4800 
Urban living potential 12000 
Estimated total urban capacity 32319 

Page 81



4 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

New ’urban living potential’ comprises 12,000 of the capacity for new homes identified 
above. The approach to estimating the new urban potential in Bristol is explained below. 

 
 
 
Urban living potential 

 
As its contribution to the West of England urban living potential assessment, Bristol City 
Council has undertaken a detailed search for potential development opportunities within 
the Bristol boundary that do not already benefit from planning permission for residential 
development, are not allocated and would deliver 10 or more homes. The assessment of 
urban living potential has had a number of strands: 

 
• A citywide search for potential new brownfield development opportunities; 
• Review of land currently reserved for the retention of industrial and warehousing 

uses; 
• Assessment of potential from the conversion or redevelopment of city centre offices 

which are no longer required for employment uses; 
• Review of the potential to increase the capacity of existing Local Plan site allocations; 
• Potential for development of any undeveloped land within the urban area. 

 
The urban living potential analysis to date suggests that there continues to be significant 
capacity for new homes to be delivered within the built up area of Bristol up to 2036. There 
is potential for 12,000 new homes from new sites that may reasonably be expected to come 
forward in Bristol over the plan period. 

 
This is shown below: 

 
 
Source 

Potential 
homes 

New brownfield opportunities (city reclaimed land) 6800 
Land no longer required for industry/warehousing 1500 
Re-use/redevelopment of redundant city centre offices 2100 
Uplift of existing local plan site allocations 500 
Undeveloped urban land 1100 
Total 12000 

 
 
 
 
 
South Gloucestershire 

 
The district of South Gloucestershire incorporates the urban areas of the North and East 
Fringes of Bristol, Thornbury, Yate and Chipping Sodbury. Collectively it is anticipated that 
development on previously developed land in these areas could contribute to this 12,000 
figure by delivering approximately 1,000 new homes from sites of 10 dwellings and above. 

 
To achieve this outcome a forecasting/ projections based approach has been used. This 
has assessed whether continued development opportunities exist within urban areas, 
whether past rates of delivery are capable of being sustained and what sources of supply 
this land is likely to be generated from, based on the current data sets available. 

Page 82



5 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

In applying the projections based approach in accord with paragraph 48 of the NPPF, the 
objectives have been to: 

 
 
 

a)  To review past delivery rates of development on previously developed land 
and sources of that land. 

b)  To review potential future rates of development on previously developed 
land and the sources of that land, 

c)  To establish an understanding of what contribution windfall PDL will likely 
make to overall future completion rates over the next 10-20 years up to 
2036 and what type of sites are likely to generate that delivery. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a). Past sources of supply and geographical spread 

 
From the Council’s monitoring of residential development over the past two decades it has 
been possible to make an informed judgement about what might be expected in the future. 
In the past 20 years almost 3,000 new homes in South Gloucestershire have been built on 
previously developed large sites (10+ homes), an average of 150 dwellings per annum. 
Almost half (46%) of these completions have been from former “employment uses”. 
Former “residential sources” accounted for 24% of completions, and almost a third (30%) of 
completions were from “other sources”. 

 
 

Past sources of supply of PDL 
 

50 
 

45 
 

40 
 

35 
 

30 
 

25 
 

20 
 

15 
 

10 
 

5 
 

0 
Former employment uses  Former residential sources Other sources 

 
 
 
 
It has also been possible to identify the main areas where development has occurred, to help 
identify where development might be expected in the future. Past rates have identified that 
63% of development on previously developed land has occurred within the communities of 
the Bristol East Fringe, with the Communities of the North Fringe, Thornbury, Yate/

Page 83



6 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

Chipping Sodbury and the rest of South Gloucestershire, collectively making up the 
remaining 37% of development on previously developed land. 
 
 

Past geographical spread of PDL 
 

70 
 

60 
 

50 
 

40 
 

30 
 

20 
 

10 
 

0 
North Fringe        East Fringe             Villages             Thornbury            Yate and 

Chipping 
Sodbury 

 
 
 
 
b). Likely future sources of supply and geographical spread 

 
Windfall sites are those not specifically identified as available in the Local Plan process and 
normally comprise of previously developed sites that have become available.  The above 
analysis has indicated that over the last 20 years windfall sites of over 10 dwellings have 
resulted in approximately 150 dwellings per year. To determine the contribution such 
supply is likely to make in future a variety of data sets have been examined including: new 
planning permissions granted; current applications pending decisions; sites submitted as 
part of a call for sites exercise including any subsequent sites submitted as a result of further 
consultation; and other known sites. 

 
Forecasting analysis indicates that currently there could be potential for at least 1,300 new 
homes on a variety of previously developed sites, which based on an annual average could 
delivery around 65 dwellings per year over the period 2016-2036. The majority of this 
supply can be typically divided into the following former land uses: 

 
Source of supply percentage Indicative number 
Former employment uses; 
e.g. industrial and storage 
uses 
Former residential sources, 
e.g. residential 
redevelopment sites/garden 
land 
Other sources, e.g. schools, 
community buildings, 
carparks, retail 

27 351 
 

 
 
3 39 
 
 
 
 
70 910 

Total 100 1,300 

Page 84



7 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

Likely future sources of supply of PDL 
 

80 
 

70 
 

60 
 

50 
 

40 
 

30 
 

20 
 

10 
 

0 
Former employment uses  Former residential sources Other sources 

 
 
 
 
Very little new development is likely to come forward from the redevelopment of existing 
housing. Whilst in the future windfall sites will continue to provide an important element of 
housing supply, it is unlikely to provide such large numbers of new homes as in the past, as 
many of the largest sites, particularly on former employment sites have already been 
developed. 

 
 
 
 

Likely future rates of development by area 
 

60 
 

50 
 

40 
 

30 
 

20 
 

10 
 

0 
North Fringe        East Fringe             Villages             Thornbury            Yate and 

Chipping 
Sodbury 

 
 
 
 
This analysis indicates that from across the Policy Areas, in future years the Communities of 
the Bristol North Fringe could provide the most significant opportunities for the supply of 
housing units from urban sites, with over 50% of capacity from current sites falling within this 
area. This compares with 12% in the past.  Yate and Chipping Sodbury could provide the 
second most significant opportunities with 19% of capacity on sites falling within this area. 
The communities of the Bristol East Fringe area, whilst in the past providing over 60% of 

Page 85



8 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

N
o.

 o
f D

w
el

lin
gs

 

capacity is unlikely to provide many medium/large redevelopment opportunities in the future, 
the majority coming from smaller scale urban redevelopment sites. 

 
From the current known sites it is possible to anticipate the likely time horizon of delivery. 
Whilst this can only be an estimate of when sites are likely to come forward an attempt has 
been made to broadly group expected development into five year periods.  For this purpose 
sites that have already got planning permission have been assumed to be complete with the 
first 5 year period.  As regards to the other sites, it is more difficult to forecast when these 
are likely to be complete so for the purpose of this exercise sites have been randomly 
“spread” over the remaining 15 years. 

 

It can be seen from the graph below that in the next five years around 200 homes could be 
expected. The majority of new homes could come forward in the ten year period to 2031 
with most of these after 2026 coinciding with the end of the Core Strategy period. 

 
 

Estimated Completion Timeframe 
 

800 
 

700 
 

600 
 

500 
 

400 
 

300 
 

200 
 

100 
 

0 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2016/2021 2021/2026 2026/2031 2031/2036 

Years 
 
 
 
 
Conclusions 

 
A snap shot assessment of development potential as at April 2016 identified that in the 
region of 1,300 dwellings are likely to come forward through wind fall sites on previously 
developed land (See South Gloucestershire SHLAA sites for further details) 

 
 
 
Bath and North East Somerset – Bath 

 
Bath is relatively small city with a population of around 90,000 residents. It is distinctive in 
the range and significance of its environmental assets in particular UNESCO World Heritage 
Site, has an extensive Conservation Area, is surrounded three sides by the Cotswolds 
AONB. This severely affects the amount of land available for redevelopment in the City and 
the nature of development appropriate. 

Page 86



9 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

The work on the B&NES Core Strategy entailed an intensive assessment of development 
opportunities and the B&NES core strategy plans for 5,320 dwellings to be built in Bath 
before 2029, with 90% of identified sites of 10 or more dwellings being on brownfield land. In 
light of the fact that  Brownfield sites were maximised ,  some of Bath’s housing need had to 
be met in adjoining settlements and warranted the need to remove land from the Green Belt 
on the edge of the City. Therefore further opportunities to maximise the urban potential of 
Bath are extremely limited 

 
City of Bath 
Potential source of housing supply 2016 - 2036 

Capacity 

Existing planning permissions 4000 
Existing Local Plan allocations 1000 
Unidentified small sites 400 
Estimated existing urban capacity 5,700 

 

 
 
However, further work has been undertaken as part of the preparation of the JSP. This has 
entailed a review of land and buildings in Bath in seeking to identify further resources of 
supply for new housing. These are sites that do not already benefit from planning permission 
for residential development, are not allocated and would deliver 10 or more homes. This is in 
addition to the housing supply identified to meet the B&NES Core Strategy planned housing 
growth in Bath which at 2016 stood at 6,600 dwellings. 

 
Small windfall sites (less than 10 dwellings) are addressed separately which includes an 
assessment of the likely yield from bringing empty properties back into use. This amounts to 
around 300 dwellings as shown in the table below. 

 

 
 
 
Source Potential homes 
New brownfield sites (not already identified) 110 
Existing housing estates and garage blocks 55 
Reappraisal of previously discounted SHLAA sites, including Industrial 
Sites 

130 

Change of use from offices 14 
Uplift of existing site allocations capacity 0 
Total 309 

Page 87



10 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

North Somerset – Weston-super-Mare 
 
Summary of methodology 

 
The methodology applied in North Somerset to identify potential is based on a review of 
existing land availability information, consideration of the role and potential of broad 
locations, and the potential contribution from increased delivery as a result of the greater 
incentives and interventions to support urban regeneration including greater plan-led 
intervention. 

 
This assessment is not a Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment though it 
draws on the outputs of the 2014 HELAA. It is anticipated that a revised HELAA will be 
produced in due course to support Local Plan allocations for housing. 

 
The approach taken is therefore targeted at providing a broad understanding of the potential 
opportunities to increase urban living potential and setting the context for further 
investigation. This is considered to be a proportionate approach to fit the strategic nature of 
the JSP. 

 
This approach draws on the latest survey of land opportunities in Weston-Super-Mare and 
also identifies locations that can be explored further where there may be strategic 
opportunities for housing e.g. focussed around transport hubs and retail centres. 

 
The sites considered are not currently committed, and therefore, do not form part of the 
baseline supply (the 66,000 dwellings). These sites were previously identified as having 
some development potential through the North Somerset 2014 HELAA and the Council will 
be reviewing this study and all of the sites to inform the plan making process. 

 
The focus for increased urban living potential in WSM will be on the town centre, where 
there are proposals emerging for regeneration. This is backed by increased involvement 
from the Homes and Communities Agency that should support the delivery of key sites in 
the town centre. 

 
Review of the findings 

 
Overall the assessment has identified an increase in urban living potential capacity of 
1,850 dwellings at Weston-super-Mare). This comprises the following elements: 

 
• 1,165 dwellings at WSM on specific identified sites from the 2014 HELAA, 
• 500 dwellings on broad locations (subject to further investigation); 
• 185 additional dwellings delivered through increase policy intervention to encourage 

urban living1
 

 
Specific identified sites from the 2014 HELAA 

 
A total potential capacity of 1,165 dwellings at Weston-super-Mare is identified through a 
review of existing information on land availability.  Similarly a potential capacity of 117 is 
identified from the same source for Clevedon, Nailsea, and Portishead. 

 
 

1 Note: this figure is only intended to serve as a scenario to indicate increased provision from small sites over 
the plan period stimulated by increased intervention to support urban living. It should be subject to further 
investigation but is expected to be on the lower side of potential. 

Page 88



11 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

In the main these sites are large (greater than 10 dwellings). Whilst it is unlikely that all of 
the identified sites would come forward as allocations, and others not in the list will, it is 
useful to compare the total with historic annual large site windfalls in the town to provide an 
overall sense check on the scale of potential. 

 
The 1,165 dwellings would likely emerge from 2021 onwards, averaging around 78 
dwellings per annum (2021 to 2036), with the vast majority being on large sites. This 
compares with an actual delivery of 2024 dwellings on large sites in the WSM urban area 
alone between 2006 and 2015, averaging 225 dwellings per year. This shows that the scale 
of potential at least, is in line with historic large site delivery trends. 

 
The sites considered will go on to be reviewed through a site allocations process in due 
course.  For the purposes of this assessment, there is no suggestion that they would all be 
progressed however the scale of sites identified, coupled with the historic completions 
indicates that it would be feasible to secure around 1,000 dwellings up to 2036. 

 
It is recommended that the suitability to accommodate this level of change in the urban area 
plus any required mitigation and infrastructure investment, is explored through the SA 
process and other testing. 

 
Broad Locations 

 
A potential dwelling capacity has not been specifically attributed to individual broad locations 
however the yield could be significant.  A notional 500 is included to be subject to further 
investigation, and a range of broad locations have been identified based on the principle of 
setting a walkable catchment around centres of activity and through the identification of a 
range of indicative locations where a strategic approach to delivery could be explored.  It is 
generally expected that such potential would likely be delivered during the later stages of the 
JSP plan period due to the additional plan making processes required to bring forward such 
potential and the longer lead-in times. It is recommended that further work to explore such 
opportunities is considered through the future North Somerset HELAA to support local policy 
and site allocations in the context of the JSP. 

 
Additional small-site windfall 

 
The greater focus on delivering housing in urban areas has the potential to translate to 
increased delivery of dwellings on small site windfalls brought forward in accordance with the 
Development Plan.  The position set out in the baseline Housing Capacity Evidence Paper 
(November 2015) is that the prevailing trends are expected to continue. Therefore the 
additional potential of up to 185 dwellings (2021 to 20362) can be considered a trend+ but is 
not assumed within the baseline supply position. 

 
How does the potential capacity from this study relate to the baseline supply 
position? 

 
The potential identified here is in addition to the housing supply set out in the Housing 
Capacity Evidence Paper (November 2015), though there is likely to be some cross-over in 

 
 

2 Allowing the initial 5 years of the plan period to reflect trend recognising that it will take time for policies and 
other influences to take effect. 

Page 89



12 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

their delivery.   
 

 
Potential increase in urban living capacity across the West of England 

 
In summary, the ongoing review of potential increase in dwellings in the main urban areas 
across the West of England has indicated that there is potential for the delivery of an 
additional 14,609 units. 

 
Urban potential source of housing supply 2016 - 2036 Additional 

dwellings 
Bristol 12,000 
South Gloucestershire 1,300 
North Somerset 1,000 
B&NES 309 
Estimated total urban potential 14,609 

 

 
The early development of a number of these sites is likely to require prioritised investment 
and intervention from the public sector. This is the subject of further research and 
assessment. 

 
Details of the approach to assessing urban living potential are included at Appendix 1. 

 
The assessment will form part of the evidence base for the Joint Spatial Plan. It is expected 
that the assessment will be published alongside the draft Joint Spatial Plan when it is made 
available for public consultation in the Autumn. 

 
 
 

Page 90



13 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

Appendix 1 – Details of urban living potential assessment – Bristol City Council 
 
New brownfield opportunities - city reclaimed land 

 
The citywide search for brownfield sites, dubbed ‘city reclaimed land’, focused in and around 
the 47 Local Plan designated town, district and local centres, transport hubs and transport 
corridors. Existing mapped and photographic information was used to identify areas of 
underused land or buildings. Other sources of sites in locations across the city were also 
considered, such as land around local authority high rise housing or sites previously 
considered for local plan site allocations but not taken forward at the time. 

 
Each of the sites was ascribed a potential capacity for development based on a set of 
density assumptions (ranging from 65dph in suburban locations to 200dph in the city 
centre). They were then analysed against key constraints (e.g. the presence of listed 
buildings, high flood risk or the amount of the site likely to be required for infrastructure) to 
make the capacity assumptions more realistic. 

 
Consideration was given to the likelihood of each site coming forward for residential 
development. The more likely sites have contributed to the capacity set out in this briefing. 
Sites that were not considered likely to come forward (e.g. under-utilised land in existing 
uses such as supermarket car parks) were also recorded but do not contribute to the overall 
estimated capacity as they were not considered likely to come forward for development over 
the plan period. 

 
Principal Industrial and Warehousing Areas 

 
The Bristol Local Plans’ designated Principal Industrial and Warehousing Areas (PIWAs) 
were reviewed through a process of site visits. Officers assessed the condition and 
occupancy of land and buildings to identify whether they were likely to continue to be 
designated as a PIWA at the next Local Plan review. 

 
Sites identified for potential change from the PIWA designation were ascribed capacities and 
analysed for constraints following the city reclaimed land method. The sites considered more 
likely to come forward for development during the plan period have contributed to the 
identified. 

 
City centre offices 

 
For city centre offices, a different method was used to reflect the fact that the conversion of 
offices to residential currently benefits from a simplified ‘prior approval’ regime under the 
General Permitted Development Order and does not require planning permission. Recent 
prior approvals were analysed to identify an average density per floor of 100dph. This 
average density was then applied to the remaining supply of large city centre office buildings 
considered likely to come forward for conversion by reason of their location, condition and/or 
occupancy. 

 
Uplift of existing local plan site allocations 

 
Existing local plan site allocations have been reviewed to see if higher density forms of 
development could be considered. The potential from this source is limited as sites were 
subject to detailed consideration during local plan preparation. Capacities for the sites were 
identified through a process of public consultation and examination by a planning inspector. 
The stated capacities are already subject to the density policies in the Bristol Core Strategy 
and its approach to making efficient and effective use of land. However, there may be some 
opportunity on the larger allocations for securing housing numbers higher than identified 

Page 91



14 

    
  
  Item 5 Appendix 4 

 

capacities. An estimate of an additional 500 homes has been made. 
 
A similar review may form part of the urban potential assessments being undertaken by the 
other unitary authorities. 

 
Undeveloped urban land 

 
There is a limited proportion of undeveloped land in the city which is mainly built up. 

 
The review is ongoing, but an initial desktop assessment of any undeveloped land identified 
a small number of sites which may not be need to be retained for open uses. These have 
been initially assessed for their suitability for residential development. These locations have 
been ascribed capacities and analysed for constraints following the city reclaimed land 
method. 

 
Viability assessment 

 
The urban living potential assessment  is  on-going.  Consultants have been commissioned  
to provide information on the viability of sites for residential development. This will assist in 
determining whether sites considered to have capacity for residential development are likely 
to prove to be viable development opportunities.   This will enable a more detailed 
determination which sites are likely to contribute to housing deliver over the plan period. 

 
Small unidentified sites 

 
In assessing future capacity for development an allowance is made for deliver from small 
unidentified sites. These are developments fewer than 10 dwellings and include small 
conversion schemes. There has been consistent delivery from this source over many years 
and the trend is expected to continue. 300 homes per year are projected from this source. 
The estimate was included in the housing figures stated in the Joint Spatial Plan Issues and 
Options document. 

 
September 2016 

Page 92



 
 
 

Opinion Research Services | The Strand • Swansea • SA1 1AF | 01792 535300 | www.ors.org.uk | info@ors.org.uk 

 

 

 

West of England  
Housing Target 
 

The basis for the Housing Requirement 
in the Joint Spatial Plan 

DRAFT: September 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93

jtulg
Typewritten Text

jtulg_1
Typewritten Text
Item 5:  Appendix 5

http://www.ors.org.uk/


 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 2  

 

 

Opinion Research Services  |  The Strand, Swansea SA1 1AF 

Jonathan Lee  |  David Harrison  |  Nigel Moore 

enquiries:  01792 535300  ·  info@ors.org.uk  ·  www.ors.org.uk 

  

 
© Copyright September 2016 

 

 

  

Page 94

mailto:info@ors.org.uk
http://www.ors.org.uk/


 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 3  

West of England Housing Target 
The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan 

1. Opinion Research Services (ORS) was commissioned by the local authorities in the West of England 

(Bath and North East Somerset, Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire) to further develop the 

evidence in order to establish the overall housing target for the area over the 20-year period 2016-36 to 

inform the housing target for the Joint Spatial Plan (JSP). 

2. The Wider Bristol SHMA was published in June 2015 and this identified an Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) 

of 85,000 dwellings for the Wider Bristol housing market area (HMA): the combined area of Bristol, 

North Somerset and South Gloucestershire.  The OAN identified covered the 20-year period 2016-36 and 

was consulted upon as part of the evidence base for the JSP. 

3. The consultation feedback received about the SHMA and the associated OAN for Wider Bristol HMA was all 

considered by the local authorities, and the issues raised were discussed with ORS.  There was 

also a sequence of clarification meetings with objectors who provided their own alternative housing need 

assessments. 

4. The local authorities want to ensure that the JSP housing target will provide for the right 

number of new homes in the West of England and they are keen to minimise the extent of any 

disagreement at the forthcoming JSP Examination.  Therefore, having considered the feedback received, 

the local authorities have decided to further develop the evidence base.  This seeks to respond 

to the concerns raised where appropriate and also ensures that the housing target takes account of all 

housing requirements, including those not captured by the identified OAN, as required by the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).  In summary: 

» The Bath SHMA has been updated to establish the OAN for Bath HMA over the period 2016-36 

based on assumptions that are fully consistent with the Wider Bristol SHMA, so the evidence is now 

is fully aligned and provides spatial coverage across the West of England for the entire JSP period; 

» The household projections in the Wider Bristol SHMA and the Bath SHMA have been reviewed in 

the context of other projections to ensure that they provide a reasonable demographic baseline; 

» The LEP has commissioned Oxford Economics to update the economic forecasts to a 2015 base date 

to ensure that the alignment between jobs and workers is based on up-to-date information and 

provide a “policy off” basis on which to consider the balance between growth in Wider Bristol HMA 

and Bath HMA; 

» The proposed responses to market signals in establishing OAN for Wider Bristol HMA and Bath HMA 

have been reviewed in the context of the feedback received and recent Inspectors’ decisions; 

» The way in which housing backlog was considered and changes over the period 2012-16 were dealt 

with by the SHMAs has been reconsidered; 

» The impact of assumptions about older persons living in care, existing housing likely to be vacated 

and the way in which housing for older people (including residential institutions in Use Class C2) is 

to be counted, have been factored into the housing target; and 

» The justification for a further increase in the total housing figure included in the JSP in order to help 

deliver the affordable housing needed has been considered. 

Page 95



 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 4  

Summary of Objectively Assessed Need 

5. The table below sets out the process for establishing objectively assessed need that was used for the 

Wider Bristol SHMA (June 2015) and Bath SHMA (June 2016).  Both studies establish OAN for the 20-year 

period 2016-36; the household projections have a base date of 2012 and both studies are based on the 

same methodology and use the same underlying datasets with fully consistent assumptions to ensure that 

the results are directly comparable. 

Figure 1: Full Objectively Assessed Need for Housing across the West of England 2016-36 

Stage 
Wider Bristol 

HMA 
Bath  
HMA 

TOTAL 

HOUSEHOLDS    

Demographic starting point 
CLG household projections 2016-36 

78,538 9,324 87,862 

Adjustment for local demographic factors and migration trends 
10-year migration trend 

-2,734 -350 -3,084 

Baseline household projections  
taking account of local circumstances 

75,804 8,974 84,778 

DWELLINGS    

Allowance for transactional vacancies and second homes 
Based on dwellings without a usually resident household 

2,674 341 3,015 

Housing need based on household projections  
taking account of local circumstances 

78,478 9,315 87,793 

Adjustment for suppressed household formation rates 
Concealed families and homeless households with allowance for 
vacancies and second homes 

1,421 + 50  
= 1,471 

113 + 4 
= 117 

1,588 

Baseline housing need based on demographic projections 79,949 9,432 89,381 

Further 
adjustments 
needed… 

In response to balancing jobs and workers 
Additional dwellings to ensure alignment between 
planned jobs growth and projected growth in workers 

0 +3,263 +3,263 

In response to market signals 
Dwellings needed (in addition to the adjustment  
for concealed families and homeless households) to 
deliver the overall percentage uplift proposed 

7.5% x 78,478 
= 5,886 

5,886 - 1,471  

= +4,415 

15% x 9,315 
 = 1,397 

1,397 - 117   

= +1,280 

+5,695 

In response to backlog of housing provision 
between projection and Plan base dates 2012-16 

+4,019 -1,201 +2,818 

Combined impact of the identified adjustments +4,415 +2,242 +6,657 

Full Objectively Assessed Need for Housing 2016-36 84,364 11,674 96,038 

6. Based on the above assessments, the SHMAs concluded that the Full Objective Assessed Need for Housing 

in the Wider Bristol HMA to be 85,000 dwellings and in the Bath HMA to be 11,700 dwellings, both over the 

20-year JSP period 2016-36. 

7. On this basis, the Full Objective Assessed Need for Housing across the whole of the West of England would 

be 96,700 dwellings over the 20-year JSP period 2016-36. 

8. However, prior to establishing the West of England housing target, we will review the key assumptions on 

which the assessments of OAN in each HMA are based in the context of the consultation feedback received. 

Page 96



 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 5  

Reviewing the Household Projections 

9. Consultation responses emphasised the need to confirm that the household projections were reasonable in 

the context of other projections for the area.  The SHMA household projections used 10-year migration 

trends over the period 2001-11, which were based on Census data.  This approach was supported by the 

Inspector examining the current BANES Core Strategy.  The same approach has also been consistently 

supported by Inspectors elsewhere. 

10. Across the West of England, the SHMA projections identify a growth of 84,800 households over the 20-year 

period 2016-36.  This projection is broadly consistent with the CLG 2012-based and 2014-based projections 

for the same period, which identify a growth of 87,900 and 88,200 households respectively.  These 

projections are based on the ONS 2012-based and 2014-based sub-national population projections, which 

use 5-year migration trends from the periods 2007-12 and 2009-14. 

11. Both the SHMA projection and the recent CLG projections are notably lower than previous CLG 2008-based 

household projections, which identified a growth of 191,000 households over the 25-year period 2008-33.  

This is equivalent to an average of 7,640 households per year, which is 73% higher than the annual average 

from the 2014-based projections; but the 2008-based projection was based on the ONS 2008-based  

sub-national population projections which are no longer credible.  The migration trends used to inform the 

2008-based projection were based on ONS Mid-Year Estimates (MYE) which were inaccurate and have since 

been superseded (as the 2011 Census identified they were overstating population growth) and the trend 

period also included anomalous data for Bristol city, as discussed in the Wider Bristol SHMA report. 

12. The CLG 2014-based household projections are based on the ONS 2014-based sub-national population 

projections, and projected population growth over the 20-year period 2016-36 is 8% higher in the  

2014-based population projections than it was in the 2012-based projections.  Despite this 8% difference in 

growth between the population projections, the CLG 2014-based household projections are less than 1% 

higher than the 2012-based projections for the same period.  This is due to the 2014-based projections 

showing a lower rate of decline in average household size than the 2012-based data, which will have an 

impact on the SHMA household projections. 

13. It is also important to recognise that all of the CLG household projections are based on short-term 

migration trends, and there is a now widespread acceptance that the planning for long-term housing 

provision demands an approach based on more stable, longer term migration trends.  Considering 10-year 

migration trends, the SHMA baseline assumptions were based on annual net migration of 3,940 persons to 

Wider Bristol HMA and 550 persons to Bath HMA based on the period 2001-11.  ONS MYE are now 

available for the period to mid-2015, and data for the most recent 10-year period 2005-15 shows a 

relatively stable average for Wider Bristol HMA at 4,030 migrant persons per year; however, the average 

for Bath HMA has more than doubled to 1,180 migrant persons per year. 

14. The latest MYE data was reviewed by the Bath SHMA, which identified that administrative data sources 

suggested growth was being overestimated by over 900 persons each year from 2011-14.  Adjusting for this 

likely overestimate would reduce the latest 10-year average to around 810 migrant persons per year – so 

higher than the 2001-11 trend, but far lower than implied by the raw data.  We should therefore be 

cautious about these latest CLG projections, especially for the Bath HMA. 

15. Taking account of the identified data quality issues, the latest 10-year average suggests that annual net 

migration to the West of England is around 4,840 persons compared to the baseline of 4,490 persons 

assumed by the SHMA projections.  It would therefore seem reasonable to marginally increase the SHMA 

Page 97



 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 6  

household projections to take account of this difference, and assume an additional 350 persons would be 

gained annually due to net migration.  As the SHMA projections identify that the West of England 

population will be around 1.28 million persons by 2036, a further 350 persons each year over the 24-year 

projection period 2012-36 would increase this to nearly 1.29 million persons. 

16. The population data from the Oxford Economics 2013-based economic forecast that was used to establish 

the LEP jobs target identified a population of 1.20 million persons would be needed to sustain the medium 

high scenario; so the SHMA projection is notably higher than this.  The SHMA population is also higher than 

the 1.27 million persons identified by the medium high scenario from the 2015-based forecast; and 

consistent with the population increase of 1.29 million identified by the high scenario from this latest 

forecast.  On this basis, the economic forecasts confirm that the SHMA population projection is reasonable 

and the forecasts do not provide any justification for a higher population growth. 

17. In terms of the alternative assessments of housing need that were prepared as part of the feedback to the 

consultation: 

» Barton Willmore: this assessment projected that the West of England population would increase by 

201,100 persons over the 20-year period 2016-36, reaching a total of 1.33 million persons by 2036; 

however, this was based on implausible mortality rates and the entire projection lacks credibility; 

» NLP: the demographic projection for this assessment showed the West of England population 

increasing by 261,000 persons over the 20-year period 2016-36 (including an increase of 227,600 

persons in Wider Bristol HMA), reaching a total of 1.38 million persons by 2036; however, this took 

no account of underlying data quality issues and the projections fail to reflect past trends; 

» Business West: this assessment prepared by Professor Glen Bramley is based on a fundamentally 

different approach, which doesn’t include a demographic-led projection. 

18. Given the problems identified with the population projections prepared by both Barton Willmore and NLP, 

the associated household projections do not provide any basis for comparison.  However, whilst the 

assessment prepared by Professor Glen Bramley is somewhat unorthodox in its approach when compared 

to the SHMA and the PPG advice, it gives an interesting alternative perspective – but as this analysis is 

fundamentally based on future economic growth, it has been considered further in the context of aligning 

jobs and workers. 

19. In summary, we can therefore conclude that: 

» The SHMA projection is broadly comparable to the CLG 2012-based and 2014-based projections; 

and whilst all are lower than the 2008-based projection, the 2008-based figures are based on 

demonstrably inaccurate population data.  Furthermore, all of the CLG projections use short-term 

migration trends which are unsuitable for planning long-term housing provision; 

» Long-term migration trends remain broadly consistent with those assumed by the SHMA; although 

there have been some increases (particularly in Bath HMA) and this could add around 350 persons 

each year to the projected population;  

» Alongside the changes to migration, there are also changes to average household sizes to consider; 

» None of the alternative assessments of housing need provide a basis for comparison; however 

» The SHMA projection is fundamentally consistent with the Oxford Economics economic forecasts in 

terms of the underlying population growth. 

Page 98



 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 7  

20. Having considered all of the evidence, we would conclude that the SHMA projections are reasonable but 

would propose that the housing target should factor in an uplift to take account of the marginal change to 

net migration in Wider Bristol HMA and the more notable change in Bath HMA: 

» Wider Bristol: increasing annual net migration by 90 persons would yield an extra 1,800 persons 

over a 20-year period; this would equate to around 800 households based on the average 

household size of 2.24 persons that is projected for Wider Bristol HMA in 2036; and 

» Bath: increasing annual net migration by 260 persons would yield an extra 5,200 persons over a  

20-year period; this would equate to around 2,300 households based on the average household size 

of 2.26 persons that is projected for Bath HMA in 2036. 

21. In establishing the housing target, it is also appropriate to consider the likely impact of the changes to the 

projected average number of persons in each household on the SHMA projections: 

» Wider Bristol: whilst the 2012-based household projections identified that average household size 

would reduce from 2.31 persons in 2016 to 2.24 by 2036 (a fall of 0.07 persons), the 2014-based 

projections identify that the reduction will probably be less than 0.05 persons over the same period; 

preliminary analysis of the underlying data suggests that this is likely to reduce projected household 

growth by around 2,000 households for Wider Bristol HMA over the 20-year period 2016-36; and 

» Bath: whilst the 2012-based household projections identified that average household size would 

reduce from 2.32 persons in 2016 to 2.26 by 2036 (a fall of 0.06 persons), the 2014-based 

projections identify that the reduction will probably be around 0.04 persons over the same period; 

preliminary analysis of the underlying data suggests that this is likely to reduce projected household 

growth by around 500 households for Bath HMA over the 20-year period 2016-36. 

22. Considering the combined impact of these two factors, we would anticipate the household projection for 

Wider Bristol HMA to reduce by around 1,200 households and the household projection for Bath HMA to 

increase by around 1,800 households when the latest data is factored into the analysis. 

23. These are not precise calculations and they do not capture all of the possible changes (for example, 

changes to births and deaths associated with these additional migrants); however, they provide a 

reasonable estimate of the likely scale of the adjustments that will need to be incorporated within the next 

full update of the SHMA evidence, which is planned for Summer 2017 in advance of the JSP Examination. 

Aligning Jobs and Workers 

24. The assumed jobs growth was an input to the SHMA and was based on Oxford Economics 2013-based 

forecasts of economic growth for the West of England, applying a small uplift to the medium-high scenario 

such that it was consistent with the LEP target for 95,000 extra jobs over the 20-year period 2010-30.  On 

this basis, a growth of 84,400 jobs was assumed for the 20-year period 2016-36 (74,300 in the Wider Bristol 

HMA; 10,100 in the Bath HMA). 

» The Wider Bristol SHMA concluded that sufficient workers would be available to meet this level of 

growth, but a surplus of workers was identified for the period 2012-16 which offset a shortfall for 

the period 2016-36. 

» The Bath SHMA identified the need for a substantial uplift to the OAN to avoid imposing any change 

to commuting rates – but noted that the circularity in assumptions between the two SHMAs meant 

that this was implicitly based on a policy-led jobs target. 

Page 99



 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 8  

25. The LEP has updated the economic forecast information available, and the Oxford Economics 2015-based 

medium-high scenario (with the same small uplift of 1.1%) identified a growth of 82,500 jobs across the 

West of England over the 20-year period 2016-36.  The detailed assumptions on employment rates and the 

broad demographic structure of the population are also consistent between the SHMA and the updated 

Oxford Economics 2015-based medium-high scenario.  Whilst the total growth is marginally lower than the 

level of jobs growth that was assumed for the SHMA, the figures are broadly consistent – but the balance 

between HMAs has changed: a growth of 73,700 jobs now forecast for Wider Bristol (a reduction of 1%) 

and 8,800 jobs for Bath (a reduction of 13%).  Nevertheless, as this is “policy off” it forms a more 

appropriate basis for establishing OAN. 

26. It is also important to recognise that jobs growth for the period 2012-16 is notably higher in the 2015-based 

data than was identified by the 2013-based forecast – but as these differences are based on estimates of 

actual change, the increase in jobs has already been matched with an equivalent increase in workers.  On 

this basis, the surplus of workers for the period 2012-16 identified by the Wider Bristol SHMA has already 

been absorbed by the higher than forecast increase in jobs; so as a consequence, the shortfall in workers 

identified by the analysis for the period 2016-36 will now need to be addressed.  Therefore, when the 

SHMA evidence is fully updated in Summer 2017, this will not assume there to be any surplus (or shortfall) 

of workers as at the 2016 base date and will focus on aligning jobs and workers during the JSP period. 

27. Figure 2 considers the balance between future jobs and workers based on the 2015-based forecast and the 

likely number of future workers, taking account of the SHMA evidence and likely changes to migration that 

will be factored in to the projections. 

Figure 2: Balancing future jobs and workers 

 
Wider Bristol  

HMA 
Bath  
HMA 

TOTAL 

JOBS    

Forecast change in total employment 2016-36 73,700 8,800 82,500 

LESS Jobs fulfilled by workers commuting to the HMA 
(based on commuting rates from the 2011 Census) 

-9,900 -2,800 -12,700 

LESS Impact of local workers with more than one job -5,000 -700 -5,700 

Extra local workers needed to balance with future jobs 58,800 5,300 64,100 

WORKERS    

Projected change in economically active population 2016-36 65,200 4,600 69,800 

PLUS Additional economically active population as a 
consequence of increased migration 

+1,100 +2,200 +3,300 

LESS Workers commuting to jobs outside the HMA 
(based on commuting rates from the 2011 Census) 

-6,600 -1,900 -8,500 

Projected increase in local workers 59,700 4,900 64,600 

BALANCING JOBS AND WORKERS    

Extra local workers needed to balance with future jobs 58,800 5,300 64,100 

LESS Projected increase in local workers -59,700 -4,900 -64,600 

Shortfall (or surplus) of local workers -900 +400 -500 

Uplift in housing need to balance jobs and workers -  400 400 

  

Page 100



 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 9  

28. Once again, this is not intended to be a precise calculation; however, it provides a reasonable overview of 

the alignment between jobs and workers and the scale of any uplift to OAN that is likely to be needed. 

» Wider Bristol: there is now a closer alignment between jobs and workers in Wider Bristol HMA.  

Whilst the original SHMA identified 5,400 more workers than jobs, the above analysis suggests that 

the difference is now only 900; however, as there will already be enough workers for the likely 

increase in jobs in the Wider Bristol HMA, there is no need to further increase the OAN; and 

» Bath: there is also a closer alignment between jobs and workers in Bath HMA.  Whilst the original 

SHMA identified 3,200 fewer workers than jobs, the above analysis suggests that the difference is 

now only 400; therefore, given this likely shortfall of workers in Bath HMA, there is now a need to 

increase the OAN by around 400 dwellings. 

29. A detailed analysis will be incorporated within the next full update of the SHMA evidence, which is planned 

for Summer 2017 in advance of the JSP Examination. 

Reviewing the Evidence from Business West 

30. As previously noted, Business West presented an alternative housing need assessment prepared by 

Professor Glen Bramley as part of their consultation feedback.  Whilst the approach taken by this 

assessment is very different to the SHMA and the PPG advice, it provides an interesting alternative 

perspective which is helpful to consider further. 

31. The analysis is fundamentally based on future economic growth, which forecasts an extra 83,200 jobs for 

the Wider Bristol HMA over the period 2016-36.  This compares to the increase of 73,700 jobs used above, 

based on a small uplift to the medium high scenario from the Oxford Economics 2015-based forecast. 

Oxford Economics consider there to be a 10% probability that the medium high scenario can be achieved; 

their baseline forecast is 44,200 jobs and their high scenario forecast (which has a 5% probability) yields 

102,100 extra jobs.  On this basis, whilst a growth of 83,200 jobs falls within the Oxford Economics range, 

there would only be a probability of between 5% and 10% of this being achieved. 

32. Accepting this context, the modelling analysis considers the likely impact of different housing targets; 

adopting a baseline scenario of 85,000 dwellings (based on the Wider Bristol OAN).  The model suggests 

that this target would result in 74,200 housing completions (12.8% below the target) together with an 

increase of around 80,800 households, 179,300 persons and 63,200 workers.  On this basis, a target of 

85,000 dwellings would lead to a shortfall of around 20,000 workers (based on the ambitious jobs growth 

assumed) which would therefore impact on commuting patterns; but this doesn’t appear to take account of 

likely future changes to economic activity rates. 

33. The SHMA analysis shows that when the changes to economic activity rates that are currently forecast by 

the Office for Budget Responsibility are factored into the analysis, an increase of 65,200 workers  

(2,000 more than in the baseline scenario from the Bramley model) is likely to be achieved given overall 

population growth of 146,100 persons (33,200 fewer than in the baseline scenario).  Therefore, future 

changes to economic activity mean that there will be far more workers available within the existing 

population.  As a consequence, the population needs to grow less than suggested by the Bramley model. 

34. Based on 74,200 dwelling completions and population growth of 179,300 persons, the analysis presented 

by Professor Bramley suggests that there would be a significant adverse impact on a number of relevant 

housing indicators.  Nevertheless, this is based on circumstances which are fundamentally different to 

those identified by the SHMA; given that 10,800 fewer dwellings and 33,200 more people are assumed. 

Page 101



 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 10  

35. A number of alternative scenarios are presented, and it is notable that the model suggests that increasing 

the housing target to 142,400 dwellings (a further 57,400 dwellings, equivalent to an uplift of 67.5%) would 

actually yield only 94,300 housing completions (33.8% below the target); so whilst increasing the target 

might increase supply to some extent, there would also be a far larger amount of non-implementation.  On 

this basis, it would seem appropriate to focus on maximising delivery rather than simply adopting an ever 

higher target.  Another scenario sets out a possible mechanism for achieving this, which is based on a 

substantial increase in social housing that is not dependent on market-led development.  This suggests a 

target of 124,800 could deliver 103,500 dwellings (17.0% below target) and has the best outcome in terms 

of housing indicators – yet this is predicated on even higher population growth (190,100 persons, 

44,000 more than the SHMA). 

36. Whilst the precise impact cannot be determined, if an extra 190,100 persons coupled with the delivery of 

103,500 dwellings would have a reasonable outcome in terms of the housing indicators (recognising that 

this included a real increase in social housing delivery) then it would seem fair to suggest that an extra 

146,100 persons coupled with the delivery of 79,600 dwellings (so both being reduced by 23.1%) would 

have a similar outcome in terms of the housing indicators (with a continued need for extra social housing).  

This was essentially what the SHMA concluded: the demographic projections identified 146,100 persons 

and the baseline housing need based on this demographic projection was 79,900 dwellings. 

37. To summarise: 

» This assessment assumed a higher level of jobs growth than the SHMA (83,200 cf. 73,700) and 

whilst this falls within the Oxford Economics range, it has a very small probability of being achieved; 

» Future changes to economic activity rates were not considered, so the model was based on much 

higher rates of overall population change yet still yielded a lower number of additional workers; 

» The model suggests that increased housing targets would lead to far higher levels of non-

implementation, though proposed that this could be countered to an extent with a substantial 

increase in social housing that was not dependent on market-led development; and 

» The ratio of population growth to housing in the scenario with the best outcome for housing 

indicators is consistent with the ratio of population growth to housing identified by the SHMA. 

38. On this basis, it seems likely that with a consistent jobs target and a consistent approach to changing 

economic activity rates, this model would probably provide similar results to those originally concluded by 

the SHMA. 

Reviewing the Response to Market Signals 

39. The Wider Bristol SHMA and Bath SHMA considered the relative market signal indicators for the respective 

housing market area, similar demographic and economic areas, and nationally.  Both SHMAs recognised 

that there is no single formula that can be used to consolidate this information; but whilst there is no 

definitive guidance on what level of uplift is appropriate, there are useful precedents that have been 

established by Inspectors’ decisions elsewhere which can be considered. 

40. Given the context at the time, the Wider Bristol SHMA concluded: 

On balance we would recommend that the overall uplift was at least 5% but no more than 10% of 

the housing need identified based on the household projections … We believe that the mid-point of 

this range, an uplift of 5,886 dwellings, provides an appropriate response to market signals. 

Page 102



 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 11  

41. Some consultation responses suggested that this proposed response to market signals was inadequate, and 

that an uplift of a different order of magnitude should be considered – but those proposing the largest 

increases (of 50% or more) were focussed primarily on the housing target rather than the OAN, with the 

uplift largely intended to mitigate the impact of non-delivery. 

42. Further precedents have also emerged since the original Wider Bristol SHMA was prepared.  The Inspector 

examining the Gloucester-Cheltenham-Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy recently proposed that an uplift of 

10% should be applied across the whole area; with 5% attributed to jobs and counted within the OAN, and 

a further 5% included as part of the housing requirement to help deliver affordable housing.  Cambridge 

city has also proposed a 30% uplift; but this was alongside a 10% uplift for South Cambridgeshire district, 

which therefore yields a combined uplift of around 18% across the two areas. 

43. The housing market indicators for the Wider Bristol HMA identify considerably less housing pressure than 

Cambridge, where the 2013 lowest quartile house price affordability ratio was 10.3x (9.5x for the 

Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire combined area) compared to a ratio of 7.3x for Wider Bristol HMA 

and 6.5x for England.  Given that PPG notes that “The more significant the affordability constraints … the 

larger the additional supply response should be” it would be fair to conclude that if a response of 18% was 

reasonable for Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire, then such a high response could not be justified for 

Wider Bristol HMA.  Nevertheless, the ratio for Gloucestershire was 7.2x which is evidently comparable 

with the Wider Bristol figure. 

44. Given this context, we continue to recommend that the overall uplift for Wider Bristol HMA should be “at 

least 5% but no more than 10%”; and given that we have demonstrated that there is already alignment 

between jobs and workers across the West of England, any adjustment would respond exclusively to 

affordability and other housing market indicators.  Nevertheless, in the context of the consultation 

responses received and the wider context set out above, we would suggest that the upper-end of the 

proposed range should be adopted for establishing the OAN in order to minimise any disagreement at the 

JSP Examination.  Furthermore, this would avoid the OAN for Wider Bristol HMA reducing as a consequence 

of likely changes to the population and household projections. 

45. An uplift of 10% above the housing need identified based on household projections should enable more 

households to form independently, but it may also lead to higher levels of migration with more people 

moving to the area – and this could have consequences for the balance between jobs and workers.  The 

analysis has already identified that it is likely there will be a larger increase in workers than jobs (based on 

trend-based projections and the aspirational, medium high jobs growth scenario); and whilst a further 

increase in workers could support even higher jobs growth, there would be an inevitable increase in net 

out-commuting, reduced economic activity or increased unemployment if those jobs were not created. 

46. The Bath SHMA was completed more recently, and that study concluded: 

The response to Market Signals across the Bath HMA as a whole should be more than 10% … we 

would propose an overall uplift of 15% 

47. Given that the 2013 lowest quartile house price affordability ratio for Bath HMA was 9.1x it is reasonable to 

suggest that the market signals response should be larger than for Wider Bristol HMA; and the proposed 

response of 15% remains appropriate in the context of the existing precedents. 

  

Page 103



 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 12  

Housing Backlog 

48. As there will be a full update of the SHMA evidence in Summer 2017, there won’t be any need to consider 

the period 2012-16.  Household projections will be prepared using an estimate of the existing population 

resident in Wider Bristol HMA and Bath HMA as at mid-2016; and, as previously noted, the alignment 

between jobs and workers will also focus on the JSP period and not assume there is any surplus or shortfall 

of workers in 2016. 

49. However, consistent with the Planning Advisory Service Good Plan Making Guide1, the SHMA will continue 

to count any “unmet need for housing that still exists at the start of the new plan period” but will not 

include any “under-provision from a previous plan period”. 

Housing for Older People 

50. The SHMAs both identified that the OAN did not include the projected increase of institutional population, 

which represented a growth of 4,484 persons in Wider Bristol HMA and 786 persons in Bath HMA; a total of 

5,270 persons across the West of England over the 20-year JSP period 2016-36.  This increase in 

institutional population is a consequence of the CLG approach to establishing the household population2, 

which assumes “that the share of the institutional population stays at 2011 levels by age, sex and 

relationship status for the over 75s” on the basis that “ageing population will lead to greater level of 

population aged over 75 in residential care homes”. 

51. Whilst these additional 5,270 persons aged 75 or over living in communal establishments are not counted 

as part of the OAN; an allowance is made for the dwellings that would be vacated by many of these people.  

Not all would vacate dwellings, as some will have a partner or other family remaining in the home; but 

further analysis of the data (assuming no growth in the institutional population) shows that overall housing 

need would be 3,706 dwellings higher in Wider Bristol HMA and 650 dwellings higher in Bath HMA if the 

additional bedspaces were not provided – so it is important to take account of these needs. 

52. When considering housing supply, PPG states the following in relation to housing for older people: 

How should local planning authorities deal with housing for older people? 

Older people have a wide range of different housing needs, ranging from suitable and appropriately 

located market housing through to residential institutions (Use Class C2). Local planning authorities 

should count housing provided for older people, including residential institutions in Use Class C2, 

against their housing requirement. The approach taken, which may include site allocations, should 

be clearly set out in the Local Plan. 

Planning Practice Guidance (March 2014), ID 3-037 

53. On this basis, given that housing provided for older people in Use Class C2 should be counted against the 

housing requirement, it is important that this need is also factored in when the housing target is 

established.  Furthermore, as older people are living longer, healthier lives, and the Government’s reform 

of Health and Adult Social Care is underpinned by a principle of sustaining people at home for as long as 

possible, it does not necessarily follow that all of the increase in institutional population should be provided 

as additional bedspaces in residential institutions in Use Class C2; specialist older person housing such as 

Extra Care may be more appropriate for the needs of some of these older people. 

                                                           
1 http://www.pas.gov.uk/documents/332612/6363137/Pages+from+FINAL+PAS+Good+Plan+Making+-6.pdf 
2 Household Projections 2012-based: Methodological Report, Department for Communities and Local Government, February 2015 

Page 104

http://www.pas.gov.uk/documents/332612/6363137/Pages+from+FINAL+PAS+Good+Plan+Making+-6.pdf


 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 13  

54. Therefore, for the purposes of establishing the housing target, it is necessary to take account of those 

dwellings that were assumed to be vacated by people moving into care.  This would allow the supply of 

bedspaces in residential institutions in Use Class C2 to be counted against the housing requirement; 

providing that this was calculated on the basis of the number of dwellings likely to be vacated in the 

housing market. 

55. Based on the SHMA analysis, an increase of 5,270 persons in the institutional population living in care 

would have released 4,355 dwellings across the West of England over the 20-year JSP period 2016-36.  

Recent market analysis by Knight Frank3 suggests care home occupancy rates at around 88%, which would 

imply that 5,989 additional bedspaces would be needed to accommodate an increase of 5,270 persons.  On 

this basis, providing 5,989 care home bedspaces would release 4,355 dwellings in the housing market – a 

ratio of 1.37 bedspaces per dwelling. 

56. Given this context, the housing target should take account of the need of these older people and 4,355 

dwellings should be included in addition to the OAN; although the SHMA update may change this figures 

marginally.  Bedspaces in care homes would then be able to be counted towards the housing requirement, 

on the basis of 1 dwelling being counted for every 1.37 bedspaces provided. 

Affordable Housing Need 

57. The SHMAs have both identified a substantial need for affordable housing: a total of 32,200 dwellings for 

the West of England over the 20-year Plan period 2016-36.  PPG identifies that Councils should also 

consider “an increase in the total housing figure included in the local plan” where this could “help deliver 

the required number of affordable homes”. 

58. However, this should be considered in the context of what Mr Justice Dove said in his Judgement for the 

Borough Council of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk v Elm Park Holdings Ltd (paragraphs 35-36): 

“The Framework makes clear these needs should be addressed in determining the FOAN, but neither 

the Framework nor the PPG suggest that they have to be met in full when determining that FOAN. 

This is no doubt because in practice very often the calculation of unmet affordable housing need will 

produce a figure which the planning authority has little or no prospect of delivering in practice.” 

59. With regard to the PPG, Mr Justice Dove explicitly notes that this should be the “consideration of an 

increase to help deliver the required number of affordable homes, rather than an instruction that the 

requirement be met in total”.  Given the scale of affordable housing need identified, the Councils must 

consider the justification for “an increase in the total housing figure included in the local plan”; however, as 

the Inspector examining the Cornwall Local Plan noted in his preliminary findings: 

“National guidance requires consideration of an uplift; it does not automatically require a 

mechanistic increase in the overall housing requirement to achieve all affordable housing needs 

based on the proportions required from market sites.” 

60. As affordable housing delivery will typically form a proportion of open-market schemes, it is reasonable to 

assume that higher overall housing delivery will also yield a higher amount of affordable housing.  On this 

basis, the Inspector examining the Gloucester-Cheltenham-Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy proposed an 

uplift of 5% should be applied to help deliver more affordable housing – concluding that the benefits would 

outweigh the harms.  Nevertheless, whilst the OAN for that area had included a 5% uplift to help align jobs 

and workers, there was no further uplift in response to affordability pressures and other market signals. 

                                                           
3 http://content.knightfrank.com/research/548/documents/en/2015-3267.pdf 

Page 105

http://content.knightfrank.com/research/548/documents/en/2015-3267.pdf


 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 14  

61. For the West of England, we have proposed that the OAN for Wider Bristol HMA includes an uplift of 10% 

and that the OAN for Bath HMA includes an uplift of 15%; both responding to affordability and market 

signals, given sufficient workers had already been identified across the West of England based on the trend-

based demographic projections and the aspirational, medium high jobs growth scenario.  These uplifts will 

already contribute to increasing the supply of affordable homes through market-led housing developments. 

62. Whilst these uplifts should also enable more households to form independently, they could lead to more 

people moving to the area – affecting the balance between jobs and workers.  As previously noted, any 

increase in workers could support even higher jobs growth; but without these jobs, there would be an 

inevitable increase in net out-commuting, reduced economic activity or increased unemployment.  For 

these reasons, we would not recommend any further increase to the overall housing number – but any 

specific initiatives to help deliver extra affordable housing should be prioritised as far as possible within the 

planned housing provision. 

Establishing the Housing Target 

63. The housing target for the West of England has been established based on the combined OAN for 

Wider Bristol HMA and Bath HMA, together with the necessary adjustments to take account of older 

people assumed to be moving into care.  This incorporates the likely changes to the OAN set out in previous 

sections of this paper, and a detailed analysis of these figures will be provided by the next full update of the 

SHMA evidence (planned for Summer 2017 in advance of the JSP Examination). 

64. This housing target assumes that the combined OAN for Wider Bristol HMA and Bath HMA will be met in 

full within the West of England, and that there will be no unmet needs from other housing market areas 

that need to be accommodated.  Figure 3 sets out the key elements of the calculation. 

Figure 3: Establishing the Housing Target for the West of England JSP 2016-36 

Stage 
Wider Bristol 

HMA 
Bath  
HMA 

TOTAL 

Housing need based on  
SHMA household projections 

78,500 9,300 87,800 

Estimated 
impact of… 

Changes to migration +800 +2,300 +3,100 

Changes to average household size -2,000 -500 -2,500 

Housing need based on  
updated household projections 

77,300 11,100 88,400 

Further 
adjustments 
needed… 

In response to balancing jobs and workers 
Additional dwellings to ensure alignment between 
planned jobs growth and projected growth in workers 

0 400 400 

In response to market signals 
Dwellings needed (including the specific adjustment 
for concealed families and homeless households) 

10% x 77,300 
= 7,700 

15% x 11,100 
= 1,700 

9,400 

Combined impact of the identified adjustments 7,700 1,700 9,400 

Updated OAN for the JSP period 2016-36 85,000 12,800 97,800 

Allowance for dwellings assumed to be vacated  
by older people moving into care 

3,700 700 4,400 

Further uplift to help deliver the identified affordable housing need 
The uplift applied in response to market signals 

will already incorporate this 

Housing Target for the JSP period 2016-36 88,700 13,500 102,200 

  

Page 106



 
 

Opinion Research Services | West of England Housing Target: The basis for the Housing Requirement in the Joint Spatial Plan DRAFT: 7 Sept 2016 

 

 

 15  

65. Based on the elements set out above, the housing target for the West of England is likely to be around 

102,200 dwellings; but it is important to recognise that there is the potential for a small margin of error 

either way, given that some of the numbers are based on likely estimates and the final numbers will not be 

known until the next full update of the SHMA(s). 

66. On this basis, it would be sensible for the JSP to be developed in the context of a possible small increase or 

a small reduction in the housing target identified above.  It is likely that any changes would account for a 

small percentage of the overall figure at this stage, and therefore we would propose a range of between 

100,000 and 105,000 dwellings.  We would therefore recommend that the JSP should plan for a housing 

target of up to 105,000 dwellings, which will be finalised when the SHMA is updated in Summer 2017. 

67. Providing up to 105,000 dwellings is likely to yield sufficient workers for up to 10,000 more jobs than 

forecast by the Oxford Economics 2015-based medium high scenario; although this will depend on the 

balance between more households forming independently and changes to net migration.  On this basis, the 

housing target could support even higher jobs growth than is currently planned for; so there is sufficient 

contingency for economic activity rates changing at a slower pace than currently envisaged by the OBR, the 

extent of double jobbing and any changes in the balance between full- and part-time working.  However, 

there is a risk that the housing target could lead to an increase in net out-commuting or increased 

unemployment if sufficient new jobs were not created; so unless there was a change to the underlying 

evidence, we would caution against a housing target that was any higher than the 105,000 dwellings 

currently proposed. 

68. Finally, it is important to recognise that this housing target represents the number of dwellings that need to 

be delivered across the West of England over the 20-year JSP period 2016-36.  Therefore, based on 

feedback to the consultation, the JSP should consider the best way for flexibility to be included within the 

Housing Target to ensure that the JSP is able to successfully deliver the identified housing target. 

Page 107



  Appendix 6 

Joint Spatial Plan 

Green Belt appraisal 

September 2016 

 

Introduction 

1. The Bristol-Bath Green Belt was originally established in the mid-1950s and covers nearly 
half of the JSP plan area; it comprises 63,742 hectares within the West of England.  In 
addition, it extends into Wiltshire and Somerset.  The extent of the Green Belt is shown 
below.   

 
 

2. The government’s approach to Green Belt is set out in the NPPF; the key passages are as 
follows: 
 
‘The government attaches great importance to Green Belts.  The fundamental aim of Green 
Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open’ (paragraph 79).   
 
‘Green Belt serves five purposes: 

• To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
• To prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 
• To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
• To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
• To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land’ (paragraph 80). 
 

‘Once established, Green Belt boundaries should only be altered in exceptional 
circumstances, through the preparation or review of the Local Plan’ (paragraph 83). 

Page 108



  Appendix 6 

 
‘When drawing up or reviewing Green Belt boundaries local planning authorities should take 
account of the need to promote sustainable patterns of development.  They should consider 
the consequences for sustainable development of channelling development towards urban 
areas inside the Green Belt boundary, towards towns and villages inset within the Green Belt 
or towards locations beyond the outer Green Belt boundary’ (paragraph 84). 
 

3. National guidance clearly emphasises the importance of Green Belts, their five purposes and 
that they should only be altered in exceptional circumstances.  Where such circumstances 
have been demonstrated, paragraph 84 sets out the approach to be followed. 
 

4. The preparation of the JSP requires an evidence base which assesses the role and function of 
the existing Green Belt, which, alongside other evidence, will help inform choices about the 
form and location of new development.  The JSP approach to the assessment of Green Belt 
reflects national best practice.  A two stage approach was undertaken.  The first stage 
examined the Green Belt in the West of England as a whole and determined whether 
identified cells served one or more of the purposes of Green Belt as set out in the NPPF.  The 
second stage examined specific smaller parcels of land to determine their contribution to 
serving one or more of a selection of Green Belt purposes.   

Stage 1 appraisal (November 2015) 

5. The Green Belt was divided into 79 cells to provide manageable areas for assessment (see 
plan below).  In general smaller cells were identified adjacent to the built-up areas to 
provide a finer grain assessment.  Clear physical features were used wherever possible to 
define the cells. 

 
 

6. Each of the cells was assessed against the five green belt purposes.   

Page 109



  Appendix 6 

7. The overall conclusion of the stage 1 was that the Green Belt continues to retain the 
fundamental characteristic of openness and serves the purposes of Green Belt. assessment   
The conclusions in respect of the five purposes are reproduced below.   
 
‘Sprawl of large built up areas  
The cells closest to the large built up areas of Bristol and Bath all directly serve the purpose of 
checking the unrestricted sprawl of these large built up areas. No areas of significant urban 
development have been identified in those cells. All cells maintain open, undeveloped land at 
the edge of these large built-up areas.  
 
Prevent neighbouring towns merging  
Cells between a number of settlements perform the role of preventing neighbouring towns 
merging into one another. These include the cells in the following corridors:  

• Bristol, Keynsham, Saltford and Bath;  
• Bristol, Winterbourne/Frampton Cotterell/Coalpit Heath, Yate/Chipping Sodbury;  
• Bristol and Thornbury  
• Bristol Port/Bristol urban area and Portishead;  
• Bristol, Long Ashton and Nailsea/Backwell  
• Portishead and Clevedon  
• Bath, Bradford on Avon and Trowbridge (outside the plan area)  

 
Safeguarding countryside from encroachment  
The description of each cell notes the dominance of countryside and the rural character of 
the areas. Most cells were identified as serving the purpose of safeguarding the countryside 
from further encroachment.  
 
Preserving the setting and special character of historic towns  
All the cells surrounding the City of Bath (World Heritage Site) serve the purpose of 
preserving the setting and special character of historic towns. Cell 70, which provides a 
prominent open setting to the west of the group of conservation areas of central Bristol and 
Clifton, was also noted as serving this purpose. In many locations it was noted in the cell 
assessment that the Green Belt assisted in preserving the setting of designated Conservation 
Areas.  
 
Assist in urban regeneration  
The role of the Green Belt in assisting urban regeneration is supported by policies in Local 
Plans which have regeneration objectives. All cells were identified as assisting in urban 
regeneration as they collectively encourage the recycling of derelict and other urban land in 
Bristol (including Avonmouth/Severnside), Bath and the other settlements surrounded by 
Green Belt. The cells closest to the regeneration areas of south Bristol were specifically 
identified in the assessment matrix. 
 

8. The findings for each of the purposes are mapped at Appendix A.  This simply indicates 
whether individual cells served the respective Green Belt purpose or not.  It is not 
meaningful to aggregate the layers as the Green Belt purposes are distinct and not 
cumulative.  
 

Page 110



  Appendix 6 

Stage 2 appraisal (September 2016) 

9. The stage 1 assessment confirmed that all of the 79 cells performed two or more of the 
purposes of the Green Belt.  In order to obtain a greater understanding of the consequences 
of any changes to Green Belt designation the stage 2 assessment considered the degree of 
contribution particular areas make to Green Belt purposes. 
 

10. The stage 2 assessment focussed on those areas identified as potential strategic 
development locations, and identified smaller cells for assessment (151 cells assessed).  
These stage 2 cells were ranked as to whether they made a ‘major contribution, a 
‘contribution’ or a ‘limited contribution’ to Green Belt purposes.  The aim of the assessment 
was to determine an overall contribution rank based on a combination of assessments 
against each relevant Green Belt purpose. 
 

11. For each of the Green Belt purposes a number of indicators were identified to assist in the 
assessment process and an approach agreed for determining which of the three ranks would 
apply and how to determine the overall contribution.  The details are set out in the stage 2 
report.  In all cases a cell is only assessed and ranked against a Green Belt purpose if its stage 
1 cell was identified as serving that purpose.  The assessment does not attempt an aggregate 
or cumulative rating for cells. 
 

12. It was not considered meaningful to attempt to establish variations in contribution for cells 
performing the ‘assist’ functions (3 and 5) which were applicable to most or all cells in the 
stage 1 assessment.  The stage 2 assessment only assigns a ‘contribution’ or ‘limited 
contribution’ against purpose 3 as this purpose is equally applicable to most cells in the plan 
area.  No assessment of stage 2 cells is made against purpose 5 which is considered to be 
applicable to the Green Belt as a whole. 
 

13. The map at Appendix B illustrates the ranking of the assessed cells (the remaining areas of 
Green Belt are shown in grey as they did not form part of the stage 2 assessment).  Most 
cells were assessed as making a ‘contribution’ or ‘major contribution’ to meeting Green Belt 
purposes.  12 cells in four separate locations were assessed to make a limited overall 
contribution. 
 

14. The conclusion of the stage 2 assessment was that most Green Belt cells close to settlements 
make either a ‘contribution’ or ‘major contribution’ to Green Belt purposes.  NPPF states 
that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open.  Most cells adjacent to both the Bristol and Bath urban areas make a 
‘major contribution’ to Green Belt purposes by checking the sprawl of the urban area and in 
a number of locations by contributing to preventing the merger of neighbouring towns. 
 

15. Considering cells in combination, no substantial areas have been identified as making a 
‘limited contribution’ to Green Belt purposes.  There are no extensive tracts of land which, 
notwithstanding their current Green Belt status, have been shown to be unnecessary to 
keep permanently open by reason of their limited contribution to Green Belt purposes.  The 
conclusion that 12 cells only make a ‘limited contribution’ indicates that it may be 
unnecessary to retain these cells within the Green Belt.  However the assessment does not 
suggest that they are necessarily suitable for development in the event of an amendment to 

Page 111



  Appendix 6 

the Green Belt boundaries; all or part of these cells may be valued for other reasons such as 
landscape or open space. 

Conclusions 

16. The stage 1 assessment confirmed that the Bristol-Bath Green Belt continues to retain the 
fundamental characteristic of openness and serves the purposes of Green Belt.  The stage 
two assessment considered the contribution to which smaller cells at the strategic locations 
served one or more of the Green Belt purposes.  Most of the cells in the stage 2 assessment 
were identified as making a ‘contribution’ or ‘major contribution’ to meeting Green Belt 
purposes. 
 

17. 12 cells were assessed as making a ‘limited’ contribution. These cells are relatively small in 
scale.  They do not comprise locations of significant scale in which Green Belt purposes are 
not served and where, consequently, boundaries could be amended in order to enable 
strategic development. However, the four authorities may wish to consider whether it is 
necessary to continue to include the cells in the Green Belt when determining the general 
extent of the Green Belt in the Joint Spatial Plan or the detailed boundaries in the their Local 
Plans. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 112



Appendix A  

Stage 1 assessment: mapping of cells serving the purposes of Green Belt 

Cells serving purpose 1: Check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas 

 

Cells serving purpose 2: Prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another 

 

Page 113



 

Cells serving purpose 3: Assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment 

 

Cells serving purpose 4: Preserve the setting and special character of historic towns 

 

 

 

Page 114



 

Cells serving purpose 5: Assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging recycling of derelict and other 
urban land 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 115



Appendix B 

Stage 2 assessment: Overall contribution to Green Belt purposes 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 116

BRLSPA3
Cross-Out



 

1 
 

Item 5:  Appendix 7 

Joint Spatial Plan      
Sustainability Appraisal 

September 2016 

Introduction 

1. Sustainability appraisal (SA) is a statutory requirement for development plans.  It is a process used 
to assess the economic, social and environmental implications of proposed planning policies to 
help inform the plan-making process.  The intention is to promote sustainable development by 
better integrating sustainability considerations into the preparation of planning documents. 

 
2. While a final sustainability appraisal report will accompany the submission plan, the SA process is 

used to inform and assess the decision making process as the plan evolves.  An Initial SA Report 
was published in November 2015 alongside the JSP Issues and Options.  This provided an initial 
high-level appraisal of the plan, and comments were invited on both the methodology and the 
findings. 

Initial SA Report (November 2015) 

3. The Initial SA Report identified five broad themes; each of which was related to a number of 
sustainability objectives (see Appendix A).  The themes are set out below together with the number 
of related objectives: 

• Improve the health, safety and wellbeing of all (1a-1c). 
• Support communities that meet people’s needs (2a-2f). 
• Develop a diverse and thriving economy that meets people’s needs (3a-3b). 
• Maintain and improve environmental quality and assets (4a-4h). 
• Minimise consumption of natural resources (5a-5b). 

 
4. An assessment was undertaken of each of the broad typologies and indicative strategic locations 

set out in the Issues and Options document in relation to the identified sustainability objectives.  
This created a matrix which was assessed as follows: 

0 no discernible effect 

- negative effect 

-- significant negative effect 

+/- mixed effect 

+ positive effect 

++ significant positive effect 

? uncertain effect  

 
5. As well as identifying the effects themselves, the SA also sought to highlight opportunities for 

mitigation or enhancement that would enable the initial scores to be improved.  For example, a 
location may be given a negative score because of infrastructure deficiencies but if development is 
of a scale sufficient to remedy those deficiencies then, subject to it doing so, the location could 
become a more sustainable choice. 

Page 117



 

2 
 

SA of Emerging Technical Scenario (September 2016) 

6. Alongside other technical work towards developing a scenario for consultation, the Issues and 
Options SA was expanded to look at potential strategic locations in more detail.  This work is 
continuing as more information emerges, to ensure that all locations have been assessed to a 
comparable level of detail and consistently between the four UAs. In addition to this document, 
further information will be made available for consultation on the 7th November, 2016. 
 

7. The SA is a tool for understanding the impacts of policy choices, highlighting potential problems 
and opportunities.  It does not necessarily provide a definitive steer towards a preferred option.  
Usually there will be a mix of positive and negative effects, some of which may be judged – from 
outside the SA process – to be more influential than others.  Some impacts will remain uncertain 
until proposals are more precisely defined. 

Conclusions 

8. The SA is a statutory requirement for development plans.  It aids in the understanding of policy 
choices by highlighting potential problems and opportunities associated with each option. 

 
9. Work is continuing to refine analysis to date but key messages emerging are as follows: 

Social sustainability 

1. Some negative social impacts, such as exposure to poor air quality, can be addressed by 
avoiding affected locations or by tackling the underlying environmental problems at source.  
Others, such as inadequate infrastructure, can sometimes be addressed through development but 
the larger items like secondary schools or district centres require relatively large additions to 
population.  The greatest potential net benefits may therefore arise where capacity already exists 
but is under-used or can be redeployed.  Placing new housing near to areas of multiple deprivation 
will not be of demonstrable benefit to those areas unless the development includes some element 
of employment / training use. 

Economic sustainability 

2. Urban locations or those with good accessibility are seen as most likely to be attractive for 
strategic economic development.  There is therefore a close connection to infrastructure 
investment, especially transport.  This encompasses such issues as congestion, resilience and the 
balance to be struck between building on existing advantages and developing sub-regional 
solutions that address current problems or create new potential. 

Environmental sustainability 

3. Locations with ‘in-principle’ objections, such as functional floodplain, were sieved-out at the 
start of the process of identifying suitable locations for development.  The constraints that remain 
are therefore ones that national policy envisages as being balanced against other factors such as 
the need for development to be in accessible locations and to assist urban regeneration.  Existing 
settlements are often in the same locations as the best and most versatile agricultural land and 
their expansion has to be balanced against its loss.  Other locations may be subject to a degree of 
flood risk, which could be mitigated with sufficient investment but only at the expense of other 
demands on limited funds.  Impacts on heritage, biodiversity and landscape depend heavily on the 
scale of development envisaged and of associated mitigation. 

Page 118



 

3 
 

Appendix A 

JSP SA Objectives 

 

Theme 

 

 

Sustainability Objective 

Improve the health, safety 
and wellbeing of all 

1a. Achieve reasonable access to public open space 
1b. Minimise impacts on air quality and locate sensitive 
development away from areas of poor air quality 
1c. Achieve reasonable access to healthcare facilities 

Support communities that 
meet people’s needs 

2a.  Deliver a suitable quantum of high quality housing for the 
West of England sub-region   
2b. Deliver a suitable mix of high quality housing types and 
tenures  (including affordable housing) for all parts of society 
within the West of England sub-region 
2c. Achieve reasonable access to community facilities  
2d. Achieve reasonable access to educational facilities  
2e. Achieve reasonable access to town centre services and 
facilities  
2f. Reduce poverty and income inequality, and improve the life 
chances of those living in areas of concentrated disadvantage 

Develop a diverse and 
thriving economy that meets 
people's needs 

3a. Deliver a reasonable quantum of employment floorspace/land 
and increase access to work opportunities for all parts of society 
within the West of England sub-region 
3b. Achieve reasonable access to major employment areas 

Maintain and improve 
environmental quality and 
assets 

4a. Minimise impact on and where appropriate enhance the 
historic environment, heritage assets and their settings 
4b. Minimise impact on and where possible enhance habitats and 
species (taking account of climate change) 
4c. Minimise impact on and where appropriate enhance valued 
landscapes 
4d. Promote the conservation and wise use of land, maximising 
the re-use of previously developed land. 
4e. Minimise the loss of productive land, especially best and most 
versatile agricultural land. 
4f. Minimise vulnerability to tidal/fluvial flooding (taking account 
of climate change), without increasing flood risk elsewhere 
4g. Minimise vulnerability to surface water flooding and other 
sources of flooding, without increasing flood risk elsewhere 
4h. Minimise harm to, and where possible improve, water quality 
and availability 

Minimise consumption of 
natural resources 

5a. Achieve reasonable access to sustainable transportation 
5b. Reduce non-renewable energy consumption and ‘greenhouse’ 
emissions, and provide opportunities to link into existing heat 
networks 

  

Page 119



 

4 
 

Appendix B 

Outline SA of Emerging Technical Scenario 

Sustainability 
Objective 

Commentary Mitigation or 
enhancement 

1a. Achieve 
reasonable access 
to public open 
space (Designated 
Open Spaces, Town 
and Village Greens, 
and Public Rights of 
Way) 

Peripheral development can be beyond 400m 
walking distance of existing town spaces.  
Villages generally lack large open spaces.  There 
is usually good access to the countryside via the 
National Cycle Network and PRoWs.  There is 
also easy access to the Cotswolds and Mendip 
Hills AONBs from a number of locations. 

Large-scale 
development could 
include open space 
provision. 

1b. Minimise 
impacts on air 
quality and locate 
sensitive 
development away 
from areas of poor 
air quality 

Keynsham is within an AQMA. No AQMAs in the 
rural area, though motorways run close to some 
locations. There are several AQMAs in the 
Bristol urban area, , which cover major arterial 
routes. There are known areas of poor air 
quality along Station Road in Yate. 

Transport Impact 
Assessment and 
adequate preventative 
and mitigation 
measures are required. 

1c. Achieve 
reasonable access 
to healthcare 
facilities (Doctors, 
Opticians, 
Pharmacies, 
Dentists, Hospitals) 

Urban and peripheral locations have reasonable 
access to facilities. Towns and most larger 
villages have a range of facilities. 
 
Charfield has relatively sparse on site provision. 
 
All sites could benefit from improved access to 
hospitals in city locations. 

Large-scale 
development could 
include healthcare 
provision but unlikely to 
achieve critical mass for 
new hospital.  Average 
ambulance response / 
hospital access times 
could therefore decline. 

2a. Deliver a 
suitable quantum of 
high quality housing 
for the West of 
England sub-region 

Total number 37,700.  Although locations are 
assumed to be of a strategic scale the plan 
period allows for reasonable lead-in times. 
 
The SA must know the housing requirement and 
whether the currently predicted housing 
capacity for this scenario is accurate before 
attempting to score this objective. 

 

2b. Deliver a 
suitable mix of high 
quality housing 
types and tenures 
(including 
affordable housing) 
for all parts of 
society within the 
West of England 
sub-region 

Greenfield development is likely to be more 
viable than brownfield therefore it could 
provide more certainty for the delivery of 
suitable tenures including affordable housing. 
 
Urban intensification is very difficult to appraise 
given the uncertainty of locations of 
developments.  Whilst a range of housing types 
can be achieved, there may be fewer 
opportunities for the development of new non-
flatted homes (including with gardens) with 
urban intensification.  This could limit 
opportunities for a mix of homes.  Viability 

 

Page 120



 

5 
 

issues associated with some brownfield 
developments may limit opportunities to secure 
affordable housing. 

2c. Achieve 
reasonable access 
to community 
facilities (post 
office, meeting 
venues, youth 
centres) 

Urban and peripheral locations have reasonable 
access to facilities. Towns and most larger 
villages have a range of facilities. Towns and 
most larger villages have a range of facilities.  
 
Severance issues at Yate where development 
could straddle the railway. 
 
Charfield contains limited facilities and would, 
therefore, have restricted access.  

Large-scale 
development could 
include community 
provision. 

2d. Achieve 
reasonable access 
to educational 
facilities (primary 
schools, secondary 
schools) 

Urban and peripheral locations have reasonable 
access to facilities. Towns and most larger 
villages have a range of facilities but only a few 
villages have secondary schools, e.g. Backwell, 
Churchill, Thornbury, and Yate.  Some primary 
schools are not well-located relative to potential 
development sites, e.g. Thornbury. 
 
Charfield and Banwell have primary schools but 
no secondary schools. Peripheral development 
can be beyond 1500m of existing secondary 
schools, e.g. Nailsea. 
 
School provision is very much dependent on the 
way the development is implemented. Notional 
triggers for new facilities will be met only if a 
future planning application meets the required 
quantum.  

Large-scale 
development could 
include educational 
provision but unlikely to 
achieve critical mass for 
a secondary school 
(5,000 homes needed as 
a rule-of-thumb). 

2e. Achieve 
reasonable access 
to town centre 
services and 
facilities 
(Designated City, 
Town and District 
Centres) 

Peripheral development can be beyond 1500m 
of existing town / district centres. Urban and 
peripheral locations have reasonable access by 
improved public transport to city centres. 
 
Most villages are remote from district or larger 
centres. 

Large-scale 
development unlikely to 
achieve critical mass for 
a district centre (5,000 
homes needed as a 
rule-of-thumb). 

2f. Reduce poverty 
and income 
inequality, and 
improve the life 
chances of those 
living in areas of 
concentrated 
disadvantage 

No demonstrable link with locational strategy 
for housing, though employment or mixed 
development can provide benefits.  Only urban 
intensification can demonstrate a positive link 
to deprived communities. 
 
The Bristol Core Strategy gives priority to the 
regeneration of South Bristol to include 
additional mixed-use development with 
supporting infrastructure. The regeneration of 
South Bristol shall no occur in isolation but as 
part of the integrated spatial strategy for the 

 

Page 121



 

6 
 

area. For example, improvements to transport 
will enable greater access to new employment 
created in the city centre. 
 
The revitalisation of South Bristol will help 
address imbalances in employment 
opportunities and travel to work patterns across 
the city and region. 

3a. Deliver a 
reasonable 
quantum of 
employment 
floorspace/land and 
increase access to 
work opportunities 
for all parts of 
society within the 
West of England 
sub-region 

Sites could deliver employment opportunities, 
at the cost of land for housing.  
 
Dispersed development is unlikely to offer the 
critical mass to underpin significant new 
employment provision and so is more likely to 
lead to out-commuting.  More remote locations 
are very unlikely to be suitable or attractive 
commercial locations. 

Improvements to the 
strategic transport 
corridors could make 
locations more 
attractive for 
employment. 

3b. Achieve 
reasonable access 
to major 
employment areas 

Locations on rail lines and radial roads offer this 
potential, though the potential will not be 
realised if there are capacity constraints or if the 
rail lines do not go to employment areas.  
 
There are some major employers in the rural 
area,  but public transport strategy emphasises 
links into towns and cities rather than with the 
rural area beyond. 
 
Existing urban employment locations can be 
accessed via public transport. Somer Valley is 
also an Enterprise Zone. 

Improvements to the 
strategic transport 
corridors could make 
locations more 
attractive for 
employment. 

4a. Minimise impact 
on and where 
appropriate 
enhance the historic 
environment, 
heritage assets and 
their settings 

Design and scale of development are crucial.  
Some areas are archaeologically sensitive and 
the extent of the resource may be unclear. 

Development can 
generally be located to 
avoid negative effects.  
Further archaeological 
survey work may be 
needed.  Heritage 
Impact Assessments 
would also be 
necessary. 

4b. Minimise impact 
on and where 
possible enhance 
habitats and species 
(taking account of 
climate change) 

Impacts are variable and in some cases are 
unknown without further study.  Bat flight 
corridors and foraging habitat in central NSC are 
an issue of international significance.  A range of 
national ecological designations exist across the 
sub-region and any impacts would need to be 
assessed on an individual case-by-case basis. 

Development can 
generally be located to 
avoid negative effects, 
or compensatory 
habitat provision may 
be required.  Further 
ecological survey work 
may be needed. 

Page 122



 

7 
 

4c. Minimise impact 
on and where 
appropriate 
enhance valued 
landscapes 

Impacts are generally medium to high, the 
majority of greenfield sites will have a negative 
impact in this respect based on available 
information.  
 
Urban areas are less likely to suffer negative 
impact. 

 

4d. Promote the 
conservation and 
wise use of land, 
maximising the re-
use of previously 
developed land 

Urban intensification will likely focus on 
development of brownfield areas. 
 
Development on greenfield land does not 
contribute to promoting the conservation and 
wise use of land.  Therefore all locations have a 
negative effect on this objective and there is no 
apparent scope for mitigation.   

 

4e. Minimise the 
loss of productive 
land, especially best 
and most versatile 
agricultural land. 

Based on available information the locations 
form a mixture of graded agricultural land, the 
majority in the area being Grade 3. The 
following town and village sites are on either 
provisional or confirmed BMV land: Backwell, 
Banwell, Churchill, Nailsea, Thornbury. 

While some site areas 
can be reduced to avoid 
BMV land, this is not 
feasible where the BMV 
area is extensive. 
Detailed Agricultural 
Land Classification (ALC) 
Assessment required to 
establish the precise 
land grading. 

4f. Minimise 
vulnerability to 
tidal/fluvial flooding 
(taking account of 
climate change), 
without increasing 
flood risk 
elsewhere. 

Small parts of Backwell and Nailsea are in Flood 
Zone 3.  
 
Large areas of Bristol are in both Flood Zones 2 
and 3. 

The flood zones can be 
avoided in affected 
locations, potentially 
locating housing outside 
these zones. Standard 
flood mitigation 
measures can be 
implemented where 
this is unavoidable in 
urban areas. 

4g. Minimise 
vulnerability to 
surface water 
flooding and other 
sources of flooding, 
without increasing 
flood risk 
elsewhere. 

SW flooding is generally restricted to land 
immediately adjoining local watercourses but 
there are some larger areas, e.g. Backwell, and 
local concerns about the adequacy of SW 
conveyance.   
 
Groundwater flood risk not comprehensively 
understood. 

 

4h. Minimise harm 
to, and where 
possible improve, 
water quality and 
availability 

Some sites are in or adjoin Groundwater Source 
Protection Zones, e.g. Banwell, Churchill. 
 
Other than general potential for impacts from 
water run-off, the locations do not raise any 
significant concerns. 

Further engagement 
with regulators is 
necessary to understand 
what constraints or 
opportunities exist. 

Page 123



 

8 
 

5a. Achieve 
reasonable access 
to sustainable 
transportation (rail 
station, bus stops, 
cycle paths, 
footways) 

Towns and villages on rail lines and radial roads 
offer this potential, though the potential will not 
be realised if there are capacity constraints, e.g. 
Backwell crossroads, or if the rail lines do not go 
to employment areas.  Peripheral development 
can be beyond 800m walking distance of 
existing stations, e.g. Nailsea. 
 
Development at many of the locations could 
have significant negative impact with no 
mitigation measures. 
 
Access to rail stations is by road/ public 
transport from Charfield and, Thornbury 
Journeys to rail stations, particularly from 
Thornbury are likely to be relatively lengthy at 
peak travel times. 

In general, development 
in rural areas could fund 
some improvements. 
The local transport 
concerns addressed 
would differ from those 
addressed in a more 
conurbation-focused 
option. 
 
The SA has made this 
assessment based upon 
the suitability of existing 
facilities. Major new 
development would 
need to accompanied by 
significant infrastructure 
improvement. 

5b. Reduce non-
renewable energy 
consumption and 
‘greenhouse’ 
emissions, and 
provide 
opportunities to link 
into existing heat 
networks 

Distance from major urban heat sources 
reduces the potential to link into existing heat 
networks.  General issue of dispersed growth 
producing longer vehicle trips. 

Large-scale 
development could 
incorporate larger scale 
low carbon scheme 
which potentially allows 
higher standards to be 
achieved. 

  

Page 124



 

9 
 

Appendix C 

Outline SA of Non-Green Belt Scenario 

Sustainability 
Objective 

Commentary Mitigation or 
enhancement 

1a. Achieve 
reasonable access to 
public open space 
(Designated Open 
Spaces, Town and 
Village Greens, and 
Public Rights of 
Way) 

Peripheral development can be beyond 400m 
walking distance of existing town spaces.  Villages 
generally lack large open spaces.  There is usually 
good access to the countryside via the National 
Cycle Network and PRoWs.  There is also easy 
access to the Cotswolds and Mendip Hills AONBs 
from a number of locations. 

Large-scale 
development could 
include open space 
provision. 

1b. Minimise 
impacts on air 
quality and locate 
sensitive 
development away 
from areas of poor 
air quality 

No AQMAs in the rural area, though motorways 
run close to some towns, e.g. Clevedon, WsM.  
There are several AQMAs in the Bristol urban 
area, which cover major arterial routes. There are 
known areas of poor air quality along Station 
Road in Yate. 

Transport Impact 
Assessment and 
adequate preventative 
and mitigation measures 
are required. 

1c. Achieve 
reasonable access to 
healthcare facilities 
(Doctors, Opticians, 
Pharmacies, 
Dentists, Hospitals) 

Towns and most larger villages have a range of 
facilities.  Severance issues where development 
would leapfrog barriers such as motorways and 
railways, as evident at Clevedon and Yate. 
 
Smaller villages tend to have limited facilities and 
would, therefore, have restricted access, but 
these are relatively few in number in this 
scenario. 

Large-scale 
development could 
include healthcare 
provision but unlikely to 
achieve critical mass for 
new hospital.  Average 
ambulance response / 
hospital access times 
could therefore decline. 

2a. Deliver a 
suitable quantum of 
high quality housing 
for the West of 
England sub-region 

Total number 42,260.  Although locations are 
assumed to be of a strategic scale the plan period 
allows for reasonable lead-in times. 
 
The SA must know the housing requirement and 
whether the currently predicted housing capacity 
for this scenario is accurate before attempting to 
score this objective. 

 

2b. Deliver a 
suitable mix of high 
quality housing 
types and tenures 
(including 
affordable housing) 
for all parts of 
society within the 
West of England 
sub-region 

Greenfield development is likely to be more viable 
than brownfield therefore it could provide more 
certainty for the delivery of suitable tenures 
including affordable housing. 
 
Urban intensification is very difficult to appraise 
given the uncertainty of locations of 
developments.  Whilst a range of housing types 
can be achieved, there may be fewer 
opportunities for the development of new non-
flatted homes (including with gardens) with urban 
intensification.  This could limit opportunities for 
a mix of homes.  Viability issues associated with 

 

Page 125



 

10 
 

some brownfield developments may limit 
opportunities to secure affordable housing. 

2c. Achieve 
reasonable access to 
community facilities 
(post office, 
meeting venues, 
youth centres) 

Towns and most larger villages have a range of 
facilities.  Severance issues where development 
would leapfrog barriers such as motorways and 
railways, as evident at Clevedon and Yate. 
 
Smaller villages tend to have limited facilities and 
would, therefore, have restricted access, but 
these are relatively few in number in this 
scenario. 

Large-scale 
development could 
include community 
provision. 

2d. Achieve 
reasonable access to 
educational facilities 
(primary schools, 
secondary schools) 

Towns and most larger villages have a range of 
facilities but only a few villages have secondary 
schools, e.g. Backwell, Churchill, Thornbury and 
Yate.  Some primary schools are not well-located 
relative to potential development sites, e.g. 
Congresbury and Thornbury.  Peripheral 
development can be beyond 1500m of existing 
secondary schools, e.g. Clevedon, Nailsea. 
 
School provision is very much dependent on the 
way the development is implemented.  Notional 
triggers for new facilities will be met only if a 
future planning application meets the required 
quantum. 
 
However some development areas in are 
relatively small scale development therefore it is 
unlikely to achieve on-site provisions. e.g. 
Midsomer Norton, Radstock and Westfield and 
Clutton and Temple Cloud. 

Large-scale 
development could 
include educational 
provision but unlikely to 
achieve critical mass for 
a secondary school 
(5,000 homes needed as 
a rule-of-thumb). 

2e. Achieve 
reasonable access to 
town centre services 
and facilities 
(Designated City, 
Town and District 
Centres) 

Peripheral development can be beyond 1500m of 
existing town / district centres.  Most villages are 
remote from district or larger centres.  None of 
the locations beyond the Green Belt are within 
5km of the centres of Bristol, Bath and WsM. 

Large-scale 
development unlikely to 
achieve critical mass for 
a district centre (5,000 
homes needed as a rule-
of-thumb). 

2f. Reduce poverty 
and income 
inequality, and 
improve the life 
chances of those 
living in areas of 
concentrated 
disadvantage 

No demonstrable link with locational strategy for 
housing, though employment or mixed 
development can provide benefits.  Only urban 
intensification can demonstrate a positive link to 
deprived communities. 
 
The Bristol Core Strategy gives priority to the 
regeneration of South Bristol to include additional 
mixed-use development with supporting 
infrastructure. The regeneration of South Bristol 
shall no occur in isolation but as part of the 
integrated spatial strategy for the area. For 
example, improvements to transport will enable 

 

Page 126



 

11 
 

greater access to new employment created in the 
city centre. 
 
The revitalisation of South Bristol will help 
address imbalances in employment opportunities 
and travel to work patterns across the city and 
region. 

3a. Deliver a 
reasonable 
quantum of 
employment 
floorspace/land and 
increase access to 
work opportunities 
for all parts of 
society within the 
West of England 
sub-region 

Dispersed development is unlikely to offer the 
critical mass to underpin significant new 
employment provision and so is more likely to 
lead to out-commuting.  More remote locations 
are very unlikely to be suitable or attractive 
commercial locations. 
 
The Old Mills sites in Paulton are allocated for 
employment uses in the adopted Local Plan and 
emerging Placemaking Plan and designated as a 
Somer Valley Enterprise Zone. 

Improvements to the 
strategic transport 
corridors could make 
locations more 
attractive for 
employment. 

3b. Achieve 
reasonable access to 
major employment 
areas 

Towns and villages on rail lines and radial roads 
offer this potential, though the potential will not 
be realised if there are capacity constraints or if 
the rail lines do not go to employment areas.  
There are major employers in the rural area, such 
as Bristol Airport, but public transport strategy 
emphasises links into towns and cities rather than 
with the rural area beyond. 
 
The Old Mills sites in Paulton are allocated for 
employment uses in the adopted Local Plan and 
emerging Placemaking Plan and designated as a 
Somer Valley Enterprise Zone. 
 
WsM offers a large range of employment 
opportunities and is being promoted through the 
J21 Enterprise Area. 

Improvements to the 
strategic transport 
corridors could make 
locations more 
attractive for 
employment. 

4a. Minimise impact 
on and where 
appropriate 
enhance the historic 
environment, 
heritage assets and 
their settings 

Design and scale of development are crucial.  
Some areas are archaeologically sensitive and the 
extent of the resource may be unclear. 

Development can 
generally be located to 
avoid negative effects.  
Further archaeological 
survey work may be 
needed.  Heritage 
Impact Assessments 
would also be necessary.  

4b. Minimise impact 
on and where 
possible enhance 
habitats and species 
(taking account of 
climate change) 

Impacts are variable and in some cases are 
unknown without further study.  Bat flight 
corridors and foraging habitat in central NSC are 
an issue of international significance.  A range of 
national ecological designations exist across the 
sub-region and any impacts would need to be 
assessed on an individual case-by-case basis. 

Development can 
generally be located to 
avoid negative effects, 
or compensatory habitat 
provision may be 
required.  Further 
ecological survey work 
may be needed. 

Page 127



 

12 
 

4c. Minimise impact 
on and where 
appropriate 
enhance valued 
landscapes 

Impacts are generally medium to high, the 
majority of greenfield sites will have a negative 
impact in this respect based on available 
information.  
 
Urban areas are less likely to suffer negative 
impact. 

 

4d. Promote the 
conservation and 
wise use of land, 
maximising the re-
use of previously 
developed land 

All non-GB rural locations are greenfield.  
Development on greenfield land does not 
contribute to promoting the conservation and 
wise use of land.  Therefore all locations have a 
negative effect on this objective and there is no 
apparent scope for mitigation.  Urban 
intensification will likely focus on development of 
brownfield areas. 

 

4e. Minimise the 
loss of productive 
land, especially best 
and most versatile 
agricultural land. 

Based on available information the locations form 
a mixture of graded agricultural land, the majority 
in the area being Grade 3. The following town and 
village sites are on either provisional or confirmed 
BMV land: Backwell, Banwell, Churchill, Nailsea, 
Thornbury. 

While some site areas 
can be reduced to avoid 
BMV land, this is not 
feasible where the BMV 
area is extensive. 
Detailed Agricultural 
Land Classification (ALC) 
Assessment required to 
establish the precise 
land grading. 

4f. Minimise 
vulnerability to 
tidal/fluvial flooding 
(taking account of 
climate change), 
without increasing 
flood risk 
elsewhere. 

Towns and larger villages are generally FZ1 but 
there are notable exceptions, e.g. Clevedon, 
Yatton.  Town expansion at WsM was excluded 
from SA on transport grounds but if included as a 
non-GB location there are significant issues with 
flood risk. 
 
 

While some site areas 
can be reduced to avoid 
FZ3 land, this is not 
feasible where the FZ3 
area is extensive. 

4g. Minimise 
vulnerability to 
surface water 
flooding and other 
sources of flooding, 
without increasing 
flood risk 
elsewhere. 

SW flooding is generally restricted to land 
immediately adjoining local watercourses but 
there are some larger areas, e.g. Backwell, 
Yatton, and local concerns about the adequacy of 
SW conveyance.  Reservoir Inundation Zone for 
Blagdon Lake affects some NSC villages.  
Groundwater flood risk not comprehensively 
understood. 

 

4h. Minimise harm 
to, and where 
possible improve, 
water quality and 
availability 

Some sites are in or adjoin Groundwater Source 
Protection Zones, e.g. Banwell, Churchill. 
 
Other than general potential for impacts from 
water run-off, the locations do not raise any 
significant concerns. 

Further engagement 
with regulators is 
necessary to understand 
what constraints or 
opportunities exist. 

Page 128



 

13 
 

5a. Achieve 
reasonable access to 
sustainable 
transportation (rail 
station, bus stops, 
cycle paths, 
footways) 

Towns and villages on rail lines and radial roads 
offer this potential, though the potential will not 
be realised if there are capacity constraints, e.g. 
Backwell crossroads, or if the rail lines do not go 
to employment areas.  Peripheral development 
can be beyond 800m walking distance of existing 
stations, e.g. Nailsea. 
 
Locations such as Clutton, Temple Cloud, 
Midsomer Norton, Radstock and Westfield – 
significant negative impact with no mitigation 
measures suggested by the Transport Study. As 
outlined within the JSP Technical Scenarios the 
key components of addressing transport issues is 
the need to maximise the effectiveness of 
sustainable travel choices and encourage mode 
shift. Due to the limited access and choices to 
existing sustainable transportation in the area it 
will be difficult to implement such measures and 
thus further improvements will be required. 
 
Access to rail stations is by road/ public transport 
from Charfield, Thornbury and Wickwar. 
Journeys to rail stations, particularly from 
Thornbury, are likely to be relatively lengthy at 
peak travel times. 

In general, development 
in non-GB rural areas 
could fund 
improvements. The local 
transport concerns 
addressed would differ 
from those addressed in 
a more conurbation-
focused option. 
 
The SA has made this 
assessment based upon 
the suitability of existing 
facilities. Major new 
development would 
need to be accompanied 
by significant 
infrastructure 
improvement.  

5b. Reduce non-
renewable energy 
consumption and 
‘greenhouse’ 
emissions, and 
provide 
opportunities to link 
into existing heat 
networks 

Distance from major urban heat sources reduces 
the potential to link into existing heat networks.  
General issue of dispersed growth producing 
longer vehicle trips. 

Large-scale 
development could 
incorporate larger scale 
low carbon scheme 
which potentially allows 
higher standards to be 
achieved. 

 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 2 -  Core Strategy Review Commencement Document

Bath & North East Somerset 

Core Strategy Review

2016 - 2036

Commencement Document

November 2016

Bath and North East Somerset - The place to live, work and visit

Bath and North East Somerset - The place to live, work and visit

Page 131



Printed on recycled paper

Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy Review 

Commencement document: An initiation document setting out the proposed scope and 
programme for the preparation of the Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy Review 
2016-2036

Introduction

1. The existing timeframe for planning policy documents within Bath & North East 
Somerset (B&NES) is to 2029. This is the end period of both the adopted Core Strategy 
and the emerging Placemaking Plan. The Placemaking Plan allocates development sites 
in the context of the requirements established through the adopted Core Strategy and 
outlines an up to date set of detailed Development Management policies. The 
Placemaking Plan was submitted for examination in April 2016; the hearings took place 
in September and October; and adoption is anticipated early in 2017. 

2. The Core Strategy, adopted in July 2014, includes a commitment to an early review of 
the housing requirement. The review of the B&NES Core Strategy is being undertaken 
alongside the other authorities in the West of England through a new development plan 
document, the Joint Spatial Plan (JSP) which will cover all four UA areas. This will provide 
a new strategic planning context for B&NES to 2036. 

3. The JSP will establish a new housing requirement for B&NES covering the period 2016 to 
2036 and will allocate the JSP identified strategic locations for development along with 
any additional sites needed. The production of the JSP requires work to progress in 
parallel on reviewing the Core Strategy, in order to ensure that an updated local policy 
context, including site allocations, is brought forward at the earliest possible opportunity 
to meet the new development needs to 2036. This will mean that review of the Core 
Strategy will commence before the Placemaking Plan is adopted. This is considered 
necessary in order to establish a plan for meeting the development requirements set out 
in the JSP and to help provide certainty in relation to the longer term of supply of 
additional housing and economic development. 

4. The site allocations identified in the currently adopted Core Strategy and the emerging 
Placemaking Plan will also contribute to meeting the 2016-2036 requirements identified 
in the JSP. Through the Core Strategy review additional development opportunities will 
be identified and allocated. The relationship of the Core Strategy review with other plans 
is addressed in greater detail in paragraphs 17 and 18 below.

Purpose of the commencement document

5. This Commencement document is the notice of intent that a reviewed Core Strategy will 
be prepared for B&NES for the period 2016-2036. It will be a development plan 
document (DPD) prepared in accordance with Regulation 18(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. This document outlines the 
proposed scope of the DPD; its relationship to other plans; and the methodology and 
programme for its preparation.

Page 132



Printed on recycled paper

Scope of the B&NES Core Strategy Review

6. The plan area will be the whole administrative area of B&NES Council and the plan 
period will be 2016-2036. This time period is consistent with the plan period of the JSP.

7. The primary purpose of the B&NES Core Strategy review is to identify and allocate sites 
to meet the housing and economic development requirements established through the 
JSP up to 2036. The Core Strategy review will seek to deliver the vision and objectives of 
the JSP by identifying and allocating as appropriate any strategic sites required, as well 
as establishing a strategy for and allocating sites to provide non-strategic development. 
The JSP is anticipated to address the following issues, which are therefore outside the 
scope of, but will provide the context for the Core Strategy review:

 Establishing the overall housing requirement for B&NES.
 The broad strategic distribution of housing and employment land/floorspace, 

including identification of strategic development locations.
 Identification of strategic infrastructure proposals, including transport
 Strategic Green Belt review

This will need to be kept under review as work on both DPDs progresses.

8. The emerging Placemaking Plan has been prepared in the context of and to deliver the 
Core Strategy. It also proposes policies that will, upon adoption of the Placemaking Plan, 
supersede some of the adopted Core Strategy policies. At the pre-submission draft stage 
the contents of the emerging Placemaking Plan and the adopted Core Strategy were 
published together so plan-users could see how the two plans relate to each other. 

9. The Core Strategy review provides the opportunity to formalise this relationship by 
combining the two DPDs into one DPD (Local Plan). Given that the site allocations and 
detailed Development Management Policies contained within the Placemaking Plan will 
only recently have been adopted it is not proposed that these will be reviewed, unless 
changes to legislation or national policy makes this necessary during the preparation 
process. As such the Core Strategy review will remain focussed on the key elements of 
the Plan listed below:

o Addressing the JSP revised housing (including affordable housing)  and 
employment development requirements for B&NES for the period 2016 to 2036 

o The formal allocation of sites in the strategic locations included in the JSP to 
meet identified development needs,  and setting development and design 
principles and infrastructure requirements

o Establishing a strategy for identifying any other sources of housing/ employment 
land supply not identified in the  JSP to meet identified development needs

o The affordable housing policy approach

o Reviewing the expansion objectives of the Universities and the relationship 
between student accommodation requirements/supply and the overall housing 
requirement 

Page 133



Printed on recycled paper

o Inclusion of new policies or amendments to existing polices arising from a-c 
above; or from new legislation e.g. the Housing & Planning Act; or from any 
other significant changes in circumstances and evidence to ensure that the plan is 
up-to-date

o Other policies that include a time related target e.g. retail capacity, renewable 
energy targets

10. The review process will result in a range of adopted Core Strategy policies being revised 
and new policies being included. This will be subject to change as the preparation 
progresses. However, within the focussed scope of the review identified above an 
indication of the policy areas that may require revision and new policies to be prepared 
includes those listed below

Policy Area Core Strategy Policies
Vision & Objectives (responding to JSP) Spatial Vision/Strategic 

Objectives
District housing & economic development requirements (to 
2036)

DW1

Spatial strategy for B&NES and specific areas within the 
District

B1; B2; B3; KE1; SV1; 
RA1; RA2

Area specific development requirements (to 2036) B1; B2; B3; KE1; SV1; 
RA1; RA2

Affordable housing requirements to 2036/policy approach 
(including starter homes) 

CP9; RA4

Renewable electricity and heat targets (to 2036) CP3
New site allocation policies (strategic and non-strategic) -

Process of undertaking the Core Strategy Review

11. The Core Strategy review will be undertaken in accordance with Regulations 18 and 19 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Evidence Base
12. Preparation will be informed by a range of evidence that is proportionate to the scope of 

the review and is likely to utilise and build upon evidence informing the preparation of 
the JSP.  This will include the following:

• Strategic Housing Market Assessment - evidence on housing numbers, type and 
tenure

• Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment, incorporating housing land 
supply delivery trajectory

• Student accommodation requirements & supply
• Authority Monitoring Report
• Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA)
• Sustainability Appraisal for the JSP
• Strategic Flood Risk Assessment
• Landscape & visual impact Assessment

Page 134



Printed on recycled paper

• Infrastructure Delivery Plan
• Transport modelling and assessments
• Economic Development Needs Assessment
• Viability Assessments
• Design/Place-making
• Local Green Belt assessment
• Rural Facilities Audit 

13. The review of the ore Strategy will have implications for other Council strategies and 
hence a co-ordinated approach will be undertaken

Sustainability Appraisal
14. Plan preparation will be informed by sustainability appraisal at all stages. A framework 

for the sustainability appraisal based on that used for the JSP and previous DPDs in 
B&NES will be agreed at the beginning of the project and used to assess and inform the 
plan-making process. It is intended to publish a Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report.

Duty to co-operate

15. Through Section 33A (1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
introduced through the Localism Act 2011) the Council has a duty to co-operate with 
neighbouring authorities and other prescribed public bodies on strategic planning issues 
that cross administrative boundaries. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
also confirms that the duty applies particularly to planning issues that relate to the 
strategic priorities in paragraph 156 i.e.

 The homes and jobs needed in the area;
 The provision of retail, leisure and other commercial development;
 The provision of infrastructure for transport, telecommunications, waste 

management, water supply, wastewater, flood risk and coastal change 
management, and the provision of minerals and energy (including heat);

 The provision of health, security, community and cultural infrastructure and other 
local facilities; and

 Climate change mitigation and adaptation, conservation and enhancement of the 
natural and historic environment, including landscape

16. In accordance with the duty the Council will engage constructively, actively and on an on-
going basis with neighbouring authorities and other prescribed bodies on the relevant 
strategic issues in undertaking the Core Strategy review. As set out above the Core 
Strategy review is being undertaken in the context of the JSP. There has been and 
continues to be significant joint working and co-operation in preparing the JSP. In this 
context and in accordance with PAS guidance the duty to co-operate in relation to the 
Core Strategy review only applies to any new or additional strategic cross boundary 
issues not addressed by the engagement undertaken in preparation of the JSP.

17. As work on the Core Strategy review will consider strategic issues affecting B&NES and 
adjoining authorities in greater detail than the JSP further constructive engagement in 
accordance with the duty to co-operate will be necessary. While the strategic issues to 

Page 135



Printed on recycled paper

which the duty will relate will be kept under review during preparation and without 
prejudging the Core Strategy review an initial list is set out below:

a) Strategic relationship/implications of the amount and type of development 
planned for and allocated

b) Implications of strategic site allocations (where cross boundary impacts are 
possible)

c) Cumulative impact of non-strategic allocations e.g. at Bath or areas of the B&NES 
close to the boundary with another authority such as the Somer Valley

d) Assessments and delivery of strategic infrastructure, in particular transport, where 
either cross boundary or close to authority boundary 

e) Policy/site issues raised through HRA e.g. relating to bats

18. Consultation and engagement with adjoining authorities and the other prescribed bodies 
will take place through a variety of means including liaison meetings and opportunities to 
comment both informally and formally at each preparation stage. A record of duty to co-
operate activities will be kept.

Consultation

19. The plan will be prepared with community and stakeholder engagement in accordance 
with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and 
‘My Neighbourhood: Neighbourhood Planning Protocol’ (the Council’s Statement of 
Community Involvement). Formal consultation stages will take place over a minimum of 
6 weeks. A Consultation Statement will be prepared and updated as the project 
progresses.

Relationship with other Plans

20. The relationship of the review with the JSP; adopted Core Strategy; and the Placemaking 
Plan is outlined in the Scope of the Review section above. Once ‘made’ (adopted) 
neighbourhood plans are part of the Development Plan and therefore, the relationship to 
neighbourhood plans needs to be considered. B&NES currently has three ‘made’ 
neighbourhood development plans at Clutton, Stowey Sutton and a cross-boundary plan 
covering Freshford and Limpley Stoke. Several other plans are in preparation, with some 
being at advanced stages in the process. As work on the Core Strategy review 
progresses, and the strategic context for the neighbourhood plans changes these plans 
may become increasingly out of date. Communities may wish to review them to take 
account of any implications arising. 

21. B&NES Council will continue to support Town and Parish Councils and Neighbourhood 
Forums within Bath in preparing neighbourhood plans and will discuss the implications of 
the Core Strategy review as it progresses. It is proposed that at the start of the process 
there is consultation with interested parties on the implications and the relationship 
between the Core Strategy review and emerging and ‘made’ neighbourhood plans.

Page 136



Printed on recycled paper

Core Strategy Review Programme

22. The proposed timetable for the Core Strategy review is set out on page 19 in the 
Council’s Local Development Scheme which can be found on the Council’s website via 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/planningpolicy.: 

23.  The diagram below summarises the Core Strategy review timetable and shows how it 
relates to the preparation of the JSP. The timetable below is dependent on progress with 
the Joint Spatial Plan which will set the overall strategic context to which the Core 
Strategy review needs to conform.

PLAN PROGRAMMES

JOINT SPATIAL PLAN CORE STRATEGY REVIEW

Publish Plan

Publication Plan

Emerging Spatial 
Strategy

Submit for exam

Hearings

Adopt

Autumn 2016

Summer 2017

Spring 2018

Hearings mid- 
2018

Autumn  2018

Winter 2018

Commence

Draft Proposals

Report Submit for exam

Hearings

NB Wait for Inspector’s 
report on JSP before 
submitting the revised 
Core Strategy

Page 137

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/LDFGeneral/banes_lds_2016-2019.pdf


Printed on recycled paper

Let us know what you think

24. Views are being sought on the proposed content, scope and programme of the B&NES 
Core Strategy review. Consultation on this pre-commencement document runs from 7th 
November to 19th December 2016. If you have any comments on the Pre-
commencement document you can comment online or via e-mail to 
planning_policy@bathnes.gov.uk. Please let us have any comments by 5.00 p.m. xxxxx 
2016. Representations will be taken into account through the plan preparation process.

Contact Details:
Planning Policy: 01225 477548
E-mail: planning_policy@bathnes.gov.uk 
Post: B&NES Council, Planning Policy, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath BA1 1

Page 138

http://consult.n-somerset.gov.uk/consult.ti/NSLP_precomm.doc/manageHomepage
mailto:planning_policy@bathnes.gov.uk.
mailto:planning_policy@bathnes.gov.uk


Printed on recycled paper

Annex 3 -  Proposed amendments to the Local Development Scheme

jan
feb
m

ar
apr

m
ay

jun
jul

aug
sep
oct
nov
dec
jan
feb
m

ar
apr

m
ay

jun
jul

aug
sep
oct
nov
dec
jan
feb
m

ar
apr

m
ay

jun
jul

aug
sep
oct
nov
dec
jan
feb
m

ar
apr

m
ay

jun
jul

aug
sep
oct
nov
dec

Placemaking Plan DPD S Rt A Rt A

WoE Joint Spatial Plan DPD S Rt A

Core Strategy Review DPD P S H Rt A

Policies Map M M R M

Infrastucture Delivery Programme review       P            P            P            P     

Authority's Monitoring Report      P      P      P      P      P            P      

Travellers' Sites Plan DPD S H Rt A

Joint Waste Core Strategy DPD

Neighbourhood Planning Protocol (SCI)

Neighbourhood Plans                                       

CIL Review (Reg 123 list and projects)

Planning Obligations SPD Review

Locally Listed Buildings SPD A
Building Heights SPD A A
Bath Design Guide SPD A
Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD A

Other SPDs                                      

C Commencement H Hearings M Policies Map changes published
O Options  (Reg 18 for DPDs) Rt Inspector's Report D Publish document
P Publication Plan (Reg 19) A Adoption/Approval R Review
S Submit Plan (Reg 22)  Ongoing 

H

R

OO
O

O

Progress as resources permit

H

18

R

R R R R

O

D

R R

Ongoing statutory support

R R R

C O

R

O

P

DOCUMENT
2016 2017 2018 2019

P
age 139



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Minutes of Previous Cabinet Meeting
	8 West of England Joint Spatial Plan and Transport Study - Emerging Spatial Strategy and Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy Review
	E2905 JSP Annex 1
	Item 5 - JSPTS Strategy Oct 2016
	Item 5 Appendix 1 Draft Towards the Emerging Spatial Strategy
	1. Draft V0.9
	280916 map
	Slide Number 1


	Item 5 Appendix 2 West of England Transport Vision Stage 2 Consultation Summary v7
	Item 5 Appendix 3 JSP Spatial Strategy narrative
	Item 5 Appendix 4 WoE Draft Urban Living methodology paper
	Item 5 Appendix 5 Housing Target Paper
	Item 5 Appendix 6 Green Belt paper
	5. Appendix 6 Green Belt paper
	5a     Green Belt summary - Appendices (A)
	5b    Green Belt summary - Appendices (B)
	Green Belt summary - Appendices (2)


	5. Appendix 6 Green Belt summary

	Item 5 Appendix 7 Sustainability Assessment

	E2905 JSP Annex 2
	E2905 JSP Annex 3


